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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
Revenue
Passenger ticket
Onboard and other
Total revenue
Cruise operating expense
Commissions, transportation and other
Onboard and other
Payroll and related
Fuel
Food
Other
Total cruise operating expense
Other operating expense
Marketing, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total other operating expense
Operating income
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest expense, net
Other income, net
Total non-operating income (expense)
Net income before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income
Weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

$

1,373,779
540,072
1,913,851

$

$

1,334,460
523,896
1,858,356

$

3,526,456
1,455,302
4,981,758

3,301,372
1,372,561
4,673,933

301,349
117,747
227,707
99,643
56,038
126,460
928,944

857,848
309,447
688,325
297,727
166,305
456,187
2,775,839

769,564
281,232
656,868
288,286
160,785
403,083
2,559,818

255,148
156,215
411,363
511,724

235,436
143,700
379,136
550,276

744,991
482,227
1,227,218
978,701

688,986
415,648
1,104,634
1,009,481

(60,188)
10,251
(49,937)
461,787
(11,203)
450,584

(69,540)
98
(69,442)
480,834
(10,456)
470,378

(199,660)
13,433
(186,227)
792,474
16,457
808,931

(202,226)
11,354
(190,872)
818,609
(18,400)
800,209

2.10
2.09

$

$

221,511,630
222,752,738
$
$

2.12
2.11

$

215,614,098
217,050,055
$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

330,893
122,971
235,833
98,943
56,913
145,211
990,764

214,207,716
215,499,462
$
$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018

3.75
3.73

224,033,156
225,422,385
$
$

3.57
3.55
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Unaudited)
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
$ 450,584 $ 470,378

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Shipboard Retirement Plan
Cash flow hedges:
Net unrealized gain (loss)
Amount realized and reclassified into earnings
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
$ 808,931 $ 800,209

95

107

284

319

(209,511)
(448)
(209,864)
$ 240,720

15,365
(10,706)
4,766
$ 475,144

(211,548)
(16,722)
(227,986)
580,945

48,047
(19,214)
29,152
$ 829,361

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share data)
September 30,
2019
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Tradenames
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Advance ticket sales
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares, $.001 par value; 490,000,000 shares authorized; 237,208,389 shares issued
and 212,757,530 shares outstanding at September 30, 2019 and 235,484,613 shares issued and
217,650,644 shares outstanding at December 31, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings
Treasury shares (24,450,859 and 17,833,969 ordinary shares at September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively, at cost)
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

$

$

$

407,258
67,698
94,254
273,506
842,716
12,288,897
1,388,931
817,525
600,827
15,938,896

$

605,106
72,151
860,698
1,861,636
3,399,591
5,672,626
593,255
9,665,472

$

$

163,851
55,249
90,202
241,011
550,313
12,119,253
1,388,931
817,525
329,948
15,205,970

681,218
159,564
716,499
1,593,219
3,150,500
5,810,873
281,596
9,242,969

237
4,208,975
(389,633)
3,707,771

235
4,129,639
(161,647)
2,898,840

(1,253,926)
6,273,424
15,938,896

(904,066)
5,963,001
15,205,970

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2018

$
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Deferred income taxes, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Provision for bad debts and inventory obsolescence
Gain on involuntary conversion of assets
Share-based compensation expense
Net foreign currency adjustments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Advance ticket sales
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property and equipment, net
Issuance of loans
Cash received on settlement of derivatives
Cash paid on settlement of derivatives
Other
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of long-term debt
Proceeds from long-term debt
Proceeds from employee related plans
Net share settlement of restricted share units
Purchases of treasury shares
Early redemption premium
Deferred financing fees
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

$

808,931

800,209

482,497
(25,731)
3,988
2,852
(2,800)
82,070
(4,326)

420,154
3,998
6,346
3,420
—
88,797
(4,494)

(12,741)
(4,681)
1,786
(86,525)
(27,504)
262,938
1,480,754

(5,649)
(14,237)
(34,668)
3,003
136,954
316,268
1,720,101

(615,985)
(36,392)
289
(556)
7,719
(644,925)

(1,361,678)
—
64,796
—
755
(1,296,127)

(2,882,354)
2,652,000
18,203
(20,935)
(349,860)
(117)
(9,359)
(592,422)
243,407
163,851
407,258

(1,233,499)
1,491,352
26,642
(13,840)
(463,505)
(5,154)
(115,699)
(313,703)
110,271
176,190
286,461

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Balance, June 30, 2019
Share-based compensation
Issuance of shares under employee related
plans
Treasury shares
Net share settlement of restricted share
units
Other comprehensive loss, net
Net income
Balance, September 30, 2019

Balance, December 31, 2018
Share-based compensation
Issuance of shares under employee related
plans
Treasury shares
Net share settlement of restricted share
units
Other comprehensive loss, net
Net income
Balance, September 30, 2019

Ordinary
Shares
$
237
—

$

Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Accumulated
Additional
Other
Paid-in
Comprehensive
Retained
Treasury
Capital
Income (Loss)
Earnings
Shares
$ 4,176,825 $
(179,769) $ 3,257,187 $ (1,104,137)
25,420
—
—
—

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$
6,150,343
25,420

—
—

6,835
—

—
—

—
—

—
(149,789)

6,835
(149,789)

—
—
—
237

(105)
—
—
$ 4,208,975

—
(209,864)
—
(389,633)

—
—
450,584
$ 3,707,771

—
—
—
$ (1,253,926)

(105)
(209,864)
450,584
6,273,424

$

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Retained
Treasury
Income (Loss)
Earnings
Shares
$
(161,647) $ 2,898,840 $
(904,066)
—
—
—

$

Ordinary
Shares
$
235
—

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$ 4,129,639
82,070

2
—

18,201
—

—
—

—
—

—
(349,860)

18,203
(349,860)

—
—
—
237

(20,935)
—
—
$ 4,208,975

—
(227,986)
—
(389,633)

—
—
808,931
$ 3,707,771

—
—
—
$ (1,253,926)

(20,935)
(227,986)
808,931
6,273,424

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$
5,963,001
82,070

$
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity - Continued
(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Balance, June 30, 2018
Share-based compensation
Issuance of shares under employee related
plans
Net share settlement of restricted share units
Other comprehensive income, net
Net income
Balance, September 30, 2018

Balance, December 31, 2017
Share-based compensation
Issuance of shares under employee related
plans
Treasury shares
Net share settlement of restricted share units
Cumulative change in accounting policy
Other comprehensive income, net
Net income
Balance, September 30, 2018

Ordinary
Shares
$
235
—

$

—
—
—
—
235

Ordinary
Shares
$
233
—

$

2
—
—
—
—
—
235

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
Accumulated
Additional
Other
Paid-in
Comprehensive
Retained
Treasury
Capital
Income (Loss)
Earnings
Shares
$ 4,064,138 $
51,352 $ 2,273,828 $ (702,760)
28,962
—
—
—
7,616
(425)
—
—
$ 4,100,291

$

—
—
4,766
—
56,118

—
—
—
470,378
$ 2,744,206

—
—
—
—
$ (702,760)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Accumulated
Additional
Other
Paid-in
Comprehensive
Retained
Treasury
Capital
Income (Loss)
Earnings
Shares
$ 3,998,694 $
26,966 $ 1,963,128 $ (239,255)
88,797
—
—
—
26,640
—
(13,840)
—
—
—
$ 4,100,291

$

—
—
—
(12)
29,164
—
56,118

—
—
—
(19,131)
—
800,209
$ 2,744,206

—
(463,505)
—
—
—
—
$ (702,760)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$
5,686,793
28,962

$

7,616
(425)
4,766
470,378
6,198,090

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$
5,749,766
88,797

$

26,642
(463,505)
(13,840)
(19,143)
29,164
800,209
6,198,090
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this report to (i) the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to
NCLH (as defined below) and its subsidiaries (including Prestige (as defined below), except for periods prior to the consummation of the
Acquisition of Prestige (as defined below)), (ii) “NCLC” refers to NCL Corporation Ltd., (iii) “NCLH” refers to Norwegian Cruise Line
Holdings Ltd., (iv)“Norwegian Cruise Line” or “Norwegian” refers to the Norwegian Cruise Line brand and its predecessors, and (v)
“Prestige” refers to Prestige Cruises International S. de R.L. (formerly Prestige Cruises International, Inc.), together with its consolidated
subsidiaries, including Prestige Cruise Holdings S. de R.L. (formerly Prestige Cruise Holdings, Inc.), Prestige’s direct wholly-owned
subsidiary, which in turn is the parent of Oceania Cruises S. de R.L. (formerly Oceania Cruises, Inc.) (“Oceania Cruises”) and Seven Seas
Cruises S. de R.L. (“Regent”) (Oceania Cruises also refers to the brand by the same name and Regent also refers to the brand Regent Seven
Seas Cruises).
References to the “U.S.” are to the United States of America, and “dollar(s)” or “$” are to U.S. dollars, the “U.K.” are to the United
Kingdom and “euro(s)” or “€” are to the official currency of the Eurozone. We refer you to “Item 2. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— Terminology” for the capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined
throughout these notes to consolidated financial statements.
1. Description of Business and Organization
We are a leading global cruise company which operates the Norwegian Cruise Line, Oceania Cruises and Regent Seven Seas Cruises
brands. As of September 30, 2019, we had 26 ships with approximately 54,400 Berths and had orders for 11 additional ships to be delivered
through 2027, subject to certain conditions.
Norwegian Encore was delivered in October 2019. We refer you to Note 15 – “Subsequent Events” for additional information. We havetwo
Explorer Class Ships, Seven Seas Splendor and one additional ship, on order for delivery in the winter of 2020 and fall of 2023,
respectively. We have two Allura Class Ships on order for delivery in the winter of 2022 and spring of 2025. Project Leonardo will
introduce an additional six ships with expected delivery dates from 2022 through 2027. These additions to our fleet will increase our total
Berths to approximately 82,000.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are unaudited and, in our opinion, contain all normal recurring adjustments necessary
for a fair statement of the results for the periods presented.
Our operations are seasonal and results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire fiscal year. Historically,
demand for cruises has been strongest during the Northern Hemisphere’s summer months. The interim consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, which are included
in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.
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Earnings Per Share
A reconciliation between basic and diluted earnings per share was as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Net income
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding
Dilutive effect of share awards
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

$

$
$

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
450,584 $
470,378
214,207,716
221,511,630
1,291,746
1,241,108
215,499,462
222,752,738
2.10 $
2.12
2.09 $
2.11

$

$
$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
808,931 $
800,209
215,614,098
224,033,156
1,435,957
1,389,229
217,050,055
225,422,385
3.75 $
3.57
3.73 $
3.55

For the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, a total of3.5 million and 4.5 million shares, respectively, and for the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, a total of 4.2 million and 4.8 million shares, respectively, have been excluded from diluted
weighted-average shares outstanding because the effect of including them would have been anti-dilutive.
Foreign Currency
The majority of our transactions are settled in U.S. dollars. We remeasure assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses resulting from transactions denominated in other currencies are
recognized in our consolidated statements of operations within other income, net. We recognized a gain of $9.9 million and a loss of $0.2
million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and a gain of $5.6 million and a gain of $10.7 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to transactions denominated in other currencies.
Depreciation and Amortization Expense
The amortization of deferred financing fees is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated statements of cash
flows; however, for purposes of the consolidated statements of operations they are included in interest expense, net.
Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance
In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") No. 2018-15,
Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in
a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force), which is designed
to align the accounting for costs of implementing a cloud computing service arrangement, regardless of whether the hosting arrangement
conveys a license to the hosted software. For hosting arrangements considered to be a service contract, the update requires that the criteria
for capitalization of developing or obtaining internal-use software shall be applied.
On April 1, 2019, we adopted ASU 2018-15 and elected the prospective transition approach. The impact of adopting this accounting policy
was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Guidance
In June 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments, which will require an entity to present the net amount expected to be collected for certain financial assets, including
trade receivables. Under this update, on initial recognition and at each reporting period, an entity will be required to recognize an allowance
that reflects the entity’s current estimate of credit losses expected to be incurred over the life of the financial instrument. The update will be
applied prospectively with a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. This update will be effective for the Company for fiscal
years
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beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of this standard will not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment, which simplifies the test for goodwill impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measures a
goodwill impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. The
guidance is effective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption
permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company does not expect
to early adopt this guidance. The Company will evaluate, upon adoption of this guidance, the impact of this guidance on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
3. Revenue Recognition
Disaggregation of Revenue
Revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors in various geographical regions. Revenues by destination were as follows (in
thousands):

North America
Europe
Asia-Pacific
Other
Total revenue

$

$

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
930,151 $
997,550
831,814
763,680
128,415
77,986
23,471
19,140
1,913,851 $ 1,858,356

$

$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
2,881,606 $ 2,724,298
1,374,001
1,227,046
418,421
499,377
307,730
223,212
4,981,758 $ 4,673,933

North America includes the U.S., the Caribbean, Canada and Mexico. Europe includes the Baltic region, Canary Islands and Mediterranean.
Asia-Pacific includes Australia, New Zealand and Asia. Other includes all other international territories.
Segment Reporting
We have concluded that our business has a single reportable segment. Each brand, Norwegian, Oceania Cruises and Regent, constitutes a
business for which discrete financial information is available and management regularly reviews the brand level operating results and,
therefore, each brand is considered an operating segment. Our operating segments have similar economic and qualitative characteristics,
including similar long-term margins and similar products and services; therefore, we aggregate all of the operating segments into one
reportable segment.
Although we sell cruises on an international basis, our passenger ticket revenue is primarily attributed to U.S.-sourced guests who make
reservations in the U.S. Revenue attributable to U.S.-sourced guests has historically approximated 75-80%. No other individual country’s
revenues exceed 10% in any given period.
Contract Balances
Receivables from customers are included within accounts receivable, net. As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our
receivables from customers were $15.9 million and $17.3 million, respectively.
Our contract liabilities are included within advance ticket sales. As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our contract liabilities
were $1.4 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively. Of the amounts included within contract liabilities, approximately 55% were refundable in
accordance with our cancellation policies. For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, $1.2 billion of revenue recognized was included
in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period.
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4. Intangible Assets
The carrying amounts of intangible assets subject to amortization are included within other long-term assets. The gross carrying amounts of
intangible assets, the related accumulated amortization, the net carrying amounts and the weighted-average amortization periods of the
Company’s intangible assets are listed in the following tables (in thousands, except amortization period):
September 30, 2019

Customer relationships
License
Total intangible assets subject to amortization

Gross Carrying
Amount
$
120,000
750
$
120,750

Accumulated
Amortization
$
(105,566)
(312)
$
(105,878)

Net Carrying
Amount
$
14,434
438
$
14,872

WeightedAverage
Amortization
Period (Years)
6.0
10.0

December 31, 2018

Customer relationships
Licenses
Total intangible assets subject to amortization

Gross Carrying
Amount
$
120,000
3,368
$
123,368

Accumulated
Amortization
$
(91,756)
(2,874)
$
(94,630)

Net Carrying
Amount
$
28,244
494
$
28,738

WeightedAverage
Amortization
Period (Years)
6.0
5.6

The aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Amortization expense

Three Months
Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
$ 4,622 $ 6,553

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
$ 13,866 $ 19,610

The following table sets forth the Company’s estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five years below (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

$

Amortization
Expense
9,906
75
75
75
75

5. Leases
On January 1, 2019, we adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“Topic 842”). Topic 842 supersedes the lease accounting requirements in
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 840—Leases. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Targeted Improvements to
Topic 842, which included an option to apply the new leases standard at the adoption date using a modified retrospective approach, which
the Company elected.
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Nature of Leases
We have finance leases for certain ship equipment and a corporate office. We have operating leases for port facilities, corporate offices,
warehouses, and certain equipment. Many of our leases include both lease and non-lease components. We have adopted the practical
expedient which allows us to combine lease and non-lease components by class of asset. We have applied this expedient for office leases,
port facilities, and certain equipment.
Significant Assumptions and Judgments in Applying Topic 842 and Practical Expedients Elected
Our leases contain both fixed and variable payments. Fixed payments and variable lease payments that depend on a rate or index are
included in the calculation of the right-of-use asset. Other variable payments are excluded from the calculation unless there is an
unavoidable fixed minimum cost related to those payments such as a minimum annual guarantee. Our lease assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis except for our rights to use port facilities. The expenses related to port facilities are amortized based on passenger counts
as this basis represents the pattern in which the economic benefit is derived from the right to use the underlying asset.
For non-consecutive lease terms, which relate to our rights to use certain port facilities, the term of the lease is based on the number of days
on which we have the right to use a specified asset. We have adopted the practical expedient to exclude leases with terms of less than one
year from being included on the balance sheet. Lease expense for agreements that are short-term are disclosed below and include both fixed
and variable payments.
Certain leases include one or more options to extend or terminate and are primarily infive-year increments. Lease extensions and
terminations, including auto-renewing lease terms, were only included in the calculation of the right-of-use asset to the extent that the right
to renew or terminate was at the option of the lessor only or where there was a more than insignificant penalty for termination.
As our leases do not have a readily determinable implicit rate, we used our weighted average cost of debt to determine the net present value
of the lease payments at the adoption date. Our weighted average cost of debt is similar to the incremental borrowing rate we would have
obtained if we had borrowed collateralized debt over the lease term to purchase the asset, and the rate was adjusted for longer term leases.
We have also adopted the practical expedient which allows us, by class of asset, to not separate lease and non-lease components when we
are the lessor in the underlying transaction, the transactions would otherwise be accounted for under ASC 606–Revenue Recognition and
the non-lease components are the predominant components of the agreements. We have applied this practical expedient to transactions with
cruise passengers and concession service providers related to the use of our ships. We refer you to Note 3 – “Revenue Recognition.”
Impacts on Financial Statements
As a result of the adoption of Topic 842 on January 1, 2019, we recorded operating lease right-of-use assets of $235.0 million and operating
lease liabilities of $243.8 million. Another $8.8 million was reclassified to the operating right-of-use assets from other asset and liability
accounts relating to the existing leases. The adoption of Topic 842 did not result in the identification of new finance leases. The adoption
does not significantly change the timing, classification or amount of expense recognized in our consolidated financial statements nor does it
change the timing, classification or amount of cash payments included within the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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The components of lease expense and revenue were as follows (in thousands):

Operating lease expense
Variable lease expense
Short-term lease expense
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-to-use assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Operating lease revenue
Sublease income

Three Months
Ended
September 30, 2019
$
7,738
3,141
12,477

Nine Months
Ended
September 30, 2019
$
26,187
7,624
37,958

474
318
65
403

1,304
986
311
1,211

Lease balances were as follows (in thousands):
Balance Sheet location
Operating leases
Right-of-use assets
Current operating lease liabilities
Non-current operating lease liabilities

Other long-term assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

Finance leases
Right-of-use assets
Current finance lease liabilities
Non-current finance lease liabilities

Property and equipment, net
Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt

September 30, 2019
$

14,334
(5,938)
(9,912)

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases
Operating cash outflows from finance leases
Financing cash outflows from finance leases
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases
Finance leases

$

26,363
800
2,207
6,567
705

14

221,145
(22,204)
(208,487)
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As of September 30, 2019, maturities of lease liabilities, weighted-average remaining lease terms and discount rates for our leases were as
follows (in thousands, except lease terms and discount rates):
Operating
Finance
leases
leases
$
5,554
$
1,920
32,487
5,110
32,084
4,912
31,787
3,957
31,652
730
143,671
1,306
277,235
17,935
(46,544)
(2,085)
$ 230,691
$
15,850
8.49
3.93
4.26 %
7.56 %

Remainder of 2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total
Less: Present value discount
Present value of lease liabilities
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Weighted average discount rate

As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, future minimum lease payments for
operating leases having initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year were as follows under the previous lease
accounting standard (ASC 840) (in thousands):
Year
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total minimum annual rentals

December 31, 2018
$

$

16,651
16,105
15,315
14,391
13,462
52,626
128,550

Leases That Have Not Yet Commenced
We have multiple agreements that have been executed where the lease term has not commenced as of September 30, 2019. These are
primarily related to our rights to use certain port facilities currently under construction. Although we may have provided design input,
construction management services, or loans related to these assets, we have determined that we do not control these assets during the period
of construction. These port facilities are expected to open for use during 2020 and include undiscounted minimum annual guarantees of
approximately $1.1 billion of passenger fees.
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6. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was as follows (in thousands):

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at beginning of period
Current period other comprehensive loss before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified into earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at end of period

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$
(161,647)
(211,548)
(16,438)
$
(389,633)

Change
Change
Related to
Related to
Shipboard
Cash Flow
Retirement
Hedges
Plan
$ (157,449) $
(4,198)
(211,548)
—
(16,722)(1)
284 (2)
$ (385,719) (3) $
(3,914)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was as follows (in thousands):

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at beginning of period
Current period other comprehensive income before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified into earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at end of period

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$
26,966
48,047
(18,895)
$
56,118

Change
Change
Related to
Related to
Shipboard
Cash Flow
Retirement
Hedges
Plan
$
33,861
$
(6,895)
48,047
—
(19,214)(1)
319 (2)
$
62,694
$
(6,576)

(1) We refer you to Note 9— “Fair Value Measurements and Derivatives” for the affected line items in the consolidated statements of
operations.
(2) Amortization of prior-service cost and actuarial loss reclassified to other income, net.
(3) Includes $45.7 million of loss expected to be reclassified into earnings in the next 12 months.
7. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net increased $169.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to ships under
construction and ship improvement projects.
8. Long-Term Debt
NCLC entered into a Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2019, with a subsidiary of NCLC, as coborrower and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and certain other lenders. This revised facility, among other things, (a)
reduced the pricing of our existing $875 million Revolving Loan Facility, (b) reduced the pricing and increased the approximately $1.3
billion principal amount outstanding under the term loan A facility to $1.6 billion, and (c) extended the maturity dates for our Revolving
Loan Facility and our term loan A facility to 2024, subject to certain conditions. We used the proceeds from the increase in our term loan A
facility to prepay all of the then outstanding amounts under our term loan B facility. The transaction resulted in a loss on extinguishment of
debt of $2.9 million.
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The applicable margin under the new term loan A facility and new Revolving Loan Facility is determined by reference to a total leverage
ratio, with an applicable margin of between 1.75% and 1.00% with respect to Eurocurrency loans and between 0.75% and 0.00% with
respect to base rate loans. The margin as of September 30, 2019 for borrowings under the new term loan A facility and new Revolving Loan
Facility was 1.25% with respect to Eurocurrency borrowings. In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the borrowings,
we are obligated to pay a quarterly commitment fee at a rate determined by reference to a total net leverage ratio, with a maximum
commitment fee of 0.30%.
NCLC entered into a $230 million credit agreement, dated as of January 10, 2019, with Nordea Bank ABP, New York Branch, as
administrative agent and collateral agent, and certain other lenders. The proceeds of this term loan will be used for general corporate
purposes, including to finance the pre-delivery installments due to the builder under the Company’s shipbuilding contracts. The $230
million term loan is secured by Pride of America Ship Holding, LLC and bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 1.00%. The term loan
matures on January 10, 2021; however, NCLC may elect to extend the maturity date to January 10, 2022 provided certain conditions are
met. Should NCLC elect to extend the maturity date, the interest rate will be LIBOR plus a margin of 1.10% for the third year.
NCLC entered into a $260 million credit agreement, dated as of May 15, 2019, with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and
collateral agent, and certain other lenders. The proceeds of this term loan were used to prepay the then outstanding principal and accrued
interest of the Norwegian Epic term loan. The $260 million term loan is secured by Norwegian Jewel Limited, bears interest atLIBOR plus
a margin of 0.80%, and matures on May 15, 2022. The transaction resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.1 million.
9. Fair Value Measurements and Derivatives
Fair value is defined as the price at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market
participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (that is, an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of
a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability).
Fair Value Hierarchy
The following hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value should maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available:
Level 1

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement dates.

Level 2

Significant other observable inputs that are used by market participants in pricing the asset or liability based on market data
obtained from independent sources.

Level 3

Significant unobservable inputs we believe market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best
information available.

Derivatives
We are exposed to market risk attributable to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and fuel prices. We attempt to
minimize these risks through a combination of our normal operating and financing activities and through the use of derivatives. We assess
whether derivatives used in hedging transactions are “highly effective” in offsetting changes in the cash flow of our hedged forecasted
transactions. We use regression analysis for this hedge relationship and high effectiveness is achieved when a statistically valid relationship
reflects a high degree of offset and correlation between the fair values of the derivative and the hedged forecasted transaction. Cash flows
from the derivatives are classified in the same category as the cash flows from the underlying hedged transaction. If it is determined that the
hedged forecasted transaction is no longer probable of occurring, then the amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) is released to earnings. There are no amounts excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and there are no credit-risk-related
contingent features in our derivative agreements. We monitor concentrations of credit risk associated with financial and other institutions
with which we conduct significant business.
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Credit risk, including but not limited to counterparty non-performance under derivatives, is not considered significant, as we primarily
conduct business with large, well-established financial institutions with which we have established relationships, and which have credit
risks acceptable to us, or the credit risk is spread out among many creditors. We do not anticipate non-performance by any of our
significant counterparties.
As of September 30, 2019, we had fuel swaps and collars, which are used to mitigate the financial impact of volatility of fuel prices
pertaining to approximately 1.3 million metric tons of our projected fuel purchases, maturing throughDecember 31, 2022.
As of September 30, 2019, we had fuel swaps which were not designated as cash flow hedges. Due to a change in our choice of hedged fuel
type, we entered into fuel contracts to sell approximately 10 thousand metric tons of fuel and immediately dedesignated fuel contracts to buy
approximately 10 thousand metric tons of the same fuel. The agreements mature throughDecember 31, 2019.
As of September 30, 2019, we had foreign currency forward contracts, matured foreign currency options and matured foreign currency
collars which are used to mitigate the financial impact of volatility in foreign currency exchange rates related to our ship construction
contracts denominated in euros. The notional amount of our foreign currency forward contracts was €2.6 billion, or $2.8 billion based on the
euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of September 30, 2019.
As of September 30, 2019, we had interest rate swaps and collars, which are used to hedge our exposure to interest rate movements and
manage our interest expense. The notional amount of our outstanding debt associated with the interest rate swaps and collars was $1.7
billion as of September 30, 2019.
The derivatives measured at fair value and the respective location in the consolidated balance sheets include the following (in thousands):
Assets
September 30,
December 31,
2019
2018

Balance Sheet Location
Derivative Contracts Designated as Hedging Instruments

Liabilities
September 30,
December 31,
2019
2018

Fuel contracts
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Other long-term assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

$

50
53
17
261

$

2,583
197
1,173
933

$

346
—
35,439
36,233

$

1
29
19,547
51,184

Foreign currency contracts
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Other long-term assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

—
—
—
—

5,285
3,514
112
2,874

—
—
97,524
156,339

1,497
—
5,145
40,476

Prepaid expenses and other assets
Other long-term assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments

—
—
—
—
381

519
27
—
—
17,217

—
—
2,984
3,284
332,149

—
—
—
—
117,879

Interest rate contracts

$

$

$

$

Derivative Contracts Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Fuel contracts

Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Total derivatives

$

667
495

$

—
—

$

—
—

$

—
—

$
$

1,162
1,543

$
$

—
17,217

$
$

—
332,149

$
$

—
117,879

The fair values of swap and forward contracts are determined based on inputs that are readily available in public markets or can be derived
from information available in publicly quoted markets. The Company determines the value of options and collars utilizing an option pricing
model based on inputs that are either readily available in public markets or can be
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derived from information available in publicly quoted markets. The option pricing model used by the Company is an industry standard
model for valuing options and is used by the broker/dealer community. The inputs to this option pricing model are the option strike price,
underlying price, risk-free rate of interest, time to expiration, and volatility. The fair value of option contracts considers both the intrinsic
value and any remaining time value associated with those derivatives that have not yet settled. The Company also considers counterparty
credit risk and its own credit risk in its determination of all estimated fair values.
Our derivatives and financial instruments were categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, and we had no derivatives or financial
instruments categorized as Level 1 or Level 3. Our derivative contracts include rights of offset with our counterparties. We have elected to
net certain assets and liabilities within counterparties when the rights of offset exist. We are not required to post cash collateral related to
our derivative instruments.
The following table discloses the gross and net amounts recognized within assets and liabilities (in thousands):

September 30, 2019
Assets
Liabilities

Gross
Amounts
$
770
331,803

Gross
Amounts
Offset
$
(346)
(773)

Total Net
Amounts
$
424
331,030

Gross
Amounts
Not Offset
$
—
(260,131)

December 31, 2018
Assets
Liabilities

Gross
Amounts
$
12,125
116,352

Gross
Amounts
Offset
$
(1,527)
(5,092)

Total Net
Amounts
$
10,598
111,260

Gross
Amounts
Not Offset
$
(6,872)
(35,718)

$

Net Amounts
424
70,899

Net Amounts
$
3,726
75,542

The effects of cash flow hedge accounting on accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows (in thousands):

Derivatives

Fuel contracts
Foreign currency contracts
Interest rate contracts
Total gain (loss) recognized in
other comprehensive income

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income
Three Months
Three Months
Ended
Ended
September 30, 2019
September 30, 2018
$
(65,726) $
24,439
(142,627)
(1,158)
$

(209,511)

(10,062)
988
$

15,365

19

Location of Gain
(Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated
Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss) into
Income

Fuel
Depreciation and
amortization
Interest expense, net

Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss) into Income
Three Months
Three Months
Ended
Ended
September 30, 2019
September 30, 2018
$
1,657 $
11,595
(703)
(506)
$

448

(703)
(186)
$

10,706
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The effects of cash flow hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of operations include the following (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Depreciation
and
Interest
Fuel
Amortization
Expense, net
Total amounts of income and expense line items presented
in the consolidated statements of operations in which the
effects of cash flow hedges are recorded

$

98,943

Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into income
Fuel contracts
Foreign currency contracts
Interest rate contracts

$

1,657
—
—

156,215

$

—
(703)
—

60,188

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
Depreciation
and
Interest
Fuel
Amortization
Expense, net
$

—
—
(506)

99,643

$

143,700

11,595
—
—

$

—
(703)
—

69,540

—
—
(186)

The effects of cash flow hedge accounting on accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows (in thousands):

Derivatives

Fuel contracts
Foreign currency contracts
Interest rate contracts
Total gain (loss) recognized in
other comprehensive income

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income
Nine Months
Nine Months
Ended
Ended
September 30, 2019
September 30, 2018
$
14,205 $
88,935
(218,724)
(7,029)
$

(211,548)

(43,951)
3,063
$

Location of Gain
(Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated
Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss) into
Income

Fuel
Depreciation and
amortization
Interest expense, net

48,047

Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss) into Income
Nine Months
Nine Months
Ended
Ended
September 30, 2019
September 30, 2018
$
19,060 $
23,024
(2,108)
(230)
$

16,722

(2,761)
(1,049)
$

19,214

The effects of cash flow hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of operations include the following (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Depreciation
and
Interest
Fuel
Amortization
Expense, net
Total amounts of income and expense line items presented
in the consolidated statements of operations in which the
effects of cash flow hedges are recorded
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into income
Fuel contracts
Foreign currency contracts
Interest rate contracts

$

297,727

$

19,060
—
—

482,227

—
(2,108)
—

$

199,660

—
—
(230)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Depreciation
and
Interest
Fuel
Amortization
Expense, net
$

288,286

23,024
—
—

$

415,648

—
(2,761)
—

$

202,226

—
—
(1,049)

Long-Term Debt
As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of our long-term debt, including the current portion, was $6,417.1 million
and $6,601.9 million, respectively, which was $39.3 million higher and $8.4 million lower, respectively, than the carrying values. The
difference between the fair value and carrying value of our long-term debt is due to our fixed and variable rate debt obligations carrying
interest rates that are above or below market rates at the measurement dates. The fair value of our long-term debt was calculated based on
estimated rates for the same or similar instruments with similar terms and remaining maturities, considered to be Level 2 inputs in the fair
value hierarchy.
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Market risk associated with our long-term variable rate debt is the potential increase in interest expense from an increase in interest rates.
Other
The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets of all other financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value.
10. Employee Benefits and Compensation Plans
Share Option Awards
The following is a summary of option activity under NCLH’s Amended and Restated 2013 Performance Incentive Plan for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019:
Number of Share Option Awards
TimePerformanceMarketBased
Based
Based
Awards
Awards
Awards
Outstanding as of January 1,
2019
Exercised
Forfeited and cancelled
Outstanding as of
September 30, 2019

Weighted-Average Exercise Price
TimePerformanceMarketBased
Based
Based
Awards
Awards
Awards

WeightedAverage
Contractual
Term
(years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

5,686,793
(311,732)
(83,666)

410,499
(138,306)
(156,251)

208,333
—
—

$

50.65
38.19
56.30

$

45.67
19.00
59.43

$

59.43
—
—

6.22

$

13,946

5,291,395

115,942

208,333

$

51.29

$

58.96

$

59.43

5.63

$

20,576

Restricted Ordinary Share Awards
The following is a summary of restricted NCLH ordinary share activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2019:
Number of
TimeBased
Awards
429
(429)
—

Non-vested as of January 1, 2019
Vested
Non-vested as of September 30, 2019

WeightedAverage Grant
Date Fair Value
$
58.41
58.41
$
—

Restricted Share Unit Awards
On March 1, 2019, NCLH granted 1.9 million time-based restricted share unit awards to our employees, which vest in substantially equal
annual installments over three years. Additionally, on March 1, 2019, NCLH granted 0.5 million performance-based restricted share units
to certain members of our management team, which vest upon the achievement of certain pre-established performance targets established
for the 2019 and 2020 calendar years and the satisfaction of an additional time-based vesting requirement that generally requires continued
employment through March 1, 2022.
The following is a summary of restricted share unit activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2019:

Non-vested as of January 1, 2019
Granted
Vested
Forfeited or expired
Non-vested as of September 30, 2019

Number of
Time-Based
Awards
2,973,032
1,929,495
(1,430,124)
(167,261)
3,305,142

WeightedAverage Grant
Date Fair Value
$
53.98
55.00
53.02
55.03
$
54.94

21

Number of
WeightedPerformanceAverage Grant
Based Awards
Date Fair Value
825,614
$
56.58
462,282 (1)
55.27
(121,000)
56.27
(37,500)
56.27
1,129,396
$
56.09

Number of
MarketBased Awards
50,000
—
—
—
50,000

WeightedAverage Grant
Date Fair Value
$
59.43
—
—
—
$
59.43
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(1) Number of performance-based restricted share units included assumes maximum achievement of performance targets.
The compensation expense recognized for share-based compensation for the periods presented include the following (in thousands):

Payroll and related expense
Marketing, general and administrative expense
Total share-based compensation expense

$
$

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
4,489
$
4,012
20,931
24,950
25,420
$
28,962

$
$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
12,974 $
11,779
69,096
77,018
82,070 $
88,797

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Ship Construction Contracts
Project Leonardo will introduce an additional six ships, each approximately 140,000 Gross Tons with approximately 3,300 Berths, with
expected delivery dates from 2022 through 2027, subject to certain conditions. We have a Breakaway Plus Class Ship, Norwegian Encore,
with approximately 168,000 Gross Tons and 4,000 Berths, that was delivered in October 2019. We refer you to Note 15 – “Subsequent
Events” for additional information. For the Regent brand, we have orders for two Explorer Class Ships, Seven Seas Splendor and an
additional ship, to be delivered in 2020 and 2023, respectively. Each of the Explorer Class Ships will be approximately 55,000 Gross Tons
and 750 Berths. For the Oceania Cruises brand, we have orders for two Allura Class Ships to be delivered in 2022 and 2025. Each of the
Allura Class Ships will be approximately 67,000 Gross Tons and 1,200 Berths.
The combined contract prices of the 11 ships on order for delivery as of September 30, 2019 was approximately €8.3 billion, or $9.0 billion
based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of September 30, 2019. We have obtained export credit financing which is expected to fund
approximately 80% of the contract price of each ship, subject to certain conditions. We do not anticipate any contractual breaches or
cancellations to occur. However, if any such events were to occur, it could result in, among other things, the forfeiture of prior deposits or
payments made by us and potential claims and impairment losses which may materially impact our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
Litigation
Helms-Burton Act
In August 2019, two lawsuits were filed against NCLH in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida under Title III
of the Cuban Liberty and Solidarity (Libertad) Act of 1996, also known as the Helms-Burton Act. The complaint filed by Havana Docks
Corporation alleges it holds an interest in the Havana Cruise Port Terminal and the complaint filed by Javier Garcia-Bengochea alleges that
he holds an interest in the Port of Santiago, Cuba, both of which were expropriated by the Cuban Government. The complaints further allege
that the Company “trafficked” in those properties by embarking and disembarking passengers at these facilities. The plaintiffs seek all
available statutory remedies, including the value of the expropriated property, plus interest, treble damages, attorneys’ fees and costs.
Although we believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims and intend to vigorously defend these matters, as of September 30, 2019,
we are unable to reasonably estimate any potential contingent loss from these matters due to a lack of legal precedence.
Other
In the normal course of our business, various other claims and lawsuits have been filed or are pending against us. Most of these claims and
lawsuits are covered by insurance and, accordingly, the maximum amount of our liability is typically limited to our deductible amount.
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Nonetheless, the ultimate outcome of these claims and lawsuits that are not covered by insurance cannot be determined at this time. We
have evaluated our overall exposure with respect to all of our threatened and pending litigation and, to the extent required, we have accrued
amounts for all estimable probable losses associated with our deemed exposure. We are currently unable to estimate any other potential
contingent losses beyond those accrued, as discovery is not complete nor is adequate information available to estimate such range of loss or
potential recovery. However, based on our current knowledge, we do not believe that the aggregate amount or range of reasonably possible
losses with respect to these matters will be material to our consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. We intend to
vigorously defend our legal position on all claims and, to the extent necessary, seek recovery.
12. Other Income, Net
For the three months ended September 30, 2019, other income, net was $10.3 million primarily due to gains from foreign currency
exchange. For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, other income, net was $13.4 million, primarily due to gains from insurance
proceeds, a litigation settlement and foreign currency exchange. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, other income,
net was income of $0.1 million and $11.4 million, respectively, primarily due to foreign currency exchange gains.
13. Income Tax Expense
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, we had an income tax expense of $11.2 million and a benefit of $16.5 million,
respectively.
During 2018, we implemented certain tax restructuring strategies that created our ability to utilize the net operating loss carryforwards of
Prestige, for which we had previously provided a full valuation allowance. As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, we engaged
in a section 382 study to determine the amount of the Prestige net operating loss carryforwards that could be utilized against future taxable
income. In March 2019, we completed this study resulting in a tax benefit of $35.7 million in connection with the reversal of substantially
all of the valuation allowance.
14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, we had non-cash investing activities in connection with property and equipment
of $17.4 million and $17.8 million, respectively.
15. Subsequent Events
In October 2019, we took delivery of Norwegian Encore. We had export financing in place for80% of the contract price. The associated
$882.9 million term loan bears interest at 3.92% per annum with a maturity date of October 30, 2031. Principal and interest payments shall
be paid semiannually.
In October 2019, we entered into a $75 million revolving credit line agreement that matures in October 2020 and bears interest at LIBOR
plus a margin of 0.95%.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements in this report constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. federal securities laws intended to
qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than
statements of historical facts contained, or incorporated by reference, in this report, including, without limitation, those regarding our
business strategy, financial position, results of operations, plans, prospects and objectives of management for future operations (including
expected fleet additions, development plans, objectives relating to our activities and expected performance in new markets), are forwardlooking statements. Many, but not all, of these statements can be found by looking for words like “expect,” “anticipate,” “goal,” “project,”
“plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “will,” “may,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “intend,” “future” and similar words. Forward-looking statements do not
guarantee future performance and may involve risks, uncertainties and other factors which could cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to differ materially from the future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied in those forward-looking
statements. Examples of these risks, uncertainties and other factors include, but are not limited to the impact of:
●

adverse events impacting the security of travel, such as terrorist acts, armed conflict and threats thereof, acts of piracy, and other
international events;

●

adverse incidents involving cruise ships;

●

adverse general economic and related factors, such as fluctuating or increasing levels of unemployment, underemployment and the
volatility of fuel prices, declines in the securities and real estate markets, and perceptions of these conditions that decrease the level
of disposable income of consumers or consumer confidence;

●

the spread of epidemics and viral outbreaks;

●

breaches in data security or other disturbances to our information technology and other networks;

●

the risks and increased costs associated with operating internationally;

●

changes in fuel prices and/or other cruise operating costs;

●

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

●

our expansion into and investments in new markets;

●

overcapacity in key markets or globally;

●

the unavailability of attractive port destinations;

●

our inability to obtain adequate insurance coverage;

●

evolving requirements and regulations regarding data privacy and protection and any actual or perceived compliance failures by us;

●

our indebtedness and restrictions in the agreements governing our indebtedness that limit our flexibility in operating our business,
including the significant portion of assets that are collateral under these agreements;
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●

volatility and disruptions in the global credit and financial markets, which may adversely affect our ability to borrow and could
increase our counterparty credit risks, including those under our credit facilities, derivatives, contingent obligations, insurance
contracts and new ship progress payment guarantees;

●

our inability to recruit or retain qualified personnel or the loss of key personnel;

●

delays in our shipbuilding program and ship repairs, maintenance and refurbishments;

●

our reliance on third parties to provide hotel management services to certain ships and certain other services;

●

future increases in the price of, or major changes or reduction in, commercial airline services;

●

amendments to our collective bargaining agreements for crew members and other employee relation issues;

●

pending or threatened litigation, investigations and enforcement actions;

●

our inability to keep pace with developments in technology;

●

seasonal variations in passenger fare rates and occupancy levels at different times of the year;

●

changes involving the tax and environmental regulatory regimes in which we operate; and

●

other factors set forth under “Risk Factors” herein and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018,
filed with the SEC on February 27, 2019 (“Annual Report on Form 10-K”).

The above examples are not exhaustive and new risks emerge from time to time. Such forward-looking statements are based on our current
beliefs, assumptions, expectations, estimates and projections regarding our present and future business strategies and the environment in
which we expect to operate in the future. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made. We expressly disclaim any
obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement to reflect any change in our
expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement was based, except as
required by law.
Terminology
This report includes certain non-GAAP financial measures, such as Net Revenue, Net Yield, Net Cruise Cost, Adjusted Net Cruise Cost
Excluding Fuel, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS. Definitions of these non- GAAP financial measures are
included below. For further information about our non-GAAP financial measures including detailed adjustments made in calculation our
non-GAAP financial measures and a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, we refer you to “Results of
Operations” below.
Unless otherwise indicated in this report, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:
●

Acquisition of Prestige. In November 2014, we acquired Prestige in a cash and stock transaction for total consideration of $3.025
billion, including the assumption of debt.

●

Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA adjusted for other income, net and other supplemental adjustments.

●

Adjusted EPS. Adjusted Net Income divided by the number of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding.

●

Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel. Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel adjusted for supplemental adjustments.
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●

Adjusted Net Income. Net income adjusted for supplemental adjustments.

●

Allura Class Ships. Oceania Cruises’ two ships on order.

●

Berths. Double occupancy capacity per cabin (single occupancy per studio cabin) even though many cabins can accommodate three
or more passengers.

●

Breakaway Plus Class Ships. Norwegian Escape, Norwegian Joy, Norwegian Bliss and Norwegian Encore.

●

Capacity Days. Available Berths multiplied by the number of cruise days for the period.

●

Constant Currency. A calculation whereby foreign currency-denominated revenue and expenses in a period are converted at the
U.S. dollar exchange rate of a comparable period to eliminate the effects of foreign exchange fluctuations.

●

Dry-dock. A process whereby a ship is positioned in a large basin where all of the fresh/sea water is pumped out in order to carry
out cleaning and repairs of those parts of a ship which are below the water line.

●

EBITDA. Earnings before interest, taxes, and depreciation and amortization.

●

EPS. Earnings per share.

●

Explorer Class Ships. Regent’s Seven Seas Explorer, Seven Seas Splendor, and an additional ship on order.

●

GAAP. Generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.

●

Gross Cruise Cost. The sum of total cruise operating expense and marketing, general and administrative expense.

●

Gross Tons. A unit of enclosed passenger space on a cruise ship, such that one gross ton equals 100 cubic feet or 2.831 cubic
meters.

●

Gross Yield. Total revenue per Capacity Day.

●

Net Cruise Cost. Gross Cruise Cost less commissions, transportation and other expense and onboard and other expense.

●

Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel. Net Cruise Cost less fuel expense.

●

Net Revenue. Total revenue less commissions, transportation and other expense and onboard and other expense.

●

Net Yield. Net Revenue per Capacity Day.

●

Occupancy Percentage. The ratio of Passenger Cruise Days to Capacity Days. A percentage greater than 100% indicates that three
or more passengers occupied some cabins.

●

Passenger Cruise Days. The number of passengers carried for the period, multiplied by the number of days in their respective
cruises.

●

Project Leonardo. The next generation of ships for our Norwegian brand.

●

Revolving Loan Facility. $875.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility.
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●

SEC. U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

●

Secondary Equity Offering(s). Secondary public offering(s) of NCLH’s ordinary shares in December 2018, March 2018, November
2017, August 2017, December 2015, August 2015, May 2015, March 2015, March 2014, December 2013 and August 2013.

●

Shipboard Retirement Plan. An unfunded defined benefit pension plan for certain crew members which computes benefits based on
years of service, subject to certain requirements.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We use certain non-GAAP financial measures, such as Net Revenue, Net Yield, Net Cruise Cost, Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel,
Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to enable us to analyze our performance. See “Terminology” for the
definitions of these and other non-GAAP financial measures. We utilize Net Revenue and Net Yield to manage our business on a day-today basis and believe that they are the most relevant measures of our revenue performance because they reflect the revenue earned by us net
of significant variable costs. In measuring our ability to control costs in a manner that positively impacts net income, we believe changes in
Net Cruise Cost and Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel to be the most relevant indicators of our performance.
As our business includes the sourcing of passengers and deployment of vessels outside of the U.S., a portion of our revenue and expenses
are denominated in foreign currencies, particularly British pound, Canadian dollar, Euro and Australian dollar which are subject to
fluctuations in currency exchange rates versus our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar. In order to monitor results excluding these
fluctuations, we calculate certain non-GAAP measures on a Constant Currency basis, whereby current period revenue and expenses
denominated in foreign currencies are converted to U.S. dollars using currency exchange rates of the comparable period. We believe that
presenting these non-GAAP measures on both a reported and Constant Currency basis is useful in providing a more comprehensive view of
trends in our business.
We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is appropriate as a supplemental financial measure as it is used by management to assess operating
performance. We also believe that Adjusted EBITDA is a useful measure in determining our performance as it reflects certain operating
drivers of our business, such as sales growth, operating costs, marketing, general and administrative expense and other operating income
and expense. Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined term under GAAP nor is it intended to be a measure of liquidity or cash flows from
operations or a measure comparable to net income, as it does not take into account certain requirements such as capital expenditures and
related depreciation, principal and interest payments and tax payments and it includes other supplemental adjustments.
In addition, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS are non-GAAP financial measures that exclude certain amounts and are used to
supplement GAAP net income and EPS. We use Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS as key performance measures of our earnings
performance. We believe that both management and investors benefit from referring to these non-GAAP financial measures in assessing
our performance and when planning, forecasting and analyzing future periods. These non-GAAP financial measures also facilitate
management’s internal comparison to our historical performance. In addition, management uses Adjusted EPS as a performance measure
for our incentive compensation. The amounts excluded in the presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures may vary from period to
period; accordingly, our presentation of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS may not be indicative of future adjustments or results. For
example, for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we incurred $0.5 million related to Secondary Equity Offering expenses. We
included this as an adjustment in the reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income since the offering expenses are not representative of our day-today operations and we have included similar adjustments in prior periods; however, this adjustment did not occur and is not included in the
comparative period presented within this Form 10-Q.
You are encouraged to evaluate each adjustment used in calculating our non-GAAP financial measures and the reasons we consider our
non-GAAP financial measures appropriate for supplemental analysis. In evaluating our non-GAAP financial measures, you should be
aware that in the future we may incur expenses similar to the adjustments in our presentation. Our non-GAAP financial measures have
limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider these
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measures in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Our presentation of our non-GAAP financial
measures should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. Our nonGAAP financial measures may not be comparable to other companies. Please see a historical reconciliation of these measures to the most
comparable GAAP measure presented in our consolidated financial statements below in the “Results of Operations” section.
Financial Presentation
We categorize revenue from our cruise and cruise-related activities as either “passenger ticket” revenue or “onboard and other” revenue.
Passenger ticket revenue and onboard and other revenue vary according to product offering, the size of the ship in operation, the length of
cruises operated and the markets in which the ship operates. Our revenue is seasonal based on demand for cruises, which has historically
been strongest during the Northern Hemisphere’s summer months. Passenger ticket revenue primarily consists of revenue for
accommodations, meals in certain restaurants on the ship, certain onboard entertainment, and includes revenue for service charges and air
and land transportation to and from the ship to the extent guests purchase these items from us. Onboard and other revenue primarily consists
of revenue from gaming, beverage sales, shore excursions, specialty dining, retail sales, spa services and photo services. Our onboard
revenue is derived from onboard activities we perform directly or that are performed by independent concessionaires, from which we
receive a share of their revenue.
Our cruise operating expense is classified as follows:
●

Commissions, transportation and other primarily consists of direct costs associated with passenger ticket revenue. These costs
include travel agent commissions, air and land transportation expenses, related credit card fees, certain port expenses and the costs
associated with shore excursions and hotel accommodations included as part of the overall cruise purchase price.

●

Onboard and other primarily consists of direct costs incurred in connection with onboard and other revenue, including casino,
beverage sales and shore excursions.

●

Payroll and related consists of the cost of wages and benefits for shipboard employees and costs of certain inventory items,
including food, for a third party that provides crew and other hotel services for certain ships.

●

Fuel includes fuel costs, the impact of certain fuel hedges and fuel delivery costs.

●

Food consists of food costs for passengers and crew on certain ships.

●

Other consists of repairs and maintenance (including Dry-dock costs), ship insurance and other ship expenses.

Critical Accounting Policies
For a discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates, see “Critical Accounting Policies” included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.” We have made no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates from those described in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Quarterly Overview
Three months ended September 30, 2019 (“2019”) compared to three months ended September 30, 2018 (“2018”)
●

Total revenue increased 3.0% to $1.9 billion compared to slightly less than $1.9 billion.

●

Net Revenue increased 1.4% to $1.5 billion compared to $1.4 billion.
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●

Net income and diluted EPS were $450.6 million and $2.09, respectively, compared to $470.4 million and $2.11, respectively.

●

Operating income was $511.7 million compared to $550.3 million.

●

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS were $481.5 million and $2.23, respectively, in 2019, which included $30.9 million of
adjustments primarily consisting of expenses related to non-cash compensation and amortization of intangible assets. Adjusted Net
Income and Adjusted EPS were $506.4 million and $2.27, respectively, in 2018, which included $36.0 million of adjustments
primarily consisting of expenses related to non-cash compensation and amortization of intangible assets.

●

Adjusted EBITDA decreased 4.1% to $693.9 million compared to $723.5 million.

●

In June 2019, the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury removed the authorization for
group people-to-people educational travel by U.S. persons to Cuba. As a result, we have stopped sailings to Cuba effective June 5,
2019 and revised the affected iteneraries. The estimated negative impact resulting from this regulatory change was approximately
$0.22 to both diluted EPS and Adjusted EPS for the three months ended September 30, 2019. We expect a negative impact to
diluted EPS and Adjusted EPS throughout the remainder of 2019 and into 2020 as a result of the cessation of cruises to Cuba.

We refer you to our “Results of Operations” below for a calculation of Net Revenue, Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EPS and Adjusted
EBITDA.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth operating data as a percentage of total revenue:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
Revenue
Passenger ticket
Onboard and other
Total revenue
Cruise operating expense
Commissions, transportation and other
Onboard and other
Payroll and related
Fuel
Food
Other
Total cruise operating expense
Other operating expense
Marketing, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total other operating expense
Operating income
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest expense, net
Other income, net
Total non-operating income (expense)
Net income before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018

71.8 %
28.2 %
100.0 %

71.8 %
28.2 %
100.0 %

70.8 %
29.2 %
100.0 %

70.6 %
29.4 %
100.0 %

17.3
6.4
12.3
5.2
3.0
7.6
51.8

%
%
%
%
%
%
%

16.2
6.3
12.3
5.4
3.0
6.8
50.0

%
%
%
%
%
%
%

17.2
6.2
13.8
6.0
3.3
9.2
55.7

%
%
%
%
%
%
%

16.5
6.0
14.1
6.2
3.4
8.6
54.8

%
%
%
%
%
%
%

13.3
8.2
21.5
26.7

%
%
%
%

12.7
7.7
20.4
29.6

%
%
%
%

15.0
9.7
24.7
19.6

%
%
%
%

14.7
8.9
23.6
21.6

%
%
%
%

(3.1)%
0.5 %
(2.6)%
24.1 %
(0.6)%
23.5 %

(3.7)%
—%
(3.7)%
25.9 %
(0.6)%
25.3 %

(4.0)%
0.3 %
(3.7)%
15.9 %
0.3 %
16.2 %

(4.3)%
0.2 %
(4.1)%
17.5 %
(0.4)%
17.1 %

The following table sets forth selected statistical information:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
726,921
823,413
5,387,662
5,493,932
4,854,292
4,941,643
111.0 %
111.2 %

Passengers carried
Passenger Cruise Days
Capacity Days
Occupancy Percentage

30

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
2,054,908
2,128,673
15,377,185
15,177,982
14,198,092
13,958,331
108.3 %
108.7 %
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Net Revenue, Gross Yield and Net Yield were calculated as follows (in thousands, except Capacity Days and Yield data):

Passenger ticket revenue
Onboard and other revenue
Total revenue
Less:
Commissions, transportation
and other expense
Onboard and other expense
Net Revenue
Capacity Days
Gross Yield
Net Yield

$

$
$
$

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
Constant
2019
Currency
1,373,779 $ 1,385,715 $
540,072
540,071
1,913,851
1,925,786

2018
1,334,460
523,896
1,858,356

330,893
122,971
1,459,987
4,854,292
394.26
300.76

301,349
117,747
1,439,260
4,941,643
376.06
291.25

$
$
$

333,330
122,971
1,469,485
4,854,292
396.72
302.72

$
$
$
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$

$
$
$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
Constant
2019
Currency
3,526,456 $
3,561,062 $
1,455,302
1,455,302
4,981,758
5,016,364
857,848
309,447
3,814,463
14,198,092
350.88
268.66

$
$
$

865,013
309,447
3,841,904
14,198,092
353.31
270.59

$
$
$

2018
3,301,372
1,372,561
4,673,933
769,564
281,232
3,623,137
13,958,331
334.85
259.57
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Gross Cruise Cost, Net Cruise Cost, Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel and Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel were calculated as
follows (in thousands, except Capacity Days and per Capacity Day data):

2019
Total cruise operating
expense
Marketing, general and
administrative expense
Gross Cruise Cost
Less:
Commissions, transportation
and other expense
Onboard and other expense
Net Cruise Cost
Less: Fuel expense
Net Cruise Cost Excluding
Fuel
Less Non-GAAP
Adjustments:
Non-cash deferred
compensation (1)
Non-cash share-based
compensation (2)
Secondary Equity Offering
expenses (3)
Redeployment of Norwegian
Joy (4)
Other (5)
Adjusted Net Cruise Cost
Excluding Fuel
Capacity Days
Gross Cruise Cost per
Capacity Day
Net Cruise Cost per Capacity
Day
Net Cruise Cost Excluding
Fuel per Capacity Day
Adjusted Net Cruise Cost
Excluding Fuel per Capacity
Day

$

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
Constant
Currency

990,764

$

996,548

$

2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
Constant
Currency

2019

928,944

$

2,775,839

$

2,792,417

2018
$

2,559,818

255,148
1,245,912

256,518
1,253,066

235,436
1,164,380

744,991
3,520,830

749,565
3,541,982

688,986
3,248,804

330,893
122,971
792,048
98,943

333,330
122,971
796,765
98,943

301,349
117,747
745,284
99,643

857,848
309,447
2,353,535
297,727

865,013
309,447
2,367,522
297,727

769,564
281,232
2,198,008
288,286

693,105

697,822

645,641

2,055,808

2,069,795

1,909,722

533

533

543

1,601

1,601

1,627

25,420

25,420

28,962

82,070

82,070

88,797

—

—

—

—

—

482

—
—

—
—

—
—

7,051
—

7,051
—

—
(912)

$

667,152
4,854,292

$

671,869
4,854,292

$

616,136
4,941,643

$

1,965,086
14,198,092

$

1,979,073
14,198,092

$

1,819,728
13,958,331

$

256.66

$

258.14

$

235.63

$

247.98

$

249.47

$

232.75

$

163.16

$

164.14

$

150.82

$

165.76

$

166.75

$

157.47

$

142.78

$

143.75

$

130.65

$

144.79

$

145.78

$

136.82

$

137.44

$

138.41

$

124.68

$

138.40

$

139.39

$

130.37

(1) Non-cash deferred compensation expenses related to the crew pension plan and other crew expenses, which are included in payroll and
related expense.
(2) Non-cash share-based compensation expenses related to equity awards, which are included in marketing, general and administrative
expense and payroll and related expense.
(3) Expenses related to a Secondary Equity Offering, which are included in marketing, general and administrative expense.
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(4) Expenses related to the redeployment of Norwegian Joy from Asia to the U.S. and the closing of the Shanghai office, which are included
in other cruise operating expense and marketing, general and administrative expense.
(5) Primarily related to expenses and reimbursements related to certain legal costs, which are included in marketing, general and
administrative expense.
Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS were calculated as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Net income
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Non-cash deferred compensation (1)
Non-cash share-based compensation (2)
Secondary Equity Offering expenses (3)
Extinguishment and modification of debt (4)
Amortization of intangible assets (5)
Redeployment of Norwegian Joy (6)
Other (7)
Adjusted Net Income
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding - Net
income and Adjusted Net Income
Diluted earnings per share
Adjusted EPS

$

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
450,584
$
470,378

$

878
25,420
—
—
4,603
—
—
481,485

$
$

215,499,462
2.09
2.23

$

864
28,962
—
—
6,222
—
—
506,426

$
$

222,752,738
2.11
2.27

$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
808,931
$
800,209

$

2,636
82,070
—
7,268
13,809
30,629
—
945,343

$

2,591
88,797
482
6,346
18,666
—
(912)
916,179

$
$

217,050,055
3.73
4.36

$
$

225,422,385
3.55
4.06

(1) Non-cash deferred compensation expenses related to the crew pension plan and other crew expenses, which are included in payroll and
related expense and other income, net.
(2) Non-cash share-based compensation expenses related to equity awards, which are included in marketing, general and administrative
expense and payroll and related expense.
(3) Expenses related to a Secondary Equity Offering, which are included in marketing, general and administrative expense.
(4) Losses on extinguishment of debt and modification of debt are included in interest expense, net.
(5) Amortization of intangible assets related to the Acquisition of Prestige, which are included in depreciation and amortization expense.
(6) Expenses related to the redeployment of Norwegian Joy from Asia to the U.S. and the closing of the Shanghai office, which are included
in other cruise operating expense, marketing, general and administrative expense and depreciation and amortization expense.
(7) Primarily related to expenses and reimbursements related to certain legal costs, which are included in marketing, general and
administrative expense.
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EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA were calculated as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
$ 450,584
$ 470,378
60,188
69,540
11,203
10,456
156,215
143,700
678,190
694,074
(10,251)
(98)

Net income
Interest expense, net
Income tax (benefit) expense
Depreciation and amortization expense
EBITDA
Other income, net (1)
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Non-cash deferred compensation (2)
Non-cash share-based compensation (3)
Secondary Equity Offering expenses (4)
Redeployment of Norwegian Joy (5)
Other (6)
Adjusted EBITDA

533
25,420
—
—
—
$ 693,892

543
28,962
—
—
—
$ 723,481

$

$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019
2018
808,931
$
800,209
199,660
202,226
(16,457)
18,400
482,227
415,648
1,474,361
1,436,483
(13,433)
(11,354)
1,601
82,070
—
7,051
—
1,551,650

$

1,627
88,797
482
—
(912)
1,515,123

(1) Primarily consists of gains and losses, net for proceeds from insurance, a litigation settlement and foreign currency exchanges.
(2) Non-cash deferred compensation expenses related to the crew pension plan and other crew expenses, which are included in payroll and
related expense.
(3) Non-cash share-based compensation expenses related to equity awards, which are included in marketing, general and administrative
expense and payroll and related expense.
(4) Expenses related to a Secondary Equity Offering, which are included in marketing, general and administrative expense.
(5) Expenses related to the redeployment of Norwegian Joy from Asia to the U.S. and the closing of the Shanghai office, which are included
in other cruise operating expense and marketing, general and administrative expense.
(6) Primarily related to expenses and reimbursements related to certain legal costs, which are included in marketing, general and
administrative expense.
Three months ended September 30, 2019 (“2019”) compared to three months ended September 30, 2018 (“2018”)
Revenue
Total revenue increased 3.0% to $1.9 billion in 2019 compared to slightly less than $1.9 billion in 2018. Gross Yield increased 4.8%. Net
Revenue increased 1.4% to $1.5 billion in 2019 from $1.4 billion in 2018 due to an increase in Net Yield of 3.3% a decrease in Capacity
Days of 1.8%. The increase in Gross Yield and Net Yield was primarily due to an increase in passenger ticket pricing and onboard
spending. The decrease in Capacity Days was primarily due to Dry-docks and hurricane relief efforts. On a Constant Currency basis, Net
Yield increased 3.9%.
Expense
Total cruise operating expense increased 6.7% in 2019 compared to 2018 primarily due to continuing effects from the redeployment of
Norwegian Joy during the second quarter of 2019 and incremental direct costs related to air promotions. Gross Cruise Cost increased 7.0%
in 2019 compared to 2018 due to an increase in total cruise operating expense and marketing, general and administrative expenses. Total
other operating expense increased 8.5% in 2019 compared to 2018. Marketing, general and administrative expenses increased primarily due
to an increase in advertising and promotions. Depreciation and amortization expenses increased primarily due to ship improvement
projects. On a Capacity Day basis, Net Cruise Cost increased 8.2% (8.8% on a Constant Currency basis) primarily due to an increase in
marketing, general and administrative expenses, Dry-dock expenses and other ship operating costs. Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding
Fuel per Capacity Day increased 10.2% (11.0% on a Constant Currency basis).
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Interest expense, net was $60.2 million in 2019 compared to $69.5 million in 2018. The decrease reflects lower outstanding debt balances
and lower margins associated with recent refinancings, partially offset by newbuild financings.
Other income, net was income of $10.3 million in 2019 compared to $0.1 million in 2018. In 2019, the income primarily related to gains on
foreign currency exchange.
In 2019, we had an income tax expense of $11.2 million compared to $10.5 million in 2018.
Nine months ended September 30, 2019 (“2019”) compared to nine months ended September 30, 2018 (“2018”)
Revenue
Total revenue increased 6.6% to $5.0 billion in 2019 from $4.7 billion in 2018. Gross Yield increased 4.8%. Net Revenue increased 5.3% to
$3.8 billion in 2019 from $3.6 billion in 2018 due to an increase in Capacity Days of 1.7% and an increase in Net Yield of 3.5%. The
increase in Capacity Days was primarily due to a full nine months of Norwegian Bliss in 2019 and was partially offset by a reduction in
Capacity Days while Norwegian Joy was undergoing revitalization and repairs and maintenance including scheduled Dry-docks. The
increase in Gross Yield and Net Yield was primarily due to an increase in passenger ticket pricing and an increase in onboard spending. On
a Constant Currency basis, Net Yield increased 4.2%.
Expense
Total cruise operating expense increased 8.4% in 2019 compared to 2018 primarily due to a full nine months of Norwegian Bliss in 2019,
the redeployment of Norwegian Joy during the second quarter of 2019, and incremental direct costs related to air promotions. Gross Cruise
Cost increased 8.4% in 2019 compared to 2018 due to an increase in total cruise operating expense and marketing, general and
administrative expenses. Total other operating expense increased 11.1% in 2019 compared to 2018. Marketing, general and administrative
expenses increased primarily due to an increase in advertising and promotions. Depreciation and amortization expenses increased primarily
due to the additions of Norwegian Bliss, renovation of Norwegian Joy and ship improvement projects. On a Capacity Day basis, Net Cruise
Cost increased 5.3% (5.9% on a Constant Currency basis) primarily due to an increase in marketing, general and administrative expenses,
costs associated with the cessation of cruises to Cuba and other ship operating costs. Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel per Capacity
Day increased 6.2% (6.9% on a Constant Currency basis).
Interest expense, net was $199.7 million in 2019 compared to $202.2 million in 2018. The decrease in interest expense reflects lower
outstanding debt balances and lower margins associated with recent refinancings, partially offset by newbuild financings and an increase in
LIBOR. Interest expense, net also included losses on extinguishment and modification of debt of $7.3 million in 2019 and $6.3 million in
2018.
Other income, net was income of $13.4 million in 2019 compared to $11.4 million in 2018. In 2019, the income primarily related to gains
from insurance proceeds, a litigation settlement and foreign currency exchange, and in 2018, the income primarily related to gains on
foreign currency exchange.
In 2019, we had an income tax benefit of $16.5 million compared to an expense of $18.4 million in 2018. During 2018, we implemented
certain tax restructuring strategies that created our ability to utilize the net operating loss carryforwards of Prestige, for which we had
previously provided a full valuation allowance. As a result, in 2019 we recorded a tax benefit of $35.7 million in connection with the
reversal of substantially all of the valuation allowance.

35

Table of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General
As of September 30, 2019, our liquidity was $1.3 billion consisting of $407.3 million in cash and cash equivalents and $875.0 million
available under our Revolving Loan Facility. Our primary ongoing liquidity requirements are to finance working capital, capital
expenditures and debt service.
As of September 30, 2019, we had a working capital deficit of $2.6 billion. This deficit included $1.9 billion of advance ticket sales, which
represents the total revenue we collect in advance of sailing dates and accordingly is substantially more like deferred revenue balances
rather than actual current cash liabilities. Our business model, along with our Revolving Loan Facility, allows us to operate with a working
capital deficit and still meet our operating, investing and financing needs.
We evaluate potential sources of additional liquidity, including the capital markets, in the ordinary course of business. We will continue to
evaluate opportunities to optimize our capital structure, taking into consideration our current and expected capital requirements, our
assessment of prevailing market conditions and expectations regarding future conditions, and the contractual and other restrictions to which
we are subject.
Sources and Uses of Cash
In this section, references to “2019” refer to the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and references to “2018” refer to the nine
months ended September 30, 2018.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.5 billion in 2019 as compared to $1.7 billion in 2018. The net cash provided by operating
activities included timing differences in cash receipts and payments relating to operating assets and liabilities. Advance ticket sales
increased by $262.9 million in 2019 compared to $316.3 million in 2018. Deferred tax assets/liabilities decreased by $25.7 million in 2019
compared to an increase of $4.0 million in 2018 primarily due to the reversal of valuation allowances.
Net cash used in investing activities was $644.9 million in 2019 and $1.3 billion in 2018, primarily related to payments for ships under
construction and ship improvement projects.
Net cash used in financing activities was $592.4 million in 2019 primarily due to the repurchase of $349.9 million of NCLH’s ordinary
shares, net repayments of our Revolving Loan Facility and the net refinancing of term loans partially offset by the issuance of new debt. Net
cash used in financing activities was $313.7 million in 2018 primarily due to net repayments of our Revolving Loan Facility and other loan
facilities offset by borrowings on newbuild facilities. During 2018, we redeemed $135.0 million principal amount of the $700.0 million
aggregate principal amount of outstanding 4.750% Senior Notes due 2021. Additionally, in 2018, we repurchased $463.5 million of our
ordinary shares and incurred deferred financing fees related to financing of newbuild ships.
Future Capital Commitments
Future capital commitments consist of contracted commitments, including ship construction contracts, and future expected capital
expenditures necessary for operations as well as our ship refurbishment projects. As of September 30, 2019, our anticipated capital
expenditures were $1.0 billion for the remainder of 2019 and $1.2 billion and $0.8 billion for the years ending December 31, 2020 and
2021, respectively. We have export credit financing in place for the anticipated expenditures related to ship construction contracts of $0.7
billion for the remainder of 2019 and $0.5 billion for 2020 and $0.2 billion for 2021. These future expected capital expenditures will
significantly increase our depreciation and amortization expense as we take delivery of the ships.
Project Leonardo will introduce an additional six ships, each approximately 140,000 Gross Tons with approximately 3,300 Berths, with
expected delivery dates from 2022 through 2027, subject to certain conditions. Norwegian Encore, a Breakaway Plus Class Ship with
approximately 168,000 Gross Tons and 4,000 Berths, was delivered in October 2019.
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For the Regent brand, we have orders for two Explorer Class Ships, Seven Seas Splendor and an additional ship, to be delivered in 2020 and
2023, respectively. Each of the Explorer Class Ships will be approximately 55,000 Gross Tons and 750 Berths. For the Oceania Cruises
brand, we have orders for two Allura Class Ships to be delivered in 2022 and 2025. Each of the Allura Class Ships will be approximately
67,000 Gross Tons and 1,200 Berths.
The combined contract prices of the 11 ships on order for delivery, including Norwegian Encore, which was delivered in October 2019, was
approximately €8.3 billion, or $9.0 billion based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of September 30, 2019. We have obtained export
credit financing which is expected to fund approximately 80% of the contract price of each ship, subject to certain conditions. We do not
anticipate any contractual breaches or cancellations to occur. However, if any such events were to occur, it could result in, among other
things, the forfeiture of prior deposits or payments made by us and potential claims and impairment losses which may materially impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Capitalized interest for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 was $8.9 million and $25.3 million, respectively, and for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $6.4 million and $23.2 million, respectively, primarily associated with the
construction of our newbuild ships.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
None.
Contractual Obligations
As of September 30, 2019 our contractual obligations with initial or remaining terms in excess of one year, including interest payments on
long-term debt obligations, included the following (in thousands):

Long-term debt (1)
Operating leases (2)
Ship construction contracts (3)
Port facilities (4)
Interest (5)
Other (6)
Total (7)

$

$

Total
6,377,983
277,235
5,239,506
2,067,778
875,181
1,362,419
16,200,102

Less than
1 year
$
605,106
31,707
1,283,986
62,430
199,635
268,576
$ 2,451,440

1-3 years
$ 2,051,990
63,973
1,229,429
129,372
338,179
455,388
$ 4,268,331

3-5 years
$ 2,194,802
62,762
1,921,886
136,685
190,277
393,518
$ 4,899,930

More than
5 years
$ 1,526,085
118,793
804,205
1,739,291
147,090
244,937
$ 4,580,401

(1) Long-term debt includes premiums aggregating $0.2 million and finance leases. Long-term debt excludes deferred financing fees which
are a direct deduction from the carrying value of the related debt liability in the consolidated balance sheets.
(2) Operating leases are primarily for offices, motor vehicles and office equipment.
(3) Ship construction contracts are for our newbuild ships based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of September 30, 2019. Export
credit financing is in place from syndicates of banks. The amount does not include the two Project Leonardo ships, one Explorer Class
Ship and two Allura Class Ships which were still subject to certain Italian government approvals as of September 30, 2019. The Explorer
Class Ship and one Allura Class Ship received Italian government approvals in October 2019. The contractual obligations for these two
ships includes the following (in thousands):
Less than
More than
Total
1 year
1-3 years
3-5 years
5 years
$ 1,148,527 $
90,610 $
114,679
$
943,238
$
—
Ship construction contracts
(4) Port facilities represent our usage of certain port facilities.
(5) Interest includes fixed and variable rates with LIBOR held constant as of September 30, 2019.
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(6) Other includes future commitments for service, maintenance and other business enhancement capital expenditures contracts.
(7) $0.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits were excluded from the “Total” contractual obligations as of September 30, 2019 because an
estimate of the timing of future tax settlements cannot be reasonably determined.
Other
Certain service providers may require collateral in the normal course of our business. The amount of collateral may change based on certain
terms and conditions.
As a routine part of our business, depending on market conditions, exchange rates, pricing and our strategy for growth, we regularly
consider opportunities to enter into contracts for the building of additional ships. We may also consider the sale of ships, potential
acquisitions and strategic alliances. If any of these were to occur, they may be financed through the incurrence of additional permitted
indebtedness, through cash flows from operations, or through the issuance of debt, equity or equity-related securities.
Funding Sources
Certain of our debt agreements contain covenants that, among other things, require us to maintain a minimum level of liquidity, as well as
limit our net funded debt-to-capital ratio, and maintain certain other ratios and restrict our ability to pay dividends. Substantially all of our
ships and other property and equipment are pledged as collateral for certain of our debt. We believe we were in compliance with these
covenants as of September 30, 2019.
In addition, our existing debt agreements restrict, and any of our future debt arrangements may restrict, among other things, the ability of
our subsidiaries, including NCLC, to make distributions and/or pay dividends to NCLH and NCLH’s ability to pay cash dividends to its
shareholders. NCLH is a holding company and depends upon its subsidiaries for their ability to pay distributions to it to finance any
dividend or pay any other obligations of NCLH. However, we do not believe that these restrictions have had or are expected to have an
impact on our ability to meet any cash obligations.
The impact of changes in world economies and especially the global credit markets can create a challenging environment and may reduce
future consumer demand for cruises and adversely affect our counterparty credit risks. In the event this environment deteriorates, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted.
We believe our cash on hand, expected future operating cash inflows, additional available borrowings under our Revolving Loan Facility
and our ability to issue debt securities or additional equity securities, will be sufficient to fund operations, debt payment requirements,
capital expenditures and maintain compliance with covenants under our debt agreements over the next 12-month period. There is no
assurance that cash flows from operations and additional financings will be available in the future to fund our future obligations.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
General
We are exposed to market risk attributable to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and fuel prices. We attempt to
minimize these risks through a combination of our normal operating and financing activities and through the use of derivatives. The
financial impacts of these derivative instruments are primarily offset by corresponding changes in the underlying exposures being hedged.
We achieve this by closely matching the notional, term and conditions of the derivatives with the underlying risk being hedged. We do not
hold or issue derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes. Derivative positions are monitored using techniques including market
valuations and sensitivity analyses.
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Interest Rate Risk
As of September 30, 2019, we had interest rate swap and collar agreements to hedge our exposure to interest rate movements and to manage
our interest expense. As of September 30, 2019, 75% of our debt was fixed and 25% was variable, which includes the effects of the interest
rate swaps and collars. The notional amount of outstanding debt associated with the interest rate derivative agreements as of
September 30, 2019 was $1.7 billion. As of December 31, 2018, 72% of our debt was fixed and 28% was variable, which includes the
effects of the interest rate swaps. The notional amount of our outstanding debt associated with the interest rate swap agreements was $1.0
billion as of December 31, 2018. The change in our fixed rate percentage from December 31, 2018 to September 30, 2019 was due to an
additional interest rate swap executed and the repayment of certain variable rate debt. Based on our September 30, 2019 outstanding
variable rate debt balance, a one percentage point increase in annual LIBOR interest rates would increase our annual interest expense by
approximately $11.2 million excluding the effects of capitalization of interest.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
As of September 30, 2019, we had foreign currency derivatives to hedge the exposure to volatility in foreign currency exchange rates
related to our ship construction contracts denominated in euros. These derivatives hedge the foreign currency exchange rate risk on a
portion of the payments on our ship construction contracts. The payments not hedged aggregate €2.0 billion, or $2.2 billion based on the
euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of September 30, 2019. As of December 31, 2018, the payments not hedged aggregated €2.2 billion, or
$2.5 billion, based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of December 31, 2018. The change from December 31, 2018 to
September 30, 2019 was due to additional foreign exchange derivatives executed. We estimate that a 10% change in the euro as of
September 30, 2019 would result in a $0.2 billion change in the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency denominated remaining payments.
Fuel Price Risk
Our exposure to market risk for changes in fuel prices relates to the forecasted purchases of fuel on our ships. Fuel expense, as a percentage
of our total cruise operating expense, was 10.0% and 10.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and
10.7% and 11.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. We use fuel derivative agreements to mitigate the
financial impact of fluctuations in fuel prices and as of September 30, 2019, we had hedged approximately 70%, 56%, 50% and 18% of our
remaining 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 projected metric tons of fuel purchases, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, we had hedged
approximately 57%, 53% and 33% of our 2019, 2020 and 2021 projected metric tons of fuel purchases, respectively. Additional hedges
executed between December 31, 2018 and September 30, 2019 have lowered our fuel price risk.
We estimate that a 10% increase in our weighted-average fuel price would increase our anticipated 2019 fuel expense by $10.2 million.
This increase would be partially offset by an increase in the fair value of our fuel swap agreements of $5.4 million. Fair value of our
derivative contracts is derived using valuation models that utilize the income valuation approach. These valuation models take into account
the contract terms such as maturity, as well as other inputs such as fuel types, fuel curves, creditworthiness of the counterparty and the
Company, as well as other data points.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of
September 30, 2019. There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the
possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure
controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Based upon management’s evaluation,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
September 30, 2019 to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we
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file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that it is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2019 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
It should be noted that any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the system will be met. In addition, the design of any control system is based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events. Because of these and other inherent limitations of control systems, there is only the
reasonable assurance that our controls will succeed in achieving their goals under all potential future conditions.
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Booksafe Travel Protection Plan
As previously disclosed in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2019, on September
21, 2018, a proposed class-action lawsuit was filed by Marta and Jerry Phillips and others against NCL Corporation Ltd. in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida relating to the marketing and sales of our Booksafe Travel Protection Plan. The
plaintiffs purport to represent an alleged class of passengers who purchased Booksafe Travel Protection Plans. The complaint alleged that
the Company concealed that it received proceeds on the sale of the travel insurance portion of the plan. The complaint sought an unspecified
amount of damages, fees and costs. The Company moved to invoke the arbitration clause of the ticket contract to move the case out of
Federal Court. On May 29, 2019, the Court granted the motion and compelled the plaintiffs to submit their claims to arbitration on an
individual basis, dismissing the claims before the Court with prejudice. The plaintiffs have filed a notice of appeal. We believe we have
meritorious defenses to the claim and that any liability which may arise as a result of this action will not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
Helms-Burton Act
On August 27, 2019, two lawsuits were filed against Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd. in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida under Title III of the Cuban Liberty and Solidarity (Libertad) Act of 1996, also known as the Helms-Burton
Act. The complaint filed by Havana Docks Corporation alleges it holds an interest in the Havana Cruise Port Terminal and the complaint
filed by Javier Garcia-Bengochea alleges that he holds an interest in the Port of Santiago, Cuba, both of which were expropriated by the
Cuban Government. The complaints further allege that the Company “trafficked” in those properties by embarking and disembarking
passengers at these facilities. The plaintiffs seek all available statutory remedies, including the value of the expropriated property, plus
interest, treble damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims and intend to vigorously defend
these matters.
Other
In the normal course of our business, various claims and lawsuits have been filed or are pending against us. Most of these claims and
lawsuits are covered by insurance and, accordingly, the maximum amount of our liability is typically limited to our deductible amount.
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Nonetheless, the ultimate outcome of these claims and lawsuits that are not covered by insurance cannot be determined at this time. We
have evaluated our overall exposure with respect to all of our threatened and pending litigation and, to the extent required, we have accrued
amounts for all estimable probable losses associated with our deemed exposure. We are currently unable to estimate any other potential
contingent losses beyond those accrued, as discovery is not complete nor is adequate information available to estimate such range of loss or
potential recovery. However, based on our current knowledge, we do not believe that the aggregate amount or range of reasonably possible
losses with respect to these matters will be material to our consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. We intend to
vigorously defend our legal position on all claims and, to the extent necessary, seek recovery.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
We refer you to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the risk factors that affect our business and financial results. We wish
to caution you that the risk factors discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, elsewhere in this report or
other SEC filings, could cause future results to differ materially from those stated in any forward-looking statements.
Other than updates to the risk factors set forth below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Unavailability of ports of call may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We believe that attractive port destinations are a major reason why guests choose to go on a particular cruise or on a cruise vacation. The
availability of ports, including the specific port facility at which our guests will embark and disembark, is affected by a number of factors,
including, but not limited to, existing capacity constraints, security, safety and environmental concerns, adverse weather conditions and
natural disasters such as hurricanes, floods, typhoons and earthquakes, financial limitations on port development, political instability,
exclusivity arrangements that ports may have with our competitors, local governmental regulations and fees, local community concerns
about port development and other adverse impacts on their communities from additional tourists and sanctions programs implemented by
the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Treasury Department or other regulatory bodies. For example, we had to
temporarily change certain itineraries in the Caribbean due to damage some ports sustained during an active hurricane season in 2017.
There can be no assurance that our ports of call will not be similarly affected in the future. Additionally, in June 2019, the Office of Foreign
Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury removed the authorization for group people-to-people educational travel by
U.S. persons to Cuba. Concurrently, the United States Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security removed the
authorization to travel for most non-commercial aircraft and all passenger and recreational vessels, including cruise ships, on temporary
sojourn in Cuba. Combined, these rulings effectively eliminated the ability of cruise lines to offer cruise travel to Cuba. Limitations on the
availability of ports of call or on the availability of shore excursions and other service providers at such ports have adversely affected our
business, financial condition and results of operations in the past and could do so in the future.
Litigation, enforcement actions, fines or penalties could adversely impact our financial condition or results of operations and damage
our reputation.
Our business is subject to various U.S. and international laws and regulations that could lead to enforcement actions, fines, civil or criminal
penalties or the assertion of litigation claims and damages. In addition, improper conduct by our employees or agents could damage our
reputation and/or lead to litigation or legal proceedings that could result in civil or criminal penalties, including substantial monetary fines.
In certain circumstances, it may not be economical to defend against such matters, and a legal strategy may not ultimately result in us
prevailing in a matter. Such events could lead to an adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations.
As a result of any ship-related or other incidents, litigation claims, enforcement actions and regulatory actions and investigations, including,
but not limited to, those arising from personal injury, loss of life, loss of or damage to personal property, business interruption losses or
environmental damage to any affected coastal waters and the surrounding area, may be asserted or brought against various parties,
including us and/or our cruise brands. The time and attention of our

41

Table of Contents

management may also be diverted in defending such claims, actions and investigations. Subject to applicable insurance coverage, we may
also incur costs both in defending against any claims, actions and investigations and for any judgments, fines, civil or criminal penalties if
such claims, actions or investigations are adversely determined.
The U.S. Government announced that, effective May 2, 2019, it will no longer suspend the right of private parties to bring litigation under
Title III of the Cuban Liberty and Solidarity (Libertad) Act of 1996, popularly known as the Helms-Burton Act, allowing certain
individuals whose property was confiscated by the Cuban government beginning in 1959 to sue anyone who "traffics" in the property in
question in U.S. courts. To date, several claims have now been brought against us and other companies who have done business in Cuba. If
these suits are successful, they could result in substantial monetary damages against the Company.
Future changes in applicable tax laws, or our inability to take advantage of favorable tax regimes, could increase the amount of taxes
we must pay.
We believe and have taken the position that our income that is considered to be derived from the international operation of ships as well as
certain income that is considered to be incidental to such income (“shipping income”), is exempt from U.S. federal income taxes under
Section 883, based upon certain assumptions as to shareholdings and other information as more fully described in “Item 1—Business—
Taxation.” The provisions of Section 883 are subject to change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect.
We believe and have taken the position that substantially all of our income derived from the international operation of ships is properly
categorized as shipping income and that we do not have a material amount of non-qualifying income. It is possible, however, that a much
larger percentage of our income does not qualify (or will not qualify) as shipping income. Moreover, the exemption for shipping income is
only available for years in which NCLH will satisfy complex stock ownership tests or the publicly traded test under Section 883 as
described in “Item 1—Business— Taxation—Exemption of International Shipping Income under Section 883 of the Code.” There are
factual circumstances beyond our control, including changes in the direct and indirect owners of NCLH’s ordinary shares, which could
cause us or our subsidiaries to lose the benefit of this tax exemption. Finally, any changes in our operations could significantly increase our
exposure to either the Net Tax Regime or the 4% Regime (each as defined in “Item 1—Business—Taxation”), and we can give no
assurances on this matter.
If we or any of our subsidiaries were not to qualify for the exemption under Section 883, our or such subsidiary’s U.S.-source income
would be subject to either the Net Tax Regime or the 4% Regime (each as defined in “Item 1— Business— Taxation”). As of the date of
this filing, we believe that NCLH and its subsidiaries will satisfy the publicly traded test imposed under Section 883 and therefore believe
that NCLH will qualify for the exemption under Section 883. However, as discussed above, there are factual circumstances beyond our
control that could cause NCLH to not meet the stock ownership or publicly traded tests. Therefore, we can give no assurances on this
matter. We refer you to “Item 1—Business—Taxation.”
We may be subject to state, local and non-U.S. income or non-income taxes in various jurisdictions, including those in which we transact
business, own property or reside. We may be required to file tax returns in some or all of those jurisdictions. Our state, local or non-U.S. tax
treatment may not conform to the U.S. federal income tax treatment discussed above. We may be required to pay non-U.S. taxes on
dispositions of foreign property or operations involving foreign property that may give rise to non-U.S. income or other tax liabilities in
amounts that could be substantial.
The various tax regimes to which we are currently subject result in a relatively low effective tax rate on our worldwide income. These tax
regimes, however, are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. For example, legislation has been proposed in the past that would
eliminate the benefits of the exemption from U.S. federal income tax under Section 883 and subject all or a portion of our shipping income
to taxation in the U.S. Moreover, we may become subject to new tax regimes and may be unable to take advantage of favorable tax
provisions afforded by current or future law, including exemption of branch profits and dividend withholding taxes under the U.S. – U.K.
Income Tax Treaty on income derived in respect of our U.S.–flagged operation.
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The government of Bermuda recently enacted the Economic Substance Act 2018 which sets forth minimum economic substance
requirements for entities established in Bermuda. The Company is currently analyzing these rules in anticipation of further guidance from
Bermuda authorities on the application of the Economic Substance Act 2018. If the Company is unable to comply with such requirements,
the Company may consider alternate jurisdictions or otherwise become subject to tax regimes which may be less favorable.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
On April 17, 2018, NCLH’s Board of Directors approved a three-year share repurchase program (the “Repurchase Program”) authorizing
NCLH to purchase up to $1.0 billion of NCLH’s ordinary shares. Pursuant to the Repurchase Program, NCLH may repurchase its ordinary
shares from time to time, in amounts, at prices and at such times as it deems appropriate, subject to market conditions and other
considerations. Under the Repurchase Program, shares may be repurchased in open market transactions or privately negotiated transactions,
including structured and derivative transactions such as accelerated share repurchase transactions, and may be made under a plan
complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act. Our only repurchases of NCLH’s ordinary shares during the three months
ended September 30, 2019 were made pursuant to the Repurchase Program.
Share repurchase activity during the three months ended September 30, 2019 was as follows (in thousands):
Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as
Part of a
Publicly
Announced
Program
—
2,991
—
2,991

Period
July 1, 2019 – July 31, 2019
August 1, 2019 – August 31, 2019
September 1, 2019 – September 30, 2019
Total for the three months ended September 30, 2019
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$
$
$
$

Average
Price Paid
per Share
—
50.07
—
50.07

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares that May
Yet be
Purchased
Under the
Program
(in thousands)
$
398,623
$
248,835
$
248,835
$
248,835
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Item 6. Exhibits
10.1*

Second Supplemental Agreement, dated August 15, 2019, to Seahawk Two Credit Agreement, dated July 14, 2014, by and
among Seahawk Two, Ltd., NCL International, Ltd., as shareholder, and various other lenders therein defined and a related
guarantee by NCL Corporation Ltd.#

10.2*

Side Letter, dated August 7, 2019, to €529.8 million Breakaway Two Credit Agreement, dated November 18, 2010, as amended,
by and among Breakaway Two, Ltd., NCL Corporation Ltd., NCL International, Ltd. and KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH#

31.1*

Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

31.2*

Certification of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934

32.1**

Certifications of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code

101*

The following unaudited consolidated financial statements from Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10‑Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2019, formatted in Inline XBRL:
(i)

the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018;

(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018;
(iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018;
(iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018;
(v) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019
and 2018; and
(vi) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
104*

The cover page from Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2019, formatted in Inline XBRL and included in the interactive data files submitted as Exhibit 101.

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
# Certain portions of this document that constitute confidential information have been redacted in accordance with
Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
NORWEGIAN CRUISE LINE HOLDINGS LTD.
(Registrant)
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ FRANK J. DEL RIO
Frank J. Del Rio
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ MARK A. KEMPA
Mark A. Kempa
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Dated: November 8, 2019
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Exhibit 10.1
[*]: THE IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THE AGREEMENT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (i) NOT MATERIAL
AND (ii) WOULD BE COMPETITIVELY HARMFUL IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED

Private & Confidential
Dated 15 August 2019
SEAHAWK TWO, LTD.
(as Borrower)

(1)

NCL CORPORATION LTD.
(as Guarantor)

(2)

NCL INTERNATIONAL, LTD.
(as Shareholder)

(3)

THE LENDERS listed in Schedule 1
(as Lenders)

(4)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH
(as Facility Agent)

(5)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH
(as Hermes Agent)

(6)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH
(as Initial Mandated Lead Arranger)

(7)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH
(as Collateral Agent)

(8)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH
(as CIRR Agent)

(9)

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT TO
THE SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT
dated 14 July 2014 (as amended and restated
on 22 December 2015)
for the dollar equivalent of up to €665,995,880
pre and post delivery finance for Hull No. [*]
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THIS SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT is dated 15 August 2019 and made BETWEEN:
(1)

SEAHAWK TWO, LTD., an exempted company incorporated under the laws of Bermuda and having its registered office at
Park Place, 55 Par-la-Ville Road, Third Floor, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda (the Borrower);

(2)

NCL CORPORATION LTD., an exempted company incorporated under the laws of Bermuda and having its registered office
at Park Place, 55 Par-la-Ville Road, Third Floor, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda as guarantor (the Guarantor);

(3)

NCL INTERNATIONAL, LTD.., an exempted company incorporated under the laws of Bermuda and having its registered
office at Park Place, 55 Par-la-Ville Road, Third Floor, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda as shareholder (the Shareholder);

(4)

THE LENDERS particulars of which are set out in Schedule 1 as lenders (collectively the Lenders and each individually a
Lender);

(5)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH of Palmengartenstrasse 5-9, 60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany as facility agent (the Facility
Agent);

(6)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH of Palmengartenstrasse 5-9, 60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany as Hermes agent (the Hermes
Agent);

(7)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH of Palmengartenstrasse 5-9, 60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany as initial mandated lead arranger
(the Initial Mandated Lead Arranger);

(8)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH of Palmengartenstrasse 5-9, 60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany as collateral agent for itself and the
Lenders (as hereinafter defined) (the Collateral Agent); and

(9)

KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH of Palmengartenstrasse 5-9, 60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany as CIRR agent (the CIRR Agent).

WHEREAS:
(A)

This Agreement is supplemental to a credit agreement dated 14 July 2014 as amended by the supplemental agreement dated 22
December 2015 (the First Supplemental Agreement) (together with the First Supplemental Agreement, the Original Credit
Agreement) made between, inter alia, the Borrower, the banks named therein as lenders and the Facility Agent, where the
Lenders originally granted to the Borrower a secured loan in the maximum amount of the Dollar Equivalent of six hundred and
sixty-five million, nine hundred and ninety-five thousand, eight hundred and eighty Euro (€665,995,880) for the purpose of
enabling the Borrower to finance (among other things) the construction of the Vessel (as such term is defined in the Original
Credit Agreement) on the terms and conditions therein contained.

(B)

The amount of the original commitment was reduced by €2,564,685 to €663,431,195 after the signing date of the Original Credit
Agreement as a result of the Hermes Premium being less than the amount contemplated in the Original Credit Agreement and was
increased to €706,811,000 (the Revised Total Commitments) by the First Supplemental Agreement.

(C)

As a result of certain change orders relating to the Vessel as agreed in addendum no.6 dated 26 September 2017 to the
Construction Contract as well as in a list of agreement of modifications dated 11 December 2018 to the Construction Contract, the
amount payable by the Borrower under the Construction Contract was increased by an aggregate amount of €[*]
1

and, as a result the Borrower has requested that the Revised Total Commitments be further increased by €41,874,000 (the
Additional Commitment) to €748,685,000 and that the Original Credit Agreement be amended to reflect such increase.
(D)

The Additional Commitment will be shared amongst the Lenders on the basis set out in the revised Commitments contained in
Schedule 1.

(E)

This Agreement sets out the terms and conditions upon which the Facility Agent and the Lenders shall, at the request of the
Borrower, agree to increase the Revised Total Commitments by the Additional Commitment and the manner in which each
Lender’s Commitment shall be increased.

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows:
1
1.1

Definitions
Defined expressions
Words and expressions defined in the Original Credit Agreement shall, unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise
defined herein, have the same meanings when used in this Agreement.

1.2

Definitions
In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:
Credit Agreement means the Original Credit Agreement as amended and restated by this Agreement.
Finance Party means the Facility Agent, the Hermes Agent, the Collateral Agent, the CIRR Agent or a Lender.
Obligor means the Borrower, the Guarantor and the Shareholder.
Restatement Date means the date on which the Facility Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders in writing that the Facility
Agent has received the documents and evidence specified in clause 6 and Schedule 2 in a form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to it.

1.3

References
References in:
(a)

this Agreement to Sections of the Credit Agreement are to the Sections of the amended and restated credit agreement set out
in Schedule 3;

(b)

the Original Credit Agreement to “this Agreement” shall, with effect from the Restatement Date and unless the context
otherwise requires, be references to the Original Credit Agreement as amended and restated by this Agreement and words
such as “herein”, “hereof”, “hereunder”, “hereafter”, “hereby” and “hereto”, where they appear in the Original Credit
Agreement, shall be construed accordingly;

(c)

this Agreement to any defined terms shall have meanings to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of
the terms defined and references to this
2

Agreement or any other document (or to any specified provision of this Agreement or any other document) shall be
construed as references to this Agreement, that provision or that document as from time to time amended, restated,
supplemented and/or novated.
1.4

Clause headings
The headings of the several clauses and subclauses of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not in any way
affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement.

1.5

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
A person who is not a party to this Agreement has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce or
enjoy the benefit of any term of this Agreement unless expressly provided to the contrary in this Agreement. Notwithstanding any
term of this Agreement, the consent of any person who is not a party to this Agreement is not required to rescind or vary this
Agreement at any time.

2

Agreement of the Finance Parties
The Finance Parties, relying upon the representations and warranties on the part of the Obligors contained in clause 5, agree with
the Borrower that, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in particular, but without prejudice to the generality
of the foregoing, fulfilment of the conditions contained in clause 6 and Schedule 2, the Original Credit Agreement shall be
amended and restated on the terms set out in clause 3.

3

Increased Commitments
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, certain of the Lenders agree to increase the Revised Total Commitments by
the Additional Commitment and accordingly, on the Restatement Date, the Commitments of the Lenders shall be as set out in
Schedule 1.

4
4.1

Amendments to Original Credit Agreement
Amendments
The Original Credit Agreement (but without its Exhibits which, subject to clause 7.2(c), shall remain in the same form and deemed
to form part of the Credit Agreement) shall, with effect on and from the Restatement Date, be (and it is hereby) amended and
restated so as to read in accordance with the form of the amended and restated Credit Agreement set out in Schedule 3 and (as so
amended) and, together with the Exhibits, will continue to be binding upon the parties to it in accordance with its terms as so
amended and restated.

4.2

Continued force and effect
Save as amended by this Agreement, the provisions of the Original Credit Agreement shall continue in full force and effect and the
Original Credit Agreement and this Agreement shall be read and construed as one instrument.
3

5
5.1

Representations and warranties
Primary representations and warranties
Each of the Obligors represents and warrants to the Finance Parties that:
(a)

Power and authority
it has the power to enter into and perform this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and has taken all
necessary action to authorise the entry into and performance of this Agreement and such transactions. This Agreement
constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligations enforceable in accordance with its terms and in entering into this
Agreement, it is acting on its own account;

(b)

No violation
the entry into and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not conflict
with:

(c)

(i)

any law or regulation or any official or judicial order; or

(ii)

its constitutional documents; or

(iii)

any agreement or document to which any member of the NCLC Group is a party or which is binding upon it or any of
its assets, nor result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on it or its assets pursuant to the provisions of any such
agreement or document and in particular but without prejudice to the foregoing the entry into and performance of this
Agreement and the transactions and documents contemplated hereby and thereby will not render invalid, void or
voidable any security granted by it to the Collateral Agent;

Governmental approvals
all authorisations, approvals, consents, licenses, exemptions, filings, registrations, notarisations and other matters, official
or otherwise, required in connection with the entry into, performance, validity and enforceability of this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect;

(d)

Fees, governing law and enforcement
no fees or taxes, including, without limitation, stamp, transaction, registration or similar taxes, are required to be paid to
ensure the legality, validity, or enforceability of this Agreement. The choice of the laws of England as set forth in this
Agreement is a valid choice of law, and the irrevocable submission by each Obligor to jurisdiction and consent to service of
process and, where necessary, appointment by such Obligor of an agent for service of process, as set forth in this
Agreement, is legal, valid, binding and effective; and

(e)

True and complete disclosure
each Obligor has fully disclosed in writing to the Facility Agent all facts relating to such Obligor which it knows or should
reasonably know and which might reasonably be
4

expected to influence the Lenders in deciding whether or not to enter into this Agreement.
5.2

Repetition of representations and warranties
Each of the representations and warranties contained in clause 5.1 of this Agreement shall be deemed to be repeated by the
Obligors on the Restatement Date as if made with reference to the facts and circumstances existing on such day.

6
6.1

Conditions
Documents and evidence
The agreement of the Finance Parties referred to in clause 2 shall be subject to the receipt by the Facility Agent or its duly
authorised representative of the documents and evidence specified in Schedule 2 in each case, in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Facility Agent and its lawyers.

6.2

General conditions precedent
The agreement of the Finance Parties referred to in clause 2 shall be further subject to:

6.3

(a)

the representations and warranties in clause 5 being true and correct on the Restatement Date as if each was made with
respect to the facts and circumstances existing at such time; and

(b)

no Event of Default or Default having occurred and continuing at the time of the Restatement Date.

Conditions subsequent
The Borrower undertakes as soon as possible (but in any event within 10 days of the Restatement Date) to deliver to the Facility
Agent copies of the financing statements (Form UCC-1 or the equivalent) and the search results (Form UCC-11) prepared, filed
and/or obtained by the Borrower’s counsel, Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP, in connection with the restatement of
the Original Credit Agreement pursuant to this Agreement.

6.4

Waiver of conditions precedent
The conditions specified in this clause 6 are inserted solely for the benefit of the Finance Parties and may be waived by the
Finance Parties in whole or in part with or without conditions.

7
7.1

Confirmations
Guarantee
The Guarantor hereby confirms its consent to the amendments to the Original Credit Agreement contained in this Agreement and
agrees that the guarantee and indemnity provided in Section 15 (Parent Guaranty) of the Original Credit Agreement, and the
obligations of the Guarantor thereunder, shall remain and continue in full force and effect
5

notwithstanding the said amendments to the Original Credit Agreement contained in this Agreement.
7.2

Credit Documents
Each Obligor further acknowledges and agrees, for the avoidance of doubt, that:
(a)

each of the Credit Documents to which it is a party, and its obligations thereunder, shall remain in full force and effect
notwithstanding the amendments made to the Original Credit Agreement by this Agreement;

(b)

each of the Security Documents to which it is a party shall remain in full force and effect as security for the obligations of
the Borrower under the Credit Agreement; and

(c)

with effect from the Restatement Date, references in the Credit Documents to which it is a party to the Credit Agreement
shall henceforth be reference to the Original Credit Agreement as amended and restated by this Agreement and as from time
to time hereafter amended.

8

Fee and expenses

8.1

Participation Fee
The Borrower agrees to pay, on or before the Restatement Date, a fee of €[*] to the Facility Agent (on behalf of the Lenders, for
distribution to them rateably in accordance with their share of the Additional Commitment and to be distributed on the day
following receipt of the fee from the Borrower).

8.2

Expenses
The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent on demand:
(a)

all reasonable and documented expenses (including external legal and out-of-pocket expenses and disbursements) incurred
by the Facility Agent or the Hermes Agent in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and, where relevant,
registration of this Agreement and of any amendment or extension of or the granting of any waiver or consent under this
Agreement; and

(b)

all expenses (including legal and out-of-pocket expenses) incurred by the Finance Parties in contemplation of, or otherwise
in connection with, the enforcement of, or preservation of any rights under this Agreement or otherwise in respect of the
monies owing and obligations incurred under this Agreement,

together with interest at the rate referred to in Section 2.06 ( Interest) of the Credit Agreement from the date on which such
expenses were incurred to the date of payment (as well after as before judgment).
8.3

Value Added Tax
All expenses payable pursuant to this clause 8 shall be paid together with VAT or any similar tax (if any) properly chargeable
thereon.
6

8.4

Stamp and other duties
The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent on demand all stamp, documentary, registration or other like duties or taxes
(including any duties or taxes payable by the Facility
Agent) imposed on or in connection with this Agreement and shall indemnify the Facility Agent against any liability arising by
reason of any delay or omission by the Borrower to pay such duties or taxes.

9
9.1

Miscellaneous and notices
Notices
The provisions of Section 14.03 (Notices) of the Credit Agreement shall extend and apply to the giving or making of notices or
demands hereunder as if the same were expressly stated herein with all necessary changes.

9.2

Counterparts
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties on separate counterparts, each of
which when so executed and delivered shall be an original but all counterparts shall together constitute one and the same
instrument.

9.3

Further assurance
The provisions of Section 9.10(a) (Further Assurances) of the Credit Agreement shall extend and apply to this Agreement as if the
same were expressly stated herein with all necessary changes.

10 Applicable law
10.1 Law
This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations connected with it are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with
English law.
10.2 Exclusive jurisdiction and service of process
The provisions of Section 14.07(b) and (c) (Governing Law; Exclusive Jurisdiction of English Courts; Service of Process ) of the
Credit Agreement shall apply to this Agreement as if the same were expressly stated herein with all necessary changes.
This Agreement has been executed on the date stated at the beginning of this Agreement.
7

Schedule 1
The Lenders and their Commitments (on and from the Restatement Date)
Lender

Commitment ($ equivalent of €)

BNP Paribas Fortis SA/NV

[*]

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

[*]

DNB Bank ASA

[*]

HSBC France

[*]

KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH

[*]

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)

[*]

Société Générale

[*]
Total:

748,685,000.00
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Schedule 2
Documents and evidence required as conditions precedent
(referred to in clause 6.1)
1

Corporate authorisation
In relation to each Obligor:
(a)

Constitutional documents
copies certified by an officer of that Obligor, as true, complete and up to date copies, of all documents which contain or
establish or relate to the constitution of that party or an officer's certificate confirming that there have been no changes or
amendments to the constitutional documents certified copies of which were previously delivered to the Facility Agent
pursuant to the Original Credit Agreement or any previous supplement to it;

(b)

Resolutions
a copy, certified by an officer of that Obligor to be a true copy, and as being in full force and effect and not amended or
rescinded, of resolutions of its board of directors or equivalent:
(i)

approving the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and

(ii)

authorising a person or persons to sign and deliver on behalf of that Obligor or, as the case may be, authorising the
sealing by that Obligor of this Agreement and any notices or other documents to be given pursuant hereto,

together with originals or certified copies of any powers of attorney issued by any Obligor pursuant to such resolutions; and
(c)

certificate of incumbency
a certificate signed by an officer of each Obligor certified to be true, complete and up to date of (i) the directors and officers
of that Obligor specifying the names and positions of such persons, (ii) its issued share capital and shareholders, (iii)
specimen signatures of those persons authorised to sign this Agreement on its behalf and (iv) a declaration of solvency.

2

Consents
A certificate signed by an officer of each Obligor confirming that all governmental and other licences, approvals, consents,
registrations and filings necessary for any matter or thing contemplated by this Agreement on behalf of that Obligor and for the
legality, validity, enforceability, admissibility in evidence and effectiveness thereof have been obtained or effected on an
unconditional basis and remain in full force and effect (or, in the case of the effecting of any registrations and filings, that
arrangements satisfactory to the Facility Agent have been made for the effecting of the same within any applicable time limit).
9

3

Process agent
An original or certified true copy of a letter from each Obligor’s agent for receipt of service of proceedings accepting its
appointment under this Agreement as each Obligor’s process agent.

4

Hermes consent
Confirmation from Hermes of their approval in principle that the Hermes Cover will be amended in respect of the Additional
Commitment.

5

Receipt of fee
Evidence that the fee payable under clause 8.1 has been paid in full.

6

Legal opinions
Legal opinions or confirmations as to the continued effect of any existing legal opinions in relation to the laws of England,
Bermuda, New York and Florida.

7

Construction Contract Addendum No.6 and Agreement of Modifications to the Construction Contract
A certified true copy of both the addendum no.6 to the Construction Contract and the list of agreement of modifications to the
Construction Contract as at 31 December 2018.
10

Schedule 3
Form of Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
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€748,685,000
CREDIT AGREEMENT
among
NCL CORPORATION LTD.,
as Parent,
SEAHAWK TWO, LTD.,
as Borrower,
VARIOUS LENDERS,
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH,
as Facility Agent, Collateral Agent and CIRR Agent,
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH,
as Bookrunner,
and
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH,
as Hermes Agent
__________________________________
Dated July 14, 2014 (as amended and restated on 22 December 2015)
and as further amended and restated on 15 August 2019
__________________________________
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH
as Initial Mandated Lead Arranger
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THIS CREDIT AGREEMENT, is made by way of deed July14, 2014 (as amended and restated on 22 December
2015) and as further amended and restated on 15 August 2019, among NCL CORPORATION LTD., a Bermuda company with its
registered office as of the date hereof at Park Place, 55 Par-la-Ville Road, Third Floor, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda (the “ Parent”),
SEAHAWK TWO, LTD., a Bermuda company with its registered office as of the date hereof at Park Place, 55 Par-la-Ville Road,
Third Floor, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda (the “ Borrower”), KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH, as a Lender (in such capacity, together with
each of the other Persons that may become a “Lender” in accordance with Section 13, each of them individually a “ Lender” and,
collectively, the “Lenders”), KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH, as Facility Agent (in such capacity, the “ Facility Agent”), as Collateral Agent
under the Security Documents (in such capacity, the “Collateral Agent ”) and as CIRR Agent (in such capacity, the “ CIRR Agent ”),
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH, as Bookrunner (in such capacity, the “Bookrunner”), KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH, as Hermes Agent (in
such capacity, the “Hermes Agent”), and KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH, as initial mandated lead arranger in respect of the credit facility
provided for herein (in such capacity the “Initial Mandated Lead Arranger ”). All capitalized terms used herein and defined in Section
1 are used herein as therein defined.
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Lenders make available to the Borrower a multi-draw term loan credit
facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to €748,685,000 and which Loans may be incurred to finance, (a) in part, the
construction and acquisition costs of the Vessel and (b) the related Hermes Premium, each in the proportions and at the times set out in
Section 2.02 below; and
WHEREAS, subject to and upon the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Lenders are willing to make available to
the Borrower the term loan facility provided for herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED:
SECTION 1. Definitions and Accounting Terms.Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall
have the following meanings (such meanings to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined) and
references to this Agreement or any other document (or to any specified provision of this Agreement or any other document) shall be
construed as references to this Agreement, that provision or that document as from time to time amended, restated, supplemented
and/or novated:
“Acceptable Bank” means (a) a bank or financial institution which has a rating for its long-term unsecured and non
credit-enhanced debt obligations of A- or higher by S&P or A2 or higher by Moody's or a comparable rating from an internationally
recognized credit rating agency; or (b) any other bank or financial institution approved by each Agent.
“Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction” shall mean the Bahamas, Bermuda, Panama, the Marshall Islands, the United States or
such other flag jurisdiction as may be acceptable to the Required Lenders in their reasonable discretion.
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“Acquisition” means any transaction or series of related transactions for the purpose of or resulting, directly or
indirectly, in (a) the acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of a Person, or of any business or division of a Person, (b) the
acquisition of in excess of fifty percent (50%) of the Capital Stock of any Person or otherwise causing any Person to become a
Subsidiary of a Borrower, or (c) a merger, amalgamation or consolidation or any other combination with another Person.
“Addendum No. 3” means addendum no. 3 to the Construction Contract dated 10 September 2015.
“Addendum No. 6” means addendum no.6 to the Construction Contract dated 26 September 2017.
“Additional Hermes Premium” means the aggregate of the First Additional Hermes Premium and the Second
Additional Hermes Premium.
“Adjusted Construction Price” shall mean the sum of the Initial Construction Price of the Vessel and the total
permitted increases to the Initial Construction Price of the Vessel pursuant to Permitted Change Orders (it being understood that the
Final Construction Price may exceed the Adjusted Construction Price).
“Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or
under direct or indirect common control with, such Person; provided, however, that for purposes of Section 10.05, an Affiliate of the
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, shall include any Person that directly or indirectly owns more than 10% of any class of
the Capital Stock of the Parent or such Subsidiary, as applicable, and any officer or director of the Parent or such Subsidiary. A Person
shall be deemed to control another Person if such Person possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of
the management and policies of such other Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or
otherwise. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained above, for purposes of Section 10.05, neither the Facility Agent, nor the
Collateral Agent, nor the Lead Arrangers nor any Lender (or any of their respective affiliates) shall be deemed to constitute an Affiliate
of the Parent or its Subsidiaries in connection with the Credit Documents or its dealings or arrangements relating thereto.
“Affiliate Transaction” shall have the meaning provided in Section 10.05.
“Agent” or “Agents” shall mean, individually and collectively, the Facility Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Delegate
Collateral Agent, the Hermes Agent and the CIRR Agent.
“Agreement” shall mean this Credit Agreement, as modified, supplemented, amended, restated or novated from time to
time.
“Apollo” shall mean Apollo Management, L.P., and its Affiliates.
“Appraised Value” of the Vessel at any time shall mean the fair market value or, as the case may be, the average of the
fair market value of the Vessel on an individual charter
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free basis as set forth on the appraisal or, as the case may be, the appraisals most recently delivered to, or obtained by, the Facility
Agent prior to such time pursuant to Section 9.01(c).
“Approved Appraisers” shall mean Brax Shipping AS; Barry Rogliano Salles S.A., Paris; Clarksons, London; R.S.
Platou Shipbrokers, A.S., Oslo; and Fearnsale, a division of Astrup Fearnley AS, Oslo.
“Approved Stock Exchange” shall mean the New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ or such other stock exchange in
the United States of America, the United Kingdom or Hong Kong as is approved in writing by the Facility Agent or, in each case, any
successor thereto.
“Assignment Agreement” shall mean an Assignment Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit L (appropriately
completed) or any other form agreed between the relevant assignor and assignee (and if required to be executed by the Borrower, the
Borrower).
“Assignment of Charters” shall have the meaning provided in the definition of “Collateral and Guaranty
Requirements”.
“Assignment of Contracts” shall have the meaning provided in Section 5.07.
“Assignment of Earnings and Insurances” shall have the meaning provided in the definition of “Collateral and
Guaranty Requirements”.
“Assignment of Management Agreements” shall have the meaning provided in the definition of “Collateral and
Guaranty Requirements”.
“Bankruptcy Code” shall have the meaning provided in Section 11.05(b).
“Basel II” shall mean the “International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards, a Revised
Framework” published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in June 2004 in the form existing on the date of this
Agreement.
“Basel III” shall mean (a) the agreements on capital requirements, a leverage ratio and liquidity standards contained in
"Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems", "Basel III: International framework for
liquidity risk measurement, standards and monitoring" and "Guidance for national authorities operating the countercyclical capital
buffer" published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in December 2010, each as amended, supplemented or restated; (b)
the rules for global systemically important banks contained in "Global systemically important banks: assessment methodology and the
additional loss absorbency requirement – Rules text" published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in November 2011, as
amended, supplemented or restated; and (c) any further guidance or standards published by the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision relating to "Basel III"."
“Bookrunner” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and shall include any
successor thereto.
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“Borrower” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and shall include any successor
thereto.
“Borrowing” shall mean the borrowing of Loans from all the Lenders (other than any Lender which has not funded its
share of a Borrowing in accordance with this Agreement) having Commitments on a given date.
“Borrowing Date” shall mean each date (including the Initial Borrowing Date) on which a Borrowing occurs as set
forth in Section 2.02.
“Business Day” shall mean any day except Saturday, Sunday and any day which shall be in New York, London or
Frankfurt am Main a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions are authorized or required by law or other government action
to close.
“Capital Stock” means:
(1)

in the case of a corporation, corporate stock or shares;

(2)
in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other
equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock;
(3)

in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or membership interests (whether general

or limited); and
(4)
any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses
of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.
“Cash Balance” shall mean, at any date of determination, the unencumbered and otherwise unrestricted cash and Cash
Equivalents of the NCLC Group.
“Cash Equivalents” shall mean (i) securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States or
any agency or instrumentality thereof (provided that the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in support thereof) having
maturities of not more than one year from the date of acquisition, (ii) time deposits and certificates of deposit of any commercial bank
having, or which is the principal banking subsidiary of a bank holding company having capital, surplus and undivided profits
aggregating in excess of $200,000,000, with maturities of not more than one year from the date of acquisition by any Person, (iii)
repurchase obligations with a term of not more than 90 days for underlying securities of the types described in clause (i) above entered
into with any bank meeting the qualifications specified in clause (ii) above, (iv) commercial paper issued by any Person incorporated in
the United States rated at least A-1 or the equivalent thereof by S&P or at least B‑1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s and in each
case maturing not more than one year after the date of acquisition by any other Person, and (v) investments in money market funds
substantially all of whose assets are comprised of securities of the types described in clauses (i) through (iv) above.
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“CERCLA” shall mean the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as the
same may be amended from time to time, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.
“Change of Control” shall mean:
(i)

any Third Party:
(A)

owns legally and/or beneficially and either directly or indirectly at least thirty three per cent (33%) of the
ordinary share capital of the Parent; or

(B)

has the right or the ability to control either directly or indirectly the affairs of or the composition of the
majority of the board of directors (or equivalent) of the Parent; and

at the same time as any of the events described in paragraphs (A) or (B) of this definition have occurred and are
continuing, the Permitted Holders in the aggregate do not, directly or indirectly, beneficially own at least 51% of
the issued Capital Stock of, and Equity Interest in, the Parent; or
(ii)
the Parent (or such parent company of the Parent) ceases to be a listed company on an Approved Stock
Exchange without the prior written consent of the Required Lenders,
(and, for the purpose of Section 11.16 “control” of any company, limited partnership or other legal entity (a “body corporate”)
controlled by a Permitted Holder means that one or more members of a Permitted Holder in the aggregate has, directly or indirectly, the
power to direct the management and policies of such a body corporate, whether through the ownership of more than 50% of the issued
voting capital of that body corporate or by contract, trust or other arrangement).
“Charge of KfW Refund Guarantees” shall have the meaning provided in Section 5.07.
“CIRR” means 3.12% per annum being the Commercial Interest Reference Rate determined in accordance with the
OECD Arrangement for Officially Supported Export Credits to be applicable to the Loan hereunder (and includes the CIRR
administrative margin of 0.20% per annum).
“CIRR Agent ” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and shall include any
successor thereto.
“CIRR General Terms and Conditions ” shall mean the CIRR General Terms and Conditions for interest rate make-up
in ship financing schemes (August 29, 2012 edition).
“CIRR Representative” shall mean KfW, acting in its capacity as CIRR mandatary in connection with this Agreement.
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“Claims” shall have the meaning provided in the definition of “Environmental Claims”.
“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Collateral” shall mean all property (whether real or personal) with respect to which any security interests have been
granted (or purported to be granted) pursuant to any Security Document, including, without limitation, all Share Charge Collateral, all
Earnings and Insurance Collateral, the Construction Risk Insurance, the Vessel, each Refund Guarantee, the Construction Contract and
all cash and Cash Equivalents at any time delivered as collateral thereunder or as collateral required hereunder.
“Collateral Agent ” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and shall include any
successor thereto, acting as mortgagee, security trustee or collateral agent for the Secured Creditors pursuant to the Security
Documents.
“Collateral and Guaranty Requirements” shall mean with respect to the Vessel, the requirement that:
(i)
(A) the Borrower shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered an Assignment of Earnings and Insurances
substantially in the form of Exhibit G or otherwise reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers (as modified, supplemented or
amended from time to time, the “Assignment of Earnings and Insurances”) (to the extent incorporated into or required by such Exhibit
or otherwise agreed by the Borrower and the Lead Arrangers) with appropriate notices, acknowledgements and consents relating
thereto and (B) the Borrower shall (x) use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, and enter into on or before delivery of the
Vessel under the relevant charter referred to below, an Assignment of Charters substantially in the form of Exhibit H (as modified,
supplemented or amended from time to time, the “Assignment of Charters”) with (to the extent incorporated into or required by such
Exhibit or otherwise agreed by the Borrower and the Lead Arrangers) appropriate notices, acknowledgements and consents relating
thereto for any charter or similar contract that has as of the execution date of such charter or similar contract a remaining term of 13
months or greater (including any renewal option) and (y) have obtained a subordination agreement from the charterer for any Permitted
Chartering Arrangement that the Borrower has entered into with respect to the Vessel, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
provide appropriate notices and consents related thereto, together covering all of the Borrower’s present and future Earnings and
Insurance Collateral, in each case together with:
(a)
proper financing statements (Form UCC-1 or the equivalent) fully prepared for filing in accordance with
the UCC or in other appropriate filing offices of each jurisdiction as may be necessary or, in the reasonable opinion of
the Collateral Agent, desirable to perfect or give notice to third parties of, as the case may be, the security interests
purported to be created by the Assignment of Earnings and Insurances; and
(b)
certified copies of lien search results (Form UCC-11) listing all effective financing statements that name
each Credit Party as debtor and that are
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filed in the District of Columbia and Florida, together with Form UCC-3 Termination Statements (or such other
termination statements as shall be required by local law) fully prepared for filing if required by applicable law to
terminate for any financing statement which covers the Collateral except to the extent evidencing Permitted Liens;
(ii)
the Borrower shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered an Assignment of Management Agreements in
respect of the Management Agreements for the Vessel substantially in the form of Exhibit O or otherwise reasonably acceptable to the
Lead Arrangers (as modified, supplemented or amended from time to time, the “Assignment of Management Agreements”) and shall
have obtained (or in the case of any Manager that is not a Subsidiary of the Parent, used commercially reasonable efforts to obtain) a
Manager’s Undertakings for the Vessel;
(iii)
the Borrower shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered, and caused to be registered in the appropriate
vessel registry a first priority mortgage and a deed of covenants (as modified, amended or supplemented from time to time in
accordance with the terms thereof and hereof, and together with the Vessel Mortgage delivered pursuant to the definition of Flag
Jurisdiction Transfer, the “ Vessel Mortgage ”), substantially in the form of Exhibit I or otherwise reasonably acceptable to the Lead
Arrangers with respect to the Vessel, and the Vessel Mortgage shall be effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent a legal, valid
and enforceable first priority security interest, in and Lien upon the Vessel, subject only to Permitted Liens;
(iv)
all filings, deliveries of notices and other instruments and other actions by the Credit Parties and/or the
Collateral Agent necessary or desirable in the reasonable opinion of the Collateral Agent to perfect and preserve the security interests
described in clauses (i) through and including (iii) above shall have been duly effected and the Collateral Agent shall have received
evidence thereof in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; and
(v)

the Facility Agent shall have received each of the following:

(a)
certificates of ownership from appropriate authorities showing (or confirmation updating previously
reviewed certificates and indicating) the registered ownership of the Vessel by the Borrower; and
(b)
the results of maritime registry searches with respect to the Vessel, indicating that the Vessel has been
deleted from all new building registers and that there are no record liens other than Liens in favor of the Collateral
Agent and/or the Lenders and Permitted Liens; and
(c)
class certificates reasonably satisfactory to it from DNV GL or another classification society listed on
Schedule 8.21 hereto (or another internationally recognized classification society reasonably acceptable to the Facility
Agent), indicating that the Vessel meets the criteria specified in Section 8.21; and
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(d)

certified copies of all Management Agreements; and

(e)

certified copies of all ISM and ISPS Code documentation for the Vessel; and

(f)
the Facility Agent shall have received a report, in substantially the form of Exhibit B-1 or otherwise
reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent, from BankAssure or another firm of independent marine insurance brokers
reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent with respect to the insurance maintained (or to be maintained) by the Credit
Parties in respect of the Vessel, together with a certificate in substantially the form of Exhibit B-2 or otherwise
reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent, from another broker certifying that such insurances (i) are placed with such
insurance companies and/or underwriters and/or clubs, in such amounts, against such risks, and in such form, as are
customarily insured against by similarly situated insureds and (ii) include the Required Insurance. In addition, the
Borrower shall reimburse the Facility Agent for the reasonable and documented costs of procuring customary mortgagee
interest insurance and additional perils insurance in connection with the Vessel as contemplated by Section 9.03
(including Schedule 9.03).
“Collateral Disposition” shall mean (i) the sale, lease, transfer or other disposition of the Vessel by the Borrower to
any Person (it being understood that a Permitted Chartering Arrangement is not a Collateral Disposition) or the sale of 100% of the
Capital Stock of the Borrower or (ii) any Event of Loss of the Vessel.
“Commitment” shall mean, for each Lender, the amount denominated in Euro set forth opposite such Lender’s name in
Schedule 1.01(a) hereto as the same may be (x) reduced from time to time pursuant to Sections 3.04, 3.05, 4.01, 4.02 and/or 11 or
(y) adjusted from time to time as a result of assignments and/or transfers to or from such Lender pursuant to Section 2.12, Section 13 or
clause 3 of the Second Supplemental Agreement.
“Commitment Termination Date” shall mean the date falling [*] after the last scheduled Delivery Date as at the date of
this Agreement, namely [*].
“Commitment Commission” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01.
“Consolidated Debt Service” shall mean, for any relevant period, the sum (without double counting), determined in
accordance with GAAP, of:
(i)

the aggregate principal payable or paid during such period on any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of any
member of the NCLC Group, other than:
(a)

principal of any such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money prepaid at the option of the relevant member of
the NCLC Group or by virtue of “cash sweep” or “special liquidity” cash sweep provisions (or analogous
provisions) in any debt facility of the NCLC Group;
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(b)

principal of any such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money prepaid upon a sale or an Event of Loss of any
vessel (as if references in that definition were to all vessels and not just the Vessel) owned or leased
under a capital lease by any member of the NCLC Group; and

(c)

balloon payments of any such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money payable during such period (and for the
purpose of this paragraph (c) a “balloon payment” shall not include any scheduled repayment installment
of such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money which forms part of the balloon);

(ii)

Consolidated Interest Expense for such period;

(iii)

the aggregate amount of any dividend or distribution of present or future assets, undertakings, rights or revenues
to any shareholder of any member of the NCLC Group (other than the Parent, or one of its wholly owned
Subsidiaries) or any Dividends other than tax distributions (including, without limitation, tax distributions of the
type referred to in Section 10.03) in each case paid during such period; and

(iv)

all rent under any capital lease obligations by which the Parent, or any consolidated Subsidiary is bound which
are payable or paid during such period and the portion of any debt discount that must be amortized in such
period,

as calculated in accordance with GAAP and derived from the then latest consolidated unaudited financial statements of the NCLC
Group delivered to the Facility Agent in the case of any period ending at the end of any of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal
year of the Parent and the then latest audited consolidated financial statements (including all additional information and notes thereto)
of the Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries together with the auditors’ report delivered to the Facility Agent in the case of the final
quarter of each such fiscal year.
“Consolidated EBITDA” shall mean, for any relevant period, the aggregate of:
(i)

Consolidated Net Income from the Parent’s operations for such period; and

(ii)
the aggregate amounts deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income for such period in respect of gains and
losses from the sale of assets or reserves relating thereto, Consolidated Interest Expense, depreciation and amortization,
impairment charges and any other non-cash charges and deferred income tax expense for such period.
“Consolidated Interest Expense” shall mean, for any relevant period, the consolidated interest expense (excluding
capitalized interest) of the NCLC Group for such period.
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“Consolidated Net Income” shall mean, for any relevant period, the consolidated net income (or loss) of the NCLC
Group for such period as determined in accordance with GAAP.
“Construction Contract” shall mean the Shipbuilding Contract (in relation to Hull No. [*]) for the Vessel, originally
dated June 14, 2013 and as subsequently novated, amended and restated on July 8, 2014, among the Yard in that capacity, the
Borrower, as buyer of the Vessel and the Parent as guarantor of the Borrower, as such Shipbuilding Contract may be amended,
modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and hereof including, without limitation, pursuant to
Addendum No. 3 and Addendum No. 6.
“Construction Risk Insurance” shall mean any and all insurance policies related to the Construction Contract and the
construction of the Vessel.
“Credit Documents” shall mean this Agreement, the Supplemental Agreements, any Fee Letters, each Security
Document, the Security Trust Deed, any Transfer Certificate, any Assignment Agreement, the Interaction Agreement and, after the
execution and delivery thereof, each additional guaranty or additional security document executed pursuant to Section 9.10.
“Credit Document Obligations” shall mean, except to the extent consisting of obligations, liabilities or indebtedness
with respect to Interest Rate Protection Agreements or Other Hedging Agreements, the full and prompt payment when due (whether at
the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of all obligations, liabilities and indebtedness (including, without limitation,
principal, premium, interest, fees and indemnities (including, without limitation, all interest that accrues after the commencement of
any case, proceeding or other action relating to the bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar proceeding of any Credit Party at
the rate provided for in the respective documentation, whether or not a claim for post-petition interest is allowed in any such
proceeding)) of each Credit Party to the Lender Creditors (provided, in respect of the Lender Creditors which are Lenders, such
aforementioned obligations, liabilities and indebtedness shall arise only for such Lenders (in such capacity) in respect of Loans and/or
Commitments), whether now existing or hereafter incurred under, arising out of, or in connection with this Agreement and the other
Credit Documents to which such Credit Party is a party (including, in the case of each Credit Party that is a Guarantor, all such
obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of such Credit Party under the Parent Guaranty) and the due performance and compliance by
such Credit Party with all of the terms, conditions and agreements contained in this Agreement and in such other Credit Documents.
“Credit Party” shall mean the Borrower, the Parent and each Subsidiary of the Parent that owns a direct interest in the
Borrower.
“Default” shall mean any event, act or condition which with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event
of Default.
“Defaulting Lender” shall mean any Lender with respect to which a Lender Default is in effect.
“Delegate Collateral Agent ” shall mean KFW IPEX Bank GmbH or such other person as the Collateral Agent shall
notify to the other parties hereto as the person who has been
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appointed as a delegate collateral agent, acting in its capacity as trustee for the Secured Creditors with respect to the Trust Property
Delegated (as defined in the Security Trust Deed) pursuant to the Security Trust Deed.
“Delivery Date” shall mean the date of delivery of the Vessel to the Borrower, which, as of the Effective Date, is
scheduled to occur on [*].
“Discharged Rights and Obligations” shall have the meaning provided in Section 13.06(c)(i).
“Dispute” shall have the meaning provided in Section 14.07(b).
“Disqualified Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock of such Person which, by its terms (or by
the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is redeemable or exchangeable), or upon the happening of any
event:
(1) matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise (other than as a result of a
change of control or asset sale),
(2) is convertible or exchangeable for Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock of such Person, or
(3) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part (other than solely as a result of a change of
control or asset sale), in each case prior to 91 days after the Maturity Date; provided, however, that only the portion of Capital
Stock which so matures or is mandatorily redeemable, is so convertible or exchangeable or is so redeemable at the option of the
holder thereof prior to such date shall be deemed to be Disqualified Stock; provided, however, that if such Capital Stock is
issued to any employee or to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Parent or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such
employees, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by the
Parent in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations or as a result of such employee’s termination, death or
disability; provided, further, that any class of Capital Stock of such Person that by its terms authorizes such Person to satisfy its
obligations thereunder by delivery of Capital Stock that is not Disqualified Stock shall not be deemed to be Disqualified Stock.
“Disruption Event” means either or both of:
(a)
a material disruption to those payment or communications systems or to those financial markets which are, in
each case, required to operate in order for payments to be made in connection with this Agreement (or otherwise in order for the
transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents to be carried out) which disruption is not caused by, and is beyond the
control of, any of the parties to this Agreement; or
(b)
the occurrence of any other event which results in a disruption (of a technical or systems-related nature) to the
treasury or payments operations of a party to this Agreement preventing such party, or any other party to this Agreement:
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(i)
(ii)
Documents,

from performing its payment obligations under the Credit Documents; or
from communicating with other parties to this Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Credit

and which (in either such case) is not caused by, and is beyond the control of, the party to this Agreement whose
operations are disrupted.
“Dividend” shall mean, with respect to any Person, that such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person has declared or
paid a dividend or returned any equity capital to its stockholders, partners or members or the holders of options or warrants issued by
such Person with respect to its Capital Stock or membership interests or authorized or made any other distribution, payment or delivery
of property (other than common stock or the right to purchase any of such stock of such Person) or cash to its stockholders, partners or
members or the holders of options or warrants issued by such Person with respect to its Capital Stock or membership interests as such,
or redeemed, retired, purchased or otherwise acquired, directly or indirectly, for a consideration any shares of any class of its Capital
Stock or any other Capital Stock outstanding on or after the Effective Date (or any options or warrants issued by such Person with
respect to its Capital Stock or other Equity Interests), or set aside any funds for any of the foregoing purposes, or shall have permitted
any of its Subsidiaries to purchase or otherwise acquire for a consideration any shares of any class of the Capital Stock or any other
Equity Interests of such Person outstanding on or after the Effective Date (or any options or warrants issued by such Person with
respect to its Capital Stock or other Equity Interests). Without limiting the foregoing, “Dividends” with respect to any Person shall
also include all payments made or required to be made by such Person with respect to any stock appreciation rights, plans, equity
incentive or achievement plans or any similar plans or setting aside of any funds for the foregoing purposes.
“Dollars” and the sign “ $” shall each mean lawful money of the United States.
“Dollar Equivalent” shall mean:
(a)
with respect to the Euro denominated Commitments being utilized on a Borrowing Date and which are in respect
of the Euro amounts payable in respect of the Adjusted Construction Price, the amount calculated by applying (x) in the event
that the Borrower and/or the Parent have entered into Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements with respect to the installment
payment to be partially financed by the Loans to be disbursed on such Borrowing Date, the EUR/USD weighted average rate
with respect to such Borrowing Date (i) as notified by the Borrower to the Facility Agent in the Notice of Borrowing at least
three Business Days prior to the relevant Borrowing Date, (ii) which EUR/USD weighted average rate for any particular set of
Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements shall take account of all applicable foreign exchange spot, forward and derivative
arrangements, including collars, options and the like, entered into in respect of such Borrowing Date and (iii) for which the
Borrower has provided evidence to the Facility Agent to determine which foreign exchange arrangements (including spot
transactions) will be the Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements that
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shall apply to such Borrowing Date and (y) in the event that the Borrower and/or the Parent have not entered into Earmarked
Foreign Exchange Arrangements with respect to the installment payment to be partially or wholly funded by the Loans to be
disbursed on such Borrowing Date or the Borrower has not provided the evidence referred to in (iii) above, the Spot Rate
applicable to such Borrowing Date.
(b)
with respect to the calculation and payment of the Hermes Issuing Fee and the Hermes Premium in Dollars, the
amount thereof in Euro converted to a corresponding Dollar amount as determined by Hermes on the basis of the latest rate for
the purchase of Euro with Dollars to be published by the German Federal Ministry of Finance prior to the time that Hermes
issues its invoice for the Hermes Issuing Fee and the Hermes Premium respectively and as notified by the Facility Agent in
writing to the Borrower as soon as practicable after Hermes issues its invoice for the Hermes Issuing Fee and the Hermes
Premium.
“Dormant Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary that owns assets in an amount equal to no more than $5,000,000 or is
dormant or otherwise inactive.
“Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements” shall mean the Euro/Dollar foreign exchange arranged by the Borrower
and/or the Parent in connection with an installment payment to be partially financed by the Loans to be disbursed on the date on which
such installment payment is to be made.
“Earnings and Insurance Collateral” shall mean all “Earnings” and “Insurances”, as the case may be, as defined in the
Assignment of Earnings and Insurances.
“Effective Date” has the meaning specified in Section 14.09.
“Eligible Transferee” shall mean and include a commercial bank, insurance company, financial institution, fund or
other Person which regularly purchases interests in loans or extensions of credit of the types made pursuant to this Agreement.
“Environmental Approvals” shall have the meaning provided in Section 8.17(b).
“Environmental Claims” shall mean any and all administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits, demands, demand
letters, directives, claims, liens, notices of noncompliance or violation, relating in any way to any Environmental Law or any permit
issued, or any approval given, under any such Environmental Law (hereafter, “Claims”), including, without limitation, (a) any and all
Claims by governmental or regulatory authorities for enforcement, cleanup, removal, response, remedial or other actions or damages
pursuant to any applicable Environmental Law, and (b) any and all Claims by any third party seeking damages, contribution,
indemnification, cost recovery, compensation or injunctive relief in connection with alleged injury or threat of injury to health, safety
or the environment due to the presence of Hazardous Materials.
“Environmental Law” shall mean any applicable Federal, state, foreign or local statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance,
code, binding and enforceable guideline, binding and enforceable written policy and rule of common law now or hereafter in effect and
in each case as
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amended, and any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including any judicial or administrative order, consent decree or
judgment, to the extent binding on the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, relating to the environment, and/or Hazardous Materials,
including, without limitation, CERCLA; OPA; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.; the Hazardous
Material Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. § 1801 et seq.; the Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. § 651 et seq. (to the extent it
regulates occupational exposure to Hazardous Materials); and any state and local or foreign counterparts or equivalents, in each case as
amended from time to time.
“Environmental Release” shall mean any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging,
injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, disposing or migration into the environment.
“Equity Interests” means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock (but excluding
any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock).
“Euro” and the sign “ €” shall each mean single currency in the member states of the European Communities that adopt
or have adopted the Euro as its lawful currency under the legislation of the European Union for European Monetary Union.
“Eurodollar Rate” shall mean with respect to each Interest Period for a Loan, the offered rate for deposits of Dollars
for a period equivalent to such period at or about 11:00 A.M. (Frankfurt time) on the second Business Day before the first day of such
period as is displayed on Reuters LIBOR 01 Page (or such other service as may be nominated by ICE Benchmark Administration
Limited (or any other person which takes on the administration of that rate) as the information vendor for displaying the London
Interbank Offered Rates of major banks in the London Interbank Market) (the “Screen Rate”), provided that if on such date no such
rate is so displayed, the Eurodollar Rate for such period shall be the arithmetic average (rounded up to five decimal places) of the rate
quoted to the Facility Agent by the Reference Banks for deposits of Dollars in an amount approximately equal to the amount in relation
to which the Eurodollar Rate is to be determined for a period equivalent to such applicable Interest Period by the prime banks in the
London interbank Eurodollar market at or about 11:00 A.M. (Frankfurt time) on the second Business Day before the first day of such
period (rounded up to five decimal places).
“Event of Default” shall have the meaning provided in Section 11.
“Event of Loss” shall mean any of the following events: (x) the actual or constructive total loss of the Vessel or the
agreed or compromised total loss of the Vessel; or (y) the capture, condemnation, confiscation, requisition (but excluding any
requisition for hire by or on behalf of any government or governmental authority or agency or by any persons acting or purporting to
act on behalf of any such government or governmental authority or agency), purchase, seizure or forfeiture of, or any taking of title to,
the Vessel. An Event of Loss shall be deemed to have occurred: (i) in the event of an actual loss of the Vessel, at the time and on the
date of such loss or if such time and date are not known at noon Greenwich Mean Time on the date which the Vessel was last heard
from; (ii) in the event of damage which results in a constructive or compromised or arranged total loss of the Vessel, at the time and on
the date on
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which notice claiming the loss of the Vessel is given to the insurers; or (iii) in the case of an event referred to in clause (y) above, at the
time and on the date on which such event is expressed to take effect by the Person making the same. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if
the Vessel shall have been returned to the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower following any event referred to in clause (y)
above prior to the date upon which payment is required to be made under Section 4.02(b) hereof, no Event of Loss shall be deemed to
have occurred by reason of such event so long as the requirements set forth in Section 9.10 have been satisfied.
“Excluded Taxes” shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.04(a).
“Existing Lender” shall have the meaning provided in Section 13.01(a).
“Facility Agent ” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and shall include any
successor thereto.
“Facility Office” means (a) in respect of a Lender, the office or offices notified by that Lender to the Facility Agent in
writing on or before the date it becomes a Lender (or, following that date, by not less than five Business Days’ written notice) as the
office or offices through which it will perform its obligations under this Agreement; or (b) in respect of any other Lender Creditor, the
office in the jurisdiction in which it is resident for tax purposes.
“FATCA” means:
(i)

sections 1471 to 1474 of the Code or any associated regulations;

(ii)
any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an intergovernmental agreement between the
U.S. and any other jurisdiction, which (in either case) facilitates the implementation of any law or regulation referred to in
paragraph (i) above; or
(iii)
any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any treaty, law or regulation referred to in paragraphs (i) or (ii)
above with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. government or any governmental or taxation authority in any other
jurisdiction.
“FATCA Application Date” means:
(i)
in relation to a “withholdable payment” described in section 1473(1)(A)(i)
of the Code (which relates to
payments of interest and certain other payments from
sources within the U.S.), 1 July 2014; or
(ii)
in relation to a “passthru payment” described in section 1471(d)(7) of the Code not falling within paragraph (i)
above, the first date from which such payment may become subject to a deduction or withholding required by FATCA.
“FATCA Deduction ” means a deduction or withholding from a payment under a Credit Document required by
FATCA.
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“FATCA Exempt Party ” means a party to this Agreement that is entitled to receive payments free from any FATCA
Deduction.
“FATCA FFI” means a foreign financial institution as defined in Section 1471(d)(4) of the Code which, if any Lender
is not a FATCA Exempt Party, could be required to make a FATCA Deduction.
“Fee Letter” means any letter or letters entered into by reference to this Agreement between any or all of the Facility
Agent, the Initial Mandated Lead Arranger and/or the Lenders and (in any case) the Borrower setting out the amount of certain fees
referred to in, or payable in connection with, this Agreement.
“Final Construction Price” shall mean the actual final construction price of the Vessel.
“First Additional Hermes Premium” means the additional premium payable to Hermes as a result of the increase to the
Hermes Cover arising as a consequence of the increase in the Total Commitments pursuant to the First Supplemental Agreement.
“First Hermes Installment” shall have the meaning provided in Section 2.02(a)(ii).
“First Restatement Date” shall mean the “Restatement Date” as defined in the First Supplemental Agreement.
“First Supplemental Agreement” means the supplemental agreement amending this Agreement dated 22 December
2015 and made between the parties hereto and NCL International, Ltd.
“Fixed Interest Payment Date” shall mean (i) prior to the Delivery Date, each sixth month anniversary of the Initial
Borrowing Date, (ii) the Delivery Date and (iii) after the Delivery Date, each semi-annual date on which a Scheduled Repayment is
required to be made pursuant to Section 4.02(a) (or, if any of the above dates does not fall on a Business Day, the Fixed Interest
Payment Date shall fall on the first Business Day falling after such date).
“Fixed Rate” shall mean the percentage rate per annum equal to the aggregate of (a) the Fixed Rate Margin and (b) the
CIRR.
“Fixed Rate Interest Period” shall mean the period commencing on the Initial Borrowing Date and ending on the
immediately succeeding Fixed Interest Payment Date and thereafter each period commencing on a Fixed Interest Payment Date and
ending on the immediately succeeding Fixed Interest Payment Date.
“Fixed Rate Margin” means a percentage rate per annum equal to 0.80% per annum.
“Flag Jurisdiction Transfer” shall mean the transfer of the registration and flag of the Vessel from one Acceptable Flag
Jurisdiction to another Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, provided that the following conditions are satisfied with respect to such transfer:
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(i)
On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, the Borrower shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered, and
caused to be recorded in the appropriate vessel registry a Vessel Mortgage that is reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the
Facility Agent with respect to the Vessel and such Vessel Mortgage shall be effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent and/or
the Lenders a legal, valid and enforceable first priority security interest, in and lien upon the Vessel, subject only to Permitted
Liens. All filings, deliveries of instruments and other actions necessary or desirable in the reasonable opinion of the Collateral Agent
to perfect and preserve such security interests shall have been duly effected and the Collateral Agent shall have received evidence
thereof in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent.
(ii)
On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, to the extent that any Security Documents are released or discharged
pursuant to Section 14.21(b), the Borrower shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered corresponding Security
Documents in favor of the Collateral Agent for the new Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction.
(iii)
On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from counsel, an opinion
addressed to the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, which shall (x) be in
form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent and (y) cover the recordation of the security interests granted
pursuant to the Vessel Mortgage to be delivered on such date and such other matters incident thereto as the Facility Agent may
reasonably request.
(iv)

On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date:

(A)
The Facility Agent shall have received (x) certificates of ownership from appropriate authorities
showing (or confirmation updating previously reviewed certificates and indicating) the registered ownership of the
Vessel transferred on such date by the Borrower and (y) the results of maritime registry searches with respect to the
Vessel transferred on such date, indicating no recorded liens other than Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent and/or the
Lenders and, if applicable and to the extent recordable, Permitted Liens.
(B)
The Facility Agent shall have received a report, in form and scope reasonably satisfactory to the Facility
Agent, from a firm of independent marine insurance brokers reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent with respect to
the insurance maintained by the Credit Party in respect of the Vessel transferred on such date, together with a certificate
from another broker certifying that such insurances (i) are placed with such insurance companies and/or underwriters
and/or clubs, in such amounts, against such risks, and in such form, as are customarily insured against by similarly
situated insureds for the protection of the Facility Agent and/or the Lenders as mortgagee and (ii) conform with the
Required Insurance applicable to the Vessel.
(v)
On or prior to each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, the Facility Agent shall have received a certificate, dated the
Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, signed by any one of the chairman of the board, the president, any vice president, the treasurer
or an
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authorized manager, member, general partner, officer or attorney-in-fact of the Borrower, certifying that (A) all necessary
governmental (domestic and foreign) and third party approvals and/or consents in connection with the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer
being consummated on such date and otherwise referred to herein shall have been obtained and remain in effect or that no such
approvals and/or consents are required, (B) there exists no judgment, order, injunction or other restraint prohibiting or imposing
materially adverse conditions upon such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer or the other related transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and (C) copies of resolutions approving the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer of the Borrower and any other related matters
the Facility Agent may reasonably request.
(vi)
On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, the Collateral and Guaranty Requirements for the Vessel shall have
been satisfied or waived by the Facility Agent for a specific period of time.
“Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date” shall mean the date on which a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer occurs.
“Floating Rate” shall mean the percentage rate per annum equal to the aggregate of (a) the Floating Rate Margin plus
(b) the Eurodollar Rate plus (c) any Mandatory Costs.
“Floating Rate Interest Period” shall have the meaning provided in Section 2.08.
“Floating Rate Margin” shall mean a percentage per annum equal to 1.00%.
“Free Liquidity” shall mean, at any date of determination, the aggregate of the Cash Balance and any Commitments
under this Agreement or any other amounts available for drawing under other revolving or other credit facilities of the NCLC Group,
which remain undrawn, could be drawn for general working capital purposes or other general corporate purposes and would not, if
drawn, be repayable within six months.
“GAAP” shall have the meaning provided in Section 14.06(a).
“Grace Period” shall have the meaning provided in Section 11.05(c).
“Guarantor” shall mean Parent.
“Hazardous Materials” shall mean: (a) any petroleum or petroleum products, radioactive materials, asbestos in any
form that is or could become friable, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, transformers or other equipment that contain dielectric fluid
containing levels of polychlorinated biphenyls, and radon gas; (b) any chemicals, materials or substances defined as or included in the
definition of “hazardous substances,” “hazardous waste,” “hazardous materials,” “extremely hazardous substances,” “restricted
hazardous waste,” “toxic substances,” “toxic pollutants,” “contaminants,” or “pollutants,” or words of similar import, under any
applicable Environmental Law; and (c) any other chemical, material or substance, exposure to which is prohibited, limited or regulated
by any governmental authority under Environmental Laws.
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“Heads of Terms” shall have the meaning provided in Section 14.09.
“Hermes” shall mean Euler Hermes Aktiengesellschaft, Gasstraβe 27, 22761 Hamburg acting in its capacity as
representative of the Federal Republic of Germany in connection with the issuance of export credit guarantees.
“Hermes Agent ” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and shall include any
successor thereto, acting as attorney-in-fact for the Lenders with respect to the Hermes Cover to the extent described in this Agreement.
“Hermes Cover” shall mean the export credit guarantee (Exportkreditgarantie) on the terms of Hermes’ Declaration of
Guarantee (Gewährleistungs-Erklärung) for 95% of the principal amount of the Loans and any interests and secondary financing costs
of the Federal Republic of Germany acting through Euler Hermes Aktiengesellschaft for the period of the Loans on the terms and
conditions applied for by the Lenders, and shall include any successor thereto (it being understood that the Hermes Cover shall be
issued on the basis of Hermes’ applicable Hermes guidelines (Richtlinien) and general terms and conditions (Allgemeine
Bedingungen)).
“Hermes Issuing Fees” shall mean the Dollar Equivalent of the amount of €[*] payable in Dollars by the Borrower to
Hermes through the Hermes Agent by way of handling fees in respect of the Hermes Cover.
“Hermes Premium” shall mean the Dollar Equivalent of the Euro amount payable by the Borrower to Hermes through
the Hermes Agent in respect of the Hermes Cover, which shall not exceed the Dollar Equivalent of €[*], and which shall include the
Additional Hermes Premium.
“Impaired Agent” shall mean an Agent at any time when:
(i) it has failed to make (or has notified a party to this Agreement that it will not make) a payment required to be made
by it under the Credit Documents by the due date for payment;
(ii) such Agent otherwise rescinds or repudiates a Credit Document;
(iii) (if such Agent is also a Lender) it is a Defaulting Lender; or
(iv) an Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing with respect to such Agent
unless, in the case of paragraph (i) above: (a) its failure to pay is caused by administrative or technical error or a
Disruption Event, and payment is made within five Business Days of its due date; or (b) such Agent is disputing in good faith whether
it is contractually obliged to make the payment in question.
“Indebtedness” shall mean any obligation for the payment or repayment of money, whether as principal or as surety
and whether present or future, actual or contingent
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including, without limitation, pursuant to an Interest Rate Protection Agreement or Other Hedging Agreement.
“Indebtedness for Borrowed Money” shall mean Indebtedness (whether present or future, actual or contingent, longterm or short-term, secured or unsecured) in respect of:
(i)

moneys borrowed or raised;

(ii)

the advance or extension of credit (including interest and other charges on or in respect of any of the foregoing);

(iii)

the amount of any liability in respect of leases which, in accordance with GAAP, are capital leases;

(iv)

the amount of any liability in respect of the purchase price for assets or services payment of which is deferred for
a period in excess of 180 days;

(v)

all reimbursement obligations whether contingent or not in respect of amounts paid under a letter of credit or
similar instrument; and

(vi)

(without double counting) any guarantee of Indebtedness falling within paragraphs (i) to (v) above;

provided that the following shall not constitute Indebtedness for Borrowed Money:
(a)

loans and advances made by other members of the NCLC Group which are subordinated to the rights of the
Lenders;

(b)

loans and advances made by any shareholder of the Parent which are subordinated to the rights of the Lenders on
terms reasonably satisfactory to the Facility Agent; and

(c)

any liabilities of the Parent or any other member of the NCLC Group under any Interest Rate Protection
Agreement or any Other Hedging Agreement or other derivative transactions of a non-speculative nature.

“Information” shall have the meaning provided in Section 8.10(a).
“Initial Borrowing Date” shall mean the date occurring on or after the Effective Date on which the initial Borrowing of
Loans hereunder occurs, which date shall, subject to Section 5, coincide with the date of payment of the first installment of the Initial
Construction Price for the Vessel under the Construction Contract.
“Initial Construction Price” shall mean an amount of up to €801,220,000 for the construction of the Vessel pursuant to
the Construction Contract, payable by the Borrower to the Yard through the four installments of the Contract Price referred to in Article
8, Clauses 2.1(i) through and including (iv) of the Construction Contract (each, a “Pre-delivery Installment”) and the installment of the
Contract Price referred to in Article 8, Clause 2.1(v) of the
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Construction Contract (as such amount may be modified in accordance with the Construction Contract).
“Initial Mandated Lead Arranger ” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and shall
include any successor thereto.
“Initial Syndication Date” shall mean the date, if applicable, on which KfW IPEX Bank GmbH ceases to be the only
Lender by transferring all or part of its rights as a Lender under this Agreement to one or more banks or financial institutions pursuant
to Section 13.
“Insolvency Event” in relation to any of the parties to this Agreement shall mean that such party:
(i)

is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger);

(ii)

becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing its inability generally to pay its debts
as they become due;

(iii)

makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors;

(iv)

institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency,
rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization or the
jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other
relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is
presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official;

(v)

has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any
bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its
winding-up or liquidation, and, in the case of any such proceeding or petition instituted or presented against it,
such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in paragraph (iv) above
and (a) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an
order for its winding-up or liquidation; or (b) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within
30 days of the institution or presentation thereof;

(vi)

has exercised in respect of it one or more of the stabilization powers pursuant to Part 1 of the Banking Act 2009
and/or has instituted against it a bank insolvency proceeding pursuant to Part 2 of the Banking
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Act 2009 or a bank administration proceeding pursuant to Part 3 of the Banking Act 2009;
(vii)

has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or liquidation (other than pursuant to a
consolidation, amalgamation or merger);

(viii)

seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver,
trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets;

(ix)

has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, an execution, attachment,
sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and
such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained,
in each case within 30 days thereafter;

(x)

causes or is subject to any event with respect to which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an
analogous effect to any of the events specified in paragraphs (i) to (ix) above; or

(xi)

takes any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the
foregoing acts.

“Interaction Agreement” shall mean the interaction agreement executed or to be executed by, inter alia (i) each Lender
that elects to become a Refinanced Bank, (ii) the CIRR Representative, and (iii) the CIRR Agent substantially in the form of Exhibit C.
“Interest Determination Date” shall mean, with respect to any Loan, the second Business Day prior to the
commencement of any Interest Period relating to such Loan.
“Interest Period” shall mean either the Fixed Rate Interest Period or, as the context may require, the Floating Rate
Interest Period.
“Interest Rate Protection Agreement” shall mean any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest
collar agreement, interest rate hedging agreement, interest rate floor agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement entered into
between a Lender or its Affiliate, or a Lead Arranger or its Affiliate, and the Parent and/or the Borrower in relation to the Credit
Document Obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement.
“Interest Make-Up Agreement ” shall mean an interest make-up agreement entered into between the CIRR
Representative and any Lender pursuant to Section 1.2.4 of the CIRR General Terms and Conditions.
“Investments” shall have the meaning provided in Section 10.04.
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“KfW” shall mean KfW in its capacity as refinancing bank with respect to the KfW Refinancing.
“KfW Refinancing” shall mean the refinancing of the respective loans of the Refinanced Banks hereunder with KfW
pursuant to Sections 1.2.1, 1.2.2 and 1.2.3 of the CIRR General Terms and Conditions, as modified by the parties to
the KfW Refinancing pursuant to, inter alia, the Interaction Agreement.
“Lead Arrangers” shall mean the Initial Mandated Lead Arranger together with and any other bank or financial
institution appointed as an arranger by the Initial Mandated Lead Arranger and the Borrower for the purpose of this Agreement.
“Lender” shall mean each financial institution listed on Schedule 1.01(a), as well as any Person which becomes a
“Lender” hereunder pursuant to Section 13.
“Lender Creditors” shall mean the Lenders holding from time to time outstanding Loans and/or Commitments and the
Agents, each in their respective capacities.
“Lender Default” shall mean, as to any Lender, (i) the wrongful refusal (which has not been retracted) of such Lender
or the failure of such Lender to make available its portion of any Borrowing, unless such failure to pay is caused by administrative or
technical error or a Disruption Event and payment is made within three Business Days of its due date; (ii) such Lender having been
deemed insolvent or having become the subject of a takeover by a regulatory authority or with respect to which an Insolvency Event
has occurred and is continuing; (iii) such Lender having notified the Facility Agent and/or any Credit Party (x) that it does not intend to
comply with its obligations under Section 2.01 in circumstances where such non-compliance would constitute a breach of such
Lender’s obligations under such Section or (y) of the events described in preceding clause (ii); or (iv) such Lender not being in
compliance with its refinancing obligations owed to KfW under its respective Refinancing Agreement or the Interaction Agreement.
“Lien” shall mean any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory
or other), preference, priority or other security agreement of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, any
conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any financing or similar statement or notice filed under the UCC or any other similar
recording or notice statute, and any lease having substantially the same effect as any of the foregoing); provided that in no event shall
an operating lease be deemed to constitute a Lien.
“Lim Family” shall mean:
(i)

the late Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong;

(ii)

his spouse;

(iii)

his direct lineal descendants;
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(iv)

the personal estate of any of the above persons; and

(v)

any trust created for the benefit of one or more of the above persons and their estates.

“Loan” and “ Loans” shall have the meaning provided in Section 2.01.
“Management Agreements” shall mean any agreements entered into by the Borrower with a Manager, and which
agreements shall be reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent (it being understood that the form of management agreement attached
as Annex A to Exhibit O is acceptable).
“Manager” shall mean (i) the company providing commercial and technical management and crewing services for the
Vessel, which is contemplated to be, as of the Delivery Date, NCL Corporation Ltd., a company organized and existing under the laws
of Bermuda, or NCL (Bahamas) Ltd., a company organized and existing under the laws of Bermuda (and each of which is approved for
such purpose) or (ii) such other commercial manager and/or technical manager with respect to the management of the Vessel
reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent.
“Manager’s Undertakings” shall mean the undertakings, provided by any Manager respecting the Vessel, including,
inter alia, a statement satisfactory to the Facility Agent that any lien in favor of a Manager respecting the Vessel is subject and
subordinate to the Vessel Mortgage in substantially the form attached to the Assignment of Management Agreements or otherwise
reasonably satisfactory to the Facility Agent.
“Mandatory Costs” means the percentage rate per annum calculated in accordance with Schedule 1.01(b).
“Market Disruption Event” shall mean:
(i)

at or about noon on the Interest Determination Date for the relevant Interest Period the Screen Rate is not
available and none or (unless at such time there is only one Lender) only one of the Lenders supplies a rate to the
Facility Agent to determine the Eurodollar Rate for the relevant Interest Period; or

(ii)

before 5:00 P.M. Frankfurt time on the Interest Determination Date for the relevant Interest Period, the Facility
Agent receives notifications from Lenders the sum of whose Commitments and/or outstanding Loans at such
time equal at least 50% of the sum of the Total Commitments and/or aggregate outstanding Loans of the Lenders
at such time that (x) the cost to such Lenders of obtaining matching deposits in the London interbank Eurodollar
market for the relevant Interest Period would be in excess of the Eurodollar Rate for such Interest Period or (y)
such Lenders are unable to obtain funding in the London interbank Eurodollar market.
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“Material Adverse Effect ” shall mean the occurrence of anything since December 31, 2013 which has had or would
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on (x) the property, assets, business, operations, liabilities, or condition
(financial or otherwise) of the Parent and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, (y) the consummation of the transactions hereunder, the
acquisition of the Vessel and the Construction Contract, or (z) the rights or remedies of the Lenders, or the ability of the Parent and its
relevant Subsidiaries to perform their obligations owed to the Lenders and the Agents under this Agreement.
“Materials of Environmental Concern” shall have the meaning provided in Section 8.17(a).
“Maturity Date” shall mean the twelfth anniversary of the Borrowing Date in relation to the Delivery Date or, if earlier,
the date falling 11 years and 6 months after the date on which the first Scheduled Repayment is required to be made pursuant to
Section 4.02(a).
“Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and its successors.
“NCLC Fleet” shall mean the vessels owned by the companies in the NCLC Group.
“NCLC Group” shall mean the Parent and its Subsidiaries.
“New Lender” shall mean a Person who has been assigned the rights or transferred the rights and obligations of an
Existing Lender, as the case may be, pursuant to the provisions of Section 13.
“Non-Defaulting Lender” shall mean and include each Lender other than a Defaulting Lender.
“Notice of Borrowing” shall have the meaning provided in Section 2.03.
“Notice Office” shall mean in the case of the Facility Agent and the Hermes Agent, the office of the Facility Agent and
the Hermes Agent located at Palmengartenstrasse 5-9, 60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany, Attention: Maritime Industries, X2a4, [*],
fax: +[*], email: [*] or such other office as the Facility Agent may hereafter designate in writing as such to the other parties hereto or
such other office as the Facility Agent or the Hermes Agent may hereafter designate in writing as such to the other parties hereto.
“OPA” shall mean the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq.
“Other Creditors” shall mean any Lender or any Affiliate thereof and their successors, transferees and assigns if any
(even if such Lender subsequently ceases to be a Lender under this Agreement for any reason), together with such Lender’s or
Affiliate’s successors, transferees and assigns, with which the Parent and/or the Borrower enters into any Interest Rate Protection
Agreements or Other Hedging Agreements from time to time.
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“Other Hedging Agreement ” shall mean any foreign exchange contracts, currency swap agreements, commodity
agreements or other similar agreements or arrangements entered into between a Lender or its Affiliate, or a Lead Arranger or its
Affiliates, and the Parent and/or the Borrower in relation to the Credit Document Obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement
and designed to protect against the fluctuations in currency or commodity values.
“Other Obligations” shall mean the full and prompt payment when due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration
or otherwise) of all obligations, liabilities and indebtedness (including, without limitation, all interest that accrues after the
commencement of any case, proceeding or other action relating to the bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar proceeding of
any Credit Party at the rate provided for in the respective documentation, whether or not a claim for post-petition interest is allowed in
any such proceeding) owing by any Credit Party to the Other Creditors under, or with respect to, any Interest Rate Protection
Agreement or Other Hedging Agreement, whether such Interest Rate Protection Agreement or Other Hedging Agreement is now in
existence or hereafter arising, and the due performance and compliance by such Credit Party with all of the terms, conditions and
agreements contained therein.
“Parent” shall have the meaning provided in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
“Parent Guaranty” shall mean the guaranty of the Parent pursuant to Section 15.
“Participant Register” shall have the meaning provided in Section 13.11(c).
“PATRIOT Act” shall have the meaning provided in Section 14.09.
“Payment Office” shall mean the office of the Facility Agent located at Palmengartenstrasse 5-9, 60325 Frankfurt am
Main, Germany, or such other office as the Facility Agent may hereafter designate in writing as such to the other parties hereto.
“Permitted Change Orders” shall mean change orders and similar arrangements under the Construction Contract which
increase the Initial Construction Price to the extent that the aggregate amount of such increases does not exceed the amount of the
change orders agreed in Addendum No. 3, namely €[*] (it being understood that the actual amount of change orders and similar
arrangements may exceed €[*]) and in Addendum No. 6 as well as in a list of agreement of modifications dated 11 December 2018 to
the Construction Contract, namely in an aggregate amount of €[*] (it being understood that the actual amount of change orders and
similar arrangements may exceed €[*]).
“Permitted Chartering Arrangements” shall mean:
(i)

any charter or other form of deployment (other than a demise or bareboat charter) of the Vessel made between
members of the NCLC Group;

(ii)

any demise or bareboat charter of the Vessel made between members of the NCLC Group provided that (a) each
of the Borrower and the charterer assigns the benefit of any such charter or sub-charter to the Collateral Agent,
(b) each of the Borrower and the charterer assigns its interest in the
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insurances and earnings in respect of the Vessel to the Collateral Agent, and (c) the charterer agrees to
subordinate its interests in the Vessel to the interests of the Collateral Agent as mortgagee of the Vessel, all on
terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent;
(iii)

any charter or other form of deployment of the Vessel to a charterer that is not a member of the NCLC Group
provided that no such charter or deployment shall be made (a) on a demise or bareboat basis, or (b) for a period
which, including the exercise of any options for extension, could be for longer than 13 months, or (c) other than
at or about market rate at the time when the charter or deployment is fixed; and

(iv)

any charter or other form of deployment in respect of the Vessel entered into after the Effective Date and which
is permissible under the provisions of any financing documents relating to the Vessel.

“Permitted Holders” shall mean (i) the Lim Family (together or individually) and (ii) Apollo and any Person directly
controlled by Apollo.
“Permitted Liens” shall have the meaning provided in Section 10.01.
“Person” or “person” shall mean any individual, partnership, joint venture, firm, corporation, association, trust or other
enterprise or any government or political subdivision, department or instrumentality thereof.
“Pledgor” shall mean NCL Corporation Ltd. or any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Parent which directly owns any
of the Capital Stock of the Borrower.
“Pre-delivery Installment” shall have the meaning provided in the definition of “ Initial Construction Price”.
“Pro Rata Share” shall have the definition provided in Section 4.05(b).
“Projections” shall mean any projections and any forward‑looking statements (including statements with respect to
booked business) of the NCLC Group furnished to the Lenders or the Facility Agent by or on behalf of any member of the NCLC
Group prior to the Effective Date.
“Reference Banks” shall mean the Citibank and JPMorgan and any additional or replacement Reference Bank
appointed by the Facility Agent with the approval of the Borrower.
“Refinancing Agreement” shall mean each refinancing agreement in respect of the KfW Refinancing.
“Refinanced Bank” shall mean each Lender participating in the KfW Refinancing.
“Refund Guarantee” shall mean a, or if more than one, each refund guarantee arranged by the Yard in respect of a Predelivery Installment and provided by one or more
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financial institutions contemplated by the Construction Contract, or by other financial institutions reasonably satisfactory to the Lead
Arrangers, as credit support for the Yard’s obligations thereunder.
“Register” shall have the meaning provided in Section 14.15.
“Relevant Obligations” shall have the meaning provided in Section 13.07(c)(ii).
“Repayment Date” shall mean each semi-annual date on which a Scheduled Repayment is required to be made
pursuant to Section 4.02(a).
“Replaced Lender” shall have the meaning provided in Section 2.12.
“Replacement Lender” shall have the meaning provided in Section 2.12.
“Representative” shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.05(d).
“Required Insurance” shall have the meaning provided in Section 9.03.
“Required Lenders” shall mean, at any time, Non-Defaulting Lenders, the sum of whose outstanding Commitments
and/or principal amount of Loans at such time represent an amount greater than 66⅔% of the sum of the Total Commitments (less the
aggregate Commitments of all Defaulting Lenders at such time) and the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Loans (less the
amount of outstanding Loans of all Defaulting Lenders at such time).
“S&P” shall mean Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and its
successors.
“Scheduled Repayment” shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.02(a).
“Screen Rate” shall have the meaning specified in the definition of Eurodollar Rate.
“Second Additional Hermes Premium ” means the additional premium payable to Hermes as a result of the increase to
the Hermes Cover arising as a consequence of the increase in the Total Commitments pursuant to the Second Supplemental Agreement.
“Second Restatement Date” shall mean the “Restatement Date” as defined in the Second Supplemental Agreement.
“Second Supplemental Agreement” means the supplemental agreement amending this Agreement dated 15 August
2019 and made between the parties hereto and NCL International, Ltd.
“Secured Creditors” shall mean the “Secured Creditors” as defined in the Security Documents.
“Secured Obligations” shall mean (i) the Credit Document Obligations, (ii) the Other Obligations, (iii) any and all
sums advanced by any Agent in order to preserve the
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Collateral or preserve the Collateral Agent’s security interest in the Collateral on behalf of the Lenders, (iv) in the event of any
proceeding for the collection or enforcement of any indebtedness, obligations or liabilities of the Credit Parties referred to in clauses (i)
and (ii) above, after an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the expenses in connection with retaking, holding,
preparing for sale or lease, selling or otherwise disposing of or realizing on the Collateral, or of any exercise by the Collateral Agent of
its rights hereunder on behalf of the Lenders, together with reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs, and (v) all amounts paid by any
Secured Creditor as to which such Secured Creditor has the right to reimbursement under the Security Documents.
“Security Documents” shall mean, as applicable, the Assignment of Contracts, the Assignment of Earnings and
Insurances, the Assignment of Charters, the Assignment of Management Agreements, the Charge of KfW Refund Guarantees, the
Share Charge, the Vessel Mortgage, the Deed of Covenants, and, after the execution thereof, each additional security document
executed pursuant to Section 9.10 and/or Section 12.01(b).
“Security Trust Deed ” shall mean the Security Trust Deed executed by, inter alia, the Borrower, the Guarantor, the
Collateral Agent, the Facility Agent, the Original Secured Creditors (as defined therein) and the Delegate Collateral Agent and shall be
substantially in the form of Exhibit P or otherwise reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent.
“Share Charge” shall have the meaning provided in Section 5.06.
“Share Charge Collateral” shall mean all “Collateral” as defined in the Share Charge.
“Signing Date” means the date of this Agreement.
“Sky Vessel” shall mean [*]) presently owned by the Sky Vessel Seller, and registered in the Sky Vessel Seller's name
under the laws and flag of the Commonwealth of the Bahamas.
“Sky Vessel Indebtedness” shall mean the financing arrangements in relation to the acquisition of the Sky Vessel in an
amount of up to [*] on the terms set forth in the fully executed memorandum of agreement related to the sale of the Sky Vessel, dated
on or around May 30, 2012 (as amended from time to time with the consent of the Lenders as required pursuant to Section 10.11).
“Sky Vessel Seller” shall mean [*], or any affiliate of [*].
“Specified Requirements” shall mean the requirements set forth in clauses (i)(A) and (i)(B) (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, paragraphs (i)(a) or (i)(b)), (iii), (v)(c) and (v)(f)) of the definition of “Collateral and Guaranty Requirements.”
“Spot Rate” shall mean the spot exchange rate quoted by the Facility Agent equal to the weighted average of the rates
on the actual transactions of the Facility Agent on the date two Business Days prior to the date of determination thereof (acting
reasonably), which spot exchange rate shall be final and conclusive absent manifest error.
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“Subsidiary” shall mean, as to any Person, (i) any corporation more than 50% of whose stock of any class or classes
having by the terms thereof ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether or
not at the time stock of any class or classes of such corporation shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of
any contingency) is at the time owned by such Person and/or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person and (ii) any partnership, limited
liability company, association, joint venture or other entity in which such Person and/or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person has
more than a 50% Equity Interest at the time.
“Supervision Agreements” shall mean any agreements (if any) entered or to be entered into between the Parent, as
applicable, the Borrower and a Supervisor providing for the construction supervision of the Vessel, the terms and conditions of which
shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Facility Agent.
“Supervisor” shall have the meaning provided in the Construction Contract.
“Supplemental Agreements” means the First Supplemental Agreement and the Second Supplemental Agreement.
“Tax Benefit” shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.04(c).
“Taxes” and “ Taxation” shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.04(a).
“Third Party” shall mean any Person or group of Persons acting in concert who or which does not include a member
of the Lim Family or Apollo.
“Total Capitalization ” shall mean, at any date of determination, the Total Net Funded Debt plus the consolidated
stockholders’ equity of the NCLC Group at such date determined in accordance with GAAP and derived from the then latest unaudited
and consolidated financial statements of the NCLC Group delivered to the Facility Agent in the case of the first three quarters of each
fiscal year and the then latest audited consolidated financial statements of the NCLC Group delivered to the Facility Agent in the case
of each fiscal year; provided it is understood that the effect of any impairment of intangible assets shall be added back to stockholders’
equity.
“Total Commitments ” shall mean, at any time, the sum of the Commitments of the Lenders at such time, it being
agreed that such sum shall not exceed €748,685,000.
“Total Net Funded Debt” shall mean, as at any relevant date:
(i)

Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the NCLC Group on a consolidated basis; and

(ii)

the amount of any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of any person which is not a member of the NCLC Group
but which is guaranteed by a member of the NCLC Group as at such date;
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less an amount equal to any Cash Balance as at such date; provided that any Commitments and other amounts available
for drawing under other revolving or other credit facilities of the NCLC Group which remain undrawn shall not be counted as cash or
indebtedness for the purposes of this Agreement.
“Transaction” shall mean collectively (i) the execution, delivery and performance by each Credit Party of the Credit
Documents to which it is a party, the incurrence of Loans on each Borrowing Date and the use of proceeds thereof and (ii) the payment
of all fees and expenses in connection with the foregoing.
“Transfer Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form set out in Exhibit E or any other form agreed
between the Facility Agent and the Parent.
“Transfer Date” shall have the meaning given to this expression in the First Supplemental Agreement.
“UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as from time to time in effect in the relevant jurisdiction.
“United States” and “ U.S.” shall each mean the United States of America.
“U.S. Tax Obligor” means:
(i) a Borrower which is resident for tax purposes in the U.S.; or
(ii)

a Credit Party some or all of whose payments under the Credit Documents are from sources within the U.S. for U.S. federal income
tax purposes.
“Vessel” shall mean the post-panamax luxury passenger cruise vessel with approximately 164,600 gt and the
provisional hull number [*] to be constructed by the Yard.
“Vessel Mortgage” shall have the meaning provided in the definition of “Collateral and Guaranty Requirements”.
“Vessel Value” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.08.
“Yard” shall mean Meyer Werft GmbH, Papenburg/Germany, the shipbuilder constructing the Vessel pursuant to the
Construction Contract.
SECTION 2. Amount and Terms of Credit Facility.The Commitments. Subject to and upon the terms and conditions
set forth herein, each Lender severally agrees to make on and after the Initial Borrowing Date and prior to the Commitment
Termination Date and at the times specified in Section 2.02 term loans to the Borrower (each, a “Loan” and, collectively, the “Loans”),
which Loans (i) shall bear interest in accordance with Section 2.06, (ii) shall be denominated and repayable in Dollars, (iii) shall be
disbursed on any Borrowing Date, (iv) shall not exceed on such Borrowing Date for all Lenders the Dollar Equivalent of the maximum
available amount for such Borrowing Date as set forth in Section 2.02 and (v) disbursed on any
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Borrowing Date shall not exceed for any Lender the Dollar Equivalent of the Commitment of such Lender on such Borrowing Date.
2 . 0 1 Amount and Timing of Each Borrowing; Currency of Disbursements. (a) The Total Commitments will be
available in the amounts and on the dates set forth below:
(i)
a portion of the Total Commitments not exceeding [*] of the Initial Construction Price for the Vessel will be
available on the Initial Borrowing Date;
(ii)
a portion of the Total Commitments equaling [*] of the Hermes Premium will be available on one or more dates
on or after the Initial Borrowing Date (it being understood and agreed that the Lenders shall be authorized to disburse directly to
Hermes the proceeds of Loans in an amount equal to the Hermes Premium that is then due and owing, without any action on the
part of the Borrower (other than the delivery by the Borrower of a Notice of Borrowing to the Facility Agent in respect thereof).
It is acknowledged and agreed that [*] of the Hermes Premium (the “First Hermes Instalment”) shall be payable directly by the
Borrower to Hermes immediately after the execution of this Agreement (which the Borrower hereby agrees to pay from its own
funds). On the Initial Borrowing Date the Lenders shall pay directly to the Borrower part of the Loans in an amount equal to the
First Hermes Instalment in reimbursement of the First Hermes Instalment so paid by the Borrower;
It is also agreed and acknowledged that the First Additional Hermes Premium shall be payable directly by the Borrower to
Hermes at or around the First Restatement Date (which the Borrower agrees to do from its own funds) and the Second
Additional Hermes Premium shall be payable directly by the Borrower to Hermes at or around the Second Restatement Date
(which the Borrower agrees to do from its own funds). Following the earlier of the Transfer Date and 29 February 2016, the
Borrower shall be entitled to request that a Loan be made available in an amount of up to the First Additional Hermes Premium
in reimbursement to the Borrower of the relevant part of the Additional Hermes Premium so paid by the Borrower in accordance
with the above. Concurrently with a Borrowing requested in respect of the aggregate amount made available pursuant to subclause (vi) below, the Borrower shall be entitled to request that a Loan be made available in an amount of up to the Second
Additional Hermes Premium in reimbursement to the Borrower of the relevant part of the Additional Hermes Premium so paid
by the Borrower in accordance with the above;
(iii)
a portion of the Total Commitments not exceeding the sum of (a) [*] of the Initial Construction Price for the
Vessel and (b) [*] of [*] of the aggregate amount of the Permitted Change Orders will be available on the date of payment of the
second installment of the Initial Construction Price (which date is anticipated to be 24 months prior to the Delivery Date (as per
the Construction Contract));
(iv)
a portion of the Total Commitments not exceeding the sum of (a) [*] of the Initial Construction Price for the
Vessel and (b) [*] of [*] of the aggregate amount of the Permitted Change Orders will be available on the date of payment of the
third
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installment of the Initial Construction Price for the Vessel (which date is anticipated to be 18 months prior to the Delivery Date
(as per the Construction Contract));
(v)
a portion of the Total Commitments not exceeding the sum of (a) [*] of the Initial Construction Price for the
Vessel and (b) [*] of [*] of the aggregate amount of the Permitted Change Orders will be available on the date of payment of the
fourth installment of the Initial Construction Price for the Vessel (which date is anticipated to be 12 months prior to the Delivery
Date (as per the Construction Contract); and
(vi)
a portion of the Total Commitments not exceeding the sum of (a) [*] of the amount equal to (x) the Initial
Construction Price for the Vessel minus (y) any amount payable by the Yard to the Borrower pursuant to Article 8, paragraph
2.8 (viii) of the Construction Contract and further deducting from this amount the aggregate of the amounts that were borrowed
pursuant to clauses (i) and (iii)-(v) above, and (b) [*] of the aggregate amount of the Permitted Change Orders will be available
on the Delivery Date.
(b)
The Loans made on each Borrowing Date shall be disbursed by the Facility Agent to the Borrower and/or its
designee(s), as set forth in Section 2.04, in Dollars and shall be in an amount equal to the applicable Dollar Equivalent of the amount of
the Total Commitments in respect of any payments of the Initial Construction Price and/or Permitted Change Orders utilized to make
such Loans on such Borrowing Date pursuant to this Section 2.02, provided that in the event that the Borrower has not (i) notified the
Facility Agent in the Notice of Borrowing that it has entered into Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements with respect to the
amount required to be paid to Hermes or to the Yard on such Borrowing Date or (ii) provided reasonably sufficient evidence to the
Facility Agent of such Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements in the Notice of Borrowing, the Facility Agent on such Borrowing
Date shall convert the Dollar amount of the Loans to be made by each Lender into Euro at the Spot Rate applicable 2 Business Days
prior to such Borrowing Date (it being understood that such Spot Rate shall be used for such conversion in order to calculate the Dollar
Equivalent referred to in this Section 2.02(b)), and shall inform each Lender thereof, and such Euro amount shall thereafter be
disbursed to the Borrower and/or its designee(s) as set forth in Section 2.04 (it being understood that each Lender shall remit its Loans
to the Facility Agent in Dollars on such Borrowing Date).
2.02 Notice of Borrowing. Subject to the second parenthetical in Section 2.02(a)(ii), whenever the Borrower desires to
make a Borrowing hereunder, it shall give the Facility Agent at its Notice Office at least three Business Days’ prior written notice of
each Loan to be made hereunder, provided that any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on a certain day only if given
before 11:00 A.M. (Frankfurt time) (unless such 11:00 A.M. deadline is waived by the Facility Agent in the case of the Initial
Borrowing Date). Each such written notice (each a “Notice of Borrowing”), except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 2.09,
shall be irrevocable and shall be given by the Borrower substantially in the form of Exhibit A, appropriately completed to specify (i)
the portion of the Total Commitments to be utilized on such Borrowing Date, (ii) if the Borrower and/or the Parent has entered into
Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements with respect to the installment payments due and owing under the Construction Contract
to be funded by the Loans to be incurred on such Borrowing Date, the applicable Dollar Equivalent of the portion of the Total
Commitments to be borrowed on such Borrowing Date and, where applicable, evidence of such Earmarked
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Foreign Exchange Arrangements, (iii) the date of such Borrowing (which shall be a Business Day), (iv) when the Loans are to be
subject to interest at the Floating Rate, the initial Interest Period to be applicable thereto, (v) to which account(s) the proceeds of such
Loans are to be deposited (it being understood that pursuant to Section 2.04 the Borrower may designate one or more accounts of the
Yard, Hermes and/or the provider of the foreign exchange arrangements referenced in the definition of Dollar Equivalent) and (vi) that
all representations and warranties made by each Credit Party, in or pursuant to the Credit Documents are true and correct in all material
respects on and as of the date of such Borrowing (unless stated to relate to a specific earlier date, in which case such representations and
warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of such date) and no Event of Default is or will be continuing
after giving effect to such Borrowing. The Facility Agent shall promptly give each Lender which is required to make Loans, notice of
such proposed Borrowing, of such Lender’s proportionate share thereof and of the other matters required by the immediately preceding
sentence to be specified in the Notice of Borrowing.
2.03 Disbursement of Funds. No later than 12:00 Noon (Frankfurt time) on the date specified in each Notice of
Borrowing, each Lender will make available its pro rata portion of each Borrowing requested in the Notice of Borrowing to be made
on such date. All such amounts shall be made available in the currency required by Section 2.02(b) in immediately available funds at
the Payment Office of the Facility Agent, and the Facility Agent will make available to (I) in the case of Loans disbursed in Dollars,
the designee(s) of the Borrower (with such designee(s) being in such circumstances either Hermes (in the case of the Hermes Premium)
or a provider of Earmarked Foreign Exchange Arrangements referenced in the definition of Dollar Equivalent), save that each Loan in
respect of the First Hermes Instalment and the Additional Hermes Premium may be paid directly to the Borrower and (II) in the case of
Loans disbursed in Euro, designee(s) of the Borrower (with such designee(s) being in such circumstances the Yard), in each case prior
to 3:00 P.M. (Frankfurt Time) on such day, to the extent of funds actually received by the Facility Agent prior to 12:00 Noon
(Frankfurt Time) on such day, in each case at the Payment Office in the account(s) specified in the applicable Notice of Borrowing, the
aggregate of the amounts so made available by the Lenders. Unless the Facility Agent shall have been notified by any Lender prior to
the date of Borrowing that such Lender does not intend to make available to the Facility Agent such Lender’s portion of any Borrowing
to be made on such date, the Facility Agent may assume that such Lender has made such amount available to the Facility Agent on
such date of Borrowing and the Facility Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the Borrower a corresponding
amount. If such corresponding amount is not in fact made available to the Facility Agent by such Lender, the Facility Agent shall be
entitled to recover such corresponding amount on demand from such Lender. If such Lender does not pay such corresponding amount
forthwith upon the Facility Agent’s demand therefor, the Facility Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Borrower shall
immediately pay such corresponding amount to the Facility Agent. The Facility Agent shall also be entitled to recover on demand
from such Lender or the Borrower, as the case may be, interest on such corresponding amount in respect of each day from the date
such corresponding amount was made available by the Facility Agent to the Borrower until the date such corresponding amount is
recovered by the Facility Agent, at a percentage rate per annum equal to (i) if recovered from such Lender, at the overnight Eurodollar
Rate and (ii) if recovered from the Borrower, the rate of interest applicable to the respective Borrowing, as determined pursuant to
Section 2.06. Nothing in this Section 2.04
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shall be deemed to relieve any Lender from its obligation to make Loans hereunder or to prejudice any rights which the Borrower may
have against any Lender as a result of any failure by such Lender to make Loans hereunder.
2.04 Pro Rata Borrowings. All Borrowings of Loans under this Agreement shall be incurred from the Lenders pro rata
on the basis of their Commitments. It is understood that no Lender shall be responsible for any default by any other Lender of its
obligation to make Loans hereunder and that each Lender shall be obligated to make the Loans provided to be made by it hereunder,
regardless of the failure of any other Lender to make its Loans hereunder. The obligations of the Lenders under this Agreement are
several and not joint and no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to satisfy its obligations hereunder.
2.05 Interest. (a) The Borrower agrees to pay interest in respect of the unpaid principal amount of each Loan from the
date the proceeds thereof are made available to the Borrower until the maturity (whether by acceleration or otherwise) of such Loan at
the Fixed Rate or if an election is made by the Borrower to elect the Floating Rate pursuant to Section 2.07, at the Floating Rate.
(b)
If the Borrower fails to pay any amount payable by it under a Credit Document on its due date, interest shall
accrue on the overdue amount (in the case of overdue interest to the extent permitted by law) from the due date up to the date of actual
payment (both before and after judgment) at a rate which is (i) where interest is payable at the Fixed Rate, equal to [*] plus the
Eurodollar Rate which would have been payable if the overdue amount had, during the period of non-payment constituted a Loan for
successive interest periods, each of a duration of three months, or (ii) where interest is payable on the Loan at the Floating Rate and
subject to paragraph (c) below, [*] plus the rate (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the margin) which would have been payable if
the overdue amount had, during the period of non‑payment, constituted a Loan for successive Interest Periods, each of a duration
selected by the Facility Agent (acting reasonably). Any interest accruing under this Section 2.06(b) shall be immediately payable by
the Borrower on demand by the Facility Agent.
(c)
At any time when interest is payable at the Floating Rate, if any overdue amount consists of all or part of a
Loan which became due on a day which was not the last day of a Floating Rate Interest Period relating to that Loan:
(i)
the first Interest Period for that overdue amount shall have a duration equal to the unexpired portion of
the current Floating Rate Interest Period relating to that Loan; and
(ii)
the rate of interest applying to the overdue amount during that first Interest Period shall be [*] plus the
rate which would have applied if the overdue amount had not become due.
(d)
Default interest (if unpaid) arising on an overdue amount will be compounded with the overdue amount at the
end of each Interest Period applicable to that overdue amount but will remain immediately due and payable.
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(e)
Accrued and unpaid interest shall be payable in respect of each Loan on each Fixed Interest Payment Date (if
interest is payable on the Loan at the Fixed Rate) or, if interest is payable on the Loan at the Floating Rate, on the last day of each
Interest Period applicable thereto, on any repayment or prepayment date (on the amount repaid or prepaid), at maturity (whether by
acceleration or otherwise) and, after such maturity, on demand.
(f)
At any time when interest is payable on the Loan at the Floating Rate, upon each Interest Determination Date,
the Facility Agent shall determine the Eurodollar Rate for each Interest Period applicable to the Loans to be made pursuant to the
applicable Borrowing and shall promptly notify the Borrower and the respective Lenders thereof. Each such determination shall,
absent manifest error, be final and conclusive and binding on all parties hereto.
(g)
At any time when interest is payable on the Loan at the Fixed Rate, the Borrower shall reimburse each Lender
on demand for the amount by which the 6 month Eurodollar Rate for any Fixed Rate Interest Period plus the fee for administrative
expenses of [*] per annum for such Fixed Rate Interest Period less the Fixed Rate exceeds [*] per annum (being the amount by which
the interest make-up is limited under any Interest Make-Up Agreement pursuant to Section 1.1 of the CIRR General Terms and
Conditions and the KfW Refinancing).
2.06 Election of Floating Rate. (a) By written notice to the Facility Agent delivered (i) in the case of an election prior
to the Initial Borrowing Date, at least 10 days after the Signing Date or (ii) in the case of an election after the Initial Borrowing Date,
at least 35 days prior to the proposed date on which the interest rate mechanism is to change, the Borrower may elect, without
incurring any liability to make any payment pursuant to Section 2.10 (other than in the case of (ii) above, where there will be such a
liability) or to pay any other indemnity or compensation obligation, to pay interest on the Loans at the Floating Rate.
(b)

Any election made pursuant to this Section 2.07 may only be made once during the term of the Loans.

2.07 Floating Rate Interest Periods. This Section 2.08 shall only apply if the Borrower has elected to pay interest at
the Floating Rate pursuant to Section 2.07. At the time the Borrower gives any election notice pursuant to Section 2.07(a) (in the case
of the initial Floating Rate Interest Period (as defined below) applicable thereto) or on the third Business Day prior to the expiration of
a Floating Rate Interest Period applicable to such Loans (in the case of any subsequent Interest Period), it shall have the right to elect,
by giving the Facility Agent notice thereof, the interest period (each a “Floating Rate Interest Period”) applicable to such Loans, which
Floating Rate Interest Period shall, at the option of the Borrower, be a three or six month period; provided that:
(a)
subject to paragraph (b) below, all Loans comprising a Borrowing shall at all times have the same Floating Rate
Interest Period;
(b)
the initial Floating Rate Interest Period for any Loan shall commence either on the date of Borrowing of such
Loan or, in the case of an election under Section 2.07(a)(ii) on the date proposed in the election notice and each Floating Rate
Interest
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Period occurring thereafter in respect of such Loan shall commence on the day on which the immediately preceding Floating
Rate Interest Period applicable thereto expires;
(c)
if any Floating Rate Interest Period relating to a Loan begins on a day for which there is no numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Floating Rate Interest Period, such Floating Rate Interest Period
shall end on the last Business Day of such calendar month;
(d)
if any Floating Rate Interest Period would otherwise expire on a day which is not a Business Day, such Floating
Rate Interest Period shall expire on the first succeeding Business Day; provided, however, that if any Floating Rate Interest
Period for a Loan would otherwise expire on a day which is not a Business Day but is a day of the month after which no further
Business Day occurs in such month, such Floating Rate Interest Period shall expire on the immediately preceding Business Day;
(e)
no Floating Rate Interest Period longer than three months may be selected at any time when an Event of Default
(or, if the Facility Agent or the Required Lenders have determined that such an election at such time would be disadvantageous
to the Lenders, a Default) has occurred and is continuing;
(f)
no Floating Rate Interest Period in respect of any Borrowing of any Loans shall be selected which extends
beyond the Maturity Date; and
(g)

at no time shall there be more than ten Borrowings of Loans subject to different Floating Rate Interest Periods.

If upon the expiration of any Floating Rate Interest Period applicable to a Borrowing, the Borrower has failed to elect a
new Floating Rate Interest Period to be applicable to such Loans as provided above, the Borrower shall be deemed to have elected a
three month Floating Rate Interest Period to be applicable to such Loans effective as of the expiration date of such current Floating
Rate Interest Period.
2 . 0 8 Increased Costs, Illegality, Market Disruption, etc. (a) In the event that any Lender shall have reasonably
determined (which determination shall, absent manifest error, be final and conclusive and binding upon all parties hereto):
(i)
at any time, that such Lender shall incur increased costs (including, without limitation, pursuant to Basel II
and/or Basel III to the extent Basel II and/or Basel III, as the case may be, is applicable), Mandatory Costs (as set forth on
Schedule 1.01(b)) or reductions in the amounts received or receivable hereunder with respect to any Loan because of, without
duplication, any change since the Effective Date in any applicable law or governmental rule, governmental regulation,
governmental order, governmental guideline or governmental request (whether or not having the force of law) or in the
interpretation or administration thereof and including the introduction of any new law or governmental rule, governmental
regulation, governmental order, governmental guideline or governmental request, such as, for example, but not limited to: (A) a
change in the basis of taxation of payment to any Lender of the principal of or interest on such Loan or any other amounts
payable hereunder (except for changes in the rate of tax on, or
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determined by reference to, the net income or net profits of such Lender, or any franchise tax based on net income or net profits,
of such Lender pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction in which such Lender is organized or in which such Lender’s principal
office or applicable lending office is located or any subdivision thereof or therein or which is attributable to a FATCA Deduction
required to be made by a party to this Agreement), but without duplication of any amounts payable in respect of Taxes pursuant
to Section 4.04, or (B) a change in official reserve requirements; or
(ii)
at any time, that the making or continuance of any Loan has been made unlawful by any law or governmental
rule, governmental regulation or governmental order;
then, and in any such event, such Lender shall promptly give notice (by telephone confirmed in writing) to the Borrower and to the
Facility Agent of such determination (which notice the Facility Agent shall promptly transmit to each of the Lenders). Thereafter (x) in
the case of clause (i) above, the Borrower agrees (to the extent applicable), to pay to such Lender, upon its written demand therefor,
such additional amounts as shall be required to compensate such Lender or such other corporation for the increased costs or reductions
to such Lender or such other corporation and (y) in the case of clause (ii) above, the Borrower shall take one of the actions specified in
Section 2.09(b) as promptly as possible and, in any event, within the time period required by law. In determining such additional
amounts, each Lender will act reasonably and in good faith and will use averaging and attribution methods which are reasonable,
provided that such Lender’s determination of compensation owing under this Section 2.09(a) shall, absent manifest error, be final and
conclusive and binding on all the parties hereto. Each Lender, upon determining that any additional amounts will be payable pursuant
to this Section 2.09(a), will give prompt written notice thereof to the Borrower, which notice shall show in reasonable detail the basis
for the calculation of such additional amounts; provided that, subject to the provisions of Section 2.10(b), the failure to give such notice
shall not relieve the Borrower from its Credit Document Obligations hereunder.
(b)
At any time that any Loan is affected by the circumstances described in Section 2.09(a)(i) or (ii), the Borrower
may (and in the case of a Loan affected by the circumstances described in Section 2.09(a)(ii) shall) either (x) if the affected Loan is
then being made initially, cancel the respective Borrowing by giving the Facility Agent notice in writing on the same date or the next
Business Day that the Borrower was notified by the affected Lender or the Facility Agent pursuant to Section 2.09(a)(i) or (ii) or (y) if
the affected Loan is then outstanding, upon at least three Business Days’ written notice to the Facility Agent, in the case of any Loan,
repay all outstanding Borrowings (within the time period required by the applicable law or governmental rule, governmental regulation
or governmental order) which include such affected Loans in full in accordance with the applicable requirements of Section 4.02;
provided that if more than one Lender is affected at any time, then all affected Lenders must be treated the same pursuant to this
Section 2.09(b).
(c)
If any Lender determines that after the Effective Date (i) the introduction of or effectiveness of or any change
in any applicable law or governmental rule, governmental regulation, governmental order, governmental guideline, governmental
directive or governmental request (whether or not having the force of law) concerning capital adequacy, or any change in
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interpretation or administration thereof by any governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency will have the effect of
increasing the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by such Lender, or any corporation controlling such Lender,
based on the existence of such Lender’s Commitments hereunder or its obligations hereunder, (ii) compliance with any law or
regulation or any request from or requirement of any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority made after the Effective
Date (including any which relates to capital adequacy or liquidity controls or which affects the manner in which a Lender allocates
capital resources to obligations under this Agreement, any Interest Rate Protection Agreement and/or any Other Hedging Agreement)
or (iii) to the extent that such change is not discretionary and is pursuant to law, a governmental mandate or request, or a central bank
or other fiscal or monetary authority mandate or request, any change in the risk weight allocated by such Lender to the Borrower after
the Effective Date, then the Borrower agrees (to the extent applicable) to pay to such Lender, upon its written demand therefor, such
additional amounts as shall be required to compensate such Lender or such other corporation for the increased cost to such Lender or
such other corporation or the reduction in the rate of return to such Lender or such other corporation as a result of such increase of
capital. In determining such additional amounts, each Lender will act reasonably and in good faith and will use averaging and
attribution methods which are reasonable, provided that such Lender’s determination of compensation owing under this Section 2.09(c)
shall, absent manifest error be final and conclusive and binding on all the parties hereto. Each Lender, upon determining that any
additional amounts will be payable pursuant to this Section 2.09(c), will give prompt written notice thereof to the Borrower, which
notice shall show in reasonable detail the basis for calculation of such additional amounts; provided that, subject to the provisions of
Section 2.11(b), the failure to give such notice shall not relieve the Borrower from its Credit Document Obligations hereunder.
(d)
This Section 2.09(d) applies at any time when interest on the Loan is payable at the Floating Rate. If a Market
Disruption Event occurs in relation to any Lender’s share of a Loan for any Interest Period, then the rate of interest on each Lender’s
share of that Loan for the Interest Period shall be the percentage rate per annum which is the sum of:
(i)

the Floating Rate Margin;

(ii)
the rate determined by such Lender and notified to the Facility Agent by 5:00 P.M. (Frankfurt time) on the
Interest Determination Date for such Interest Period to be that which expresses as a percentage rate per annum the cost to each
such Lender of funding its participation in that Loan for a period equivalent to such Interest Period from whatever source it may
reasonably select; provided that the rate provided by a Lender pursuant to this clause (ii) shall not be disclosed to any other
Lender and shall be held as confidential by the Facility Agent and the Borrower; and
(iii)

the Mandatory Costs, if any, applicable to such Lender of funding its participation in that Loan.

(e)
This Section 2.09(e) applies at any time when interest on the Loan is payable at the Floating Rate. If a Market
Disruption Event occurs and the Facility Agent or the Borrower so require, the Facility Agent and the Borrower shall enter into
negotiations (for a period of not more than 30 days) with a view to agreeing a substitute basis for determining the rate of interest.
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Any alternative basis agreed pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall, with the prior consent of all the Lenders and the
Borrower, be binding on all parties. If no agreement is reached pursuant to this clause (e), the rate provided for in clause (d) above shall
apply for the entire applicable Interest Period.
2.09 Indemnification; Breakage Costs. (a) When interest on the Loan is payable at the Floating Rate, the Borrower
agrees to indemnify each Lender, within two Business Days of demand (in writing and which request shall set forth in reasonable detail
the basis for requesting and the calculation of such amount and which in the absence of manifest error shall be conclusive evidence as
to the amount due), for all losses, expenses and liabilities (including, without limitation, any such loss, expense or liability incurred by
reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds required by such Lender to fund its Loans but excluding any loss
of anticipated profits) which such Lender may sustain in respect of Loans made to the Borrower: (i) if for any reason (other than a
default by such Lender or the Facility Agent) a Borrowing of Loans does not occur on a date specified therefor in a Notice of
Borrowing (whether or not withdrawn by the Borrower or deemed withdrawn pursuant to Section 2.09(a)); (ii) if any prepayment or
repayment (including any prepayment or repayment made pursuant to Section 2.09(a), Section 4.01 or Section 4.02 (in each case other
than on the expiry of a Floating Rate Interest Period) or as a result of an acceleration of the Loans pursuant to Section 11) of any of its
Loans, or assignment and/or transfer of its Loans pursuant to Section 2.12, occurs on a date which is not the last day of an Interest
Period with respect thereto; or (iii) if any prepayment of any of its Loans is not made on any date specified in a notice of prepayment
given by the Borrower.
(b)
When interest on the Loan is payable at the Fixed Rate, and at the time of any prepayment or commitment
reduction pursuant to Sections 3.04, 3.05 or 4.01 or any mandatory repayment or commitment reduction pursuant to Section 4.02 or as
a result of an acceleration of the Loans pursuant to Section 11, the Borrower shall indemnify each Lender, within two Business Days of
demand in writing, which request shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for requesting and the calculation of such amount and
which in the absence of manifest error shall be conclusive evidence as to the amount due, for all losses, expenses and liabilities which
such Lender may sustain in respect of the early repayment or prepayment of the Loans made to the Borrower including, without
limitation, the costs of breaking deposits or re-employing funds under any swap agreements or interest rate arrangement products
entered into in respect of the Loans or any prepayment compensation as set forth in the CIRR General Terms and Conditions.
(c)
It is understood and agreed that where the Initial Borrowing Date has not occurred, no amounts under this
Section 2.10 will be payable by the Borrower if the Total Commitments are terminated no later than 10 days after the Signing Date.
2.10 Change of Lending Office; Limitation on Additional Amounts. (a) Each Lender agrees that on the occurrence of
any event giving rise to the operation of Section 2.09 (a), Section 2.09(b), or Section 4.04 with respect to such Lender, it will, if
requested by the Borrower, use reasonable good faith efforts (subject to overall policy considerations of such Lender) to designate
another lending office for any Loans affected by such event or otherwise take steps to mitigate the effect of such event, provided that
such designation shall be made
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and/or such steps shall be taken at the Borrower’s cost and on such terms that such Lender and its lending office suffer no economic,
legal or regulatory disadvantage in excess of de minimus amounts, with the object of avoiding the consequence of the event giving rise
to the operation of such Section. Nothing in this Section 2.11 shall affect or postpone any of the obligations of the Borrower or the
rights of any Lender provided in Section 2.09 and Section 4.04.
(b)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Sections 2.09, 2.10 or 4.04 of this Agreement, unless a
Lender gives notice to the Borrower that it is obligated to pay an amount under any such Section within 180 days of the later of (x) the
date the Lender incurs the respective increased costs, Taxes, loss, expense or liability, reduction in amounts received or receivable or
reduction in return on capital or (y) the date such Lender has knowledge of its incurrence of the respective increased costs, Taxes, loss,
expense or liability, reductions in amounts received or receivable or reduction in return on capital, then such Lender shall only be
entitled to be indemnified for such amount by the Borrower pursuant to said Section 2.09, 2.10, or 4.04, as the case may be, to the
extent the costs, Taxes, loss, expense or liability, reduction in amounts received or receivable or reduction in return on capital are
incurred or suffered on or after the date which occurs 180 days prior to such Lender giving notice to the Borrower that it is obligated to
pay the respective amounts pursuant to said Section 2.09, 2.10 or 4.04, as the case may be. This Section 2.11(b) shall have no
applicability to any Section of this Agreement other than said Sections 2.09, 2.10 and 4.04.
2.11 Replacement of Lenders (x) If any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender or otherwise defaults in its obligations
to make Loans, (y) upon the occurrence of any event giving rise to the operation of Section 2.09(a) or Section 4.04 with respect to any
Lender which results in such Lender charging to the Borrower material increased costs in excess of the average costs being charged by
the other Lenders, or (z) as provided in Section 14.11(b) in the case of certain refusals by a Lender to consent to certain proposed
changes, waivers, discharges or terminations with respect to this Agreement which have been approved by the Required Lenders, the
Borrower shall (for its own cost) have the right, if no Default or Event of Default will exist immediately after giving effect to the
respective replacement, to replace such Lender (the “Replaced Lender”) (subject to the consent of (a) the CIRR Representative if at
such time interest is payable at the Fixed Rate and (b) the Hermes Agent) with one or more other Eligible Transferee or Eligible
Transferees, none of whom shall constitute a Defaulting Lender at the time of such replacement (collectively, the “ Replacement
Lender”) reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent (it being understood that all then-existing Lenders are reasonably acceptable);
provided that:
(a)
at the time of any replacement pursuant to this Section 2.12, the Replacement Lender shall enter into one or more
Transfer Certificates pursuant to Section 13.01(a) (and with all fees payable pursuant to said Section 13.02 to be paid by the
Replacement Lender) pursuant to which the Replacement Lender shall acquire all of the Commitments and outstanding Loans of
the Replaced Lender and, in connection therewith, shall pay to the Replaced Lender in respect thereof an amount equal to the
sum (without duplication) of (x) an amount equal to the principal of, and all accrued interest on, all outstanding Loans of the
Replaced Lender, and (y) an amount equal to all accrued, but unpaid, Commitment Commission owing to the Replaced Lender
pursuant to Section 3.01;
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(b)
all obligations of the Borrower due and owing to the Replaced Lender at such time (other than those specifically
described in clause (a) above) in respect of which the assignment purchase price has been, or is concurrently being, paid shall be
paid in full to such Replaced Lender concurrently with such replacement; and
(c)
if the Borrower elects to replace any Lender pursuant to clause (x), (y) or (z) of this Section 2.12, the Borrower
shall also replace each other Lender that qualifies for replacement under such clause (x), (y) or (z).
Upon the execution of the respective Transfer Certificate and the payment of amounts referred to in clauses (a) and (b)
above, the Replacement Lender shall become a Lender hereunder and the Replaced Lender shall cease to constitute a Lender
hereunder, except with respect to indemnification provisions under this Agreement (including, without limitation, Sections 2.09, 2.10,
4.04, 14.01 and 14.05), which shall survive as to such Replaced Lender.
2.12 Disruption to Payment Systems, Etc. If either the Facility Agent determines (in its discretion) that a Disruption Event has
occurred or the Facility Agent is notified by the Parent or the Borrower that a Disruption Event has occurred:
(i)
the Facility Agent may, and shall if requested to do so by the Borrower or the Parent, consult with the Borrower
with a view to agreeing with the Borrower such changes to the operation or administration of this Agreement as the Facility
Agent may deem necessary in the circumstances;
(ii)
the Facility Agent shall not be obliged to consult with the Borrower or the Parent in relation to any changes
mentioned in clause (i) above if, in its opinion, it is not practicable to do so in the circumstances and, in any event, shall have no
obligation to agree to such changes;
(iii)
the Facility Agent may consult with the other Agents, the Lead Arrangers and the Lenders in relation to any
changes mentioned in clause (i) above but shall not be obliged to do so if, in its opinion, it is not practicable or necessary to do
so in the circumstances;
(iv)
any such changes agreed upon by the Facility Agent and the Borrower or the Parent pursuant to clause (i) above
shall (whether or not it is finally determined that a Disruption Event has occurred) be binding upon the parties to this Agreement
as an amendment to (or, as the case may be, waiver of) the terms of the Credit Documents, notwithstanding the provisions of
Section 14.11, until such time as the Facility Agent is satisfied that the Disruption Event has ceased to apply;
(v)
the Facility Agent shall not be liable for any damages, costs or losses whatsoever (including, without limitation
for negligence or any other category of liability whatsoever but not including any claim based on the gross negligence, fraud or
willful misconduct of the Facility Agent) arising as a result of its taking, or failing to take, any actions pursuant to or in
connection with this Section 2.13; and
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(vi)
the Facility Agent shall notify the other Agents, the Lead Arrangers and the Lenders of all changes agreed
pursuant to clause (iv) above as soon as practicable.
SECTION 3. Commitment Commission; Fees; Reductions of Commitment.Commitment Commission. The
Borrower agrees to pay the Facility Agent for distribution to each Non-Defaulting Lender a commitment commission (the
“Commitment Commission”) for the period from the Effective Date to and including the Commitment Termination Date (or such
earlier date as the Total Commitments shall have been terminated) computed at the rate for each relevant period set out in the table
below for each day multiplied by the unutilized Commitment (and taking into account for this purpose the increase in the Commitment
pursuant to the Supplemental Agreements) for such day of such Non‑Defaulting Lender divided by 360. Accrued Commitment
Commission shall be due and payable quarterly in arrears on the first Business Day of each April, July, October and January
commencing with October 2014 and on the Borrowing Date contemplated by Section 2.02(a)(vi) (or such earlier date upon which the
Total Commitments are terminated).
Commitment Commission

Applicable period

[*] p.a.

Date of execution of this Agreement – October 30, 2017

[*] p.a.

October 31, 2017 - October 30, 2018

[*] p.a.

October 31, 2018 - Delivery Date

3.01 CIRR Fees. (a) The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent for the account of the CIRR Representative a
fee of [*] per annum (the “CIRR Fee”) on such part of the Total Commitments for which the Federal Republic of Germany grants an
interest make-up guarantee and for such period as may be separately agreed between the CIRR Agent and the Borrower.
(b) The CIRR Fee shall be payable by the Borrower in EUR quarterly in arrears from the date of commencement of the
period described in Section 3.02(a).
3.02 Other Fees. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent the agreed fees set forth in any Fee Letter and the
Supplemental Agreements on the dates and in the amounts set forth therein.
3.03 Voluntary Reduction or Termination of Commitments. Upon at least three Business Days’ prior notice to the
Facility Agent at its Notice Office (which notice the Facility Agent shall promptly transmit to each of the Lenders), the Borrower shall
have the right, at any time or from time to time, without premium or penalty, save in respect of amounts payable pursuant to Section
2.10 (b), to reduce or terminate the Total Commitments, in whole or in part, in integral multiples of €5,000,000 in the case of partial
reductions thereto, provided that each such reduction shall apply proportionately to permanently reduce the Commitment of each
Lender.
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3.04 Mandatory Reduction of Commitments. (a) In addition to any other mandatory commitment reductions pursuant
to this Section 3.05 or any other Section of this Agreement, the Total Commitments (and the Commitment of each Lender) shall
terminate in its entirety on the Commitment Termination Date.
(b)
In addition to any other mandatory commitment reductions pursuant to this Section 3.05 or any other Section
of this Agreement, the Total Commitments (and the Commitments of each Lender) shall be reduced (immediately after the relevant
Loans are made) on each Borrowing Date by the amount of Commitments (denominated in Euro) utilized to make the Loans made on
such Borrowing Date.
(c)
In addition to any other mandatory commitment reductions pursuant to this Section 3.05 or any other Section of
this Agreement, the Total Commitments shall be terminated at the times required by Section 4.02.
(d)
Each reduction to the Total Commitments pursuant to this Section 3.05 and Section 4.02 shall be applied
proportionately to reduce the Commitment of each Lender.
SECTION 4. Prepayments; Repayments; Taxes.Voluntary Prepayments. The Borrower shall have the right to prepay
the Loans, without premium or penalty except as provided by law, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time on the
following terms and conditions:
(a)
the Borrower shall give the Facility Agent prior to 12:00 Noon (Frankfurt time) at its Notice Office at least 32
Business Days’ prior written notice of its intent to prepay such Loans, the amount of such prepayment and the specific
Borrowing or Borrowings pursuant to which made, which notice the Facility Agent shall promptly transmit to each of the
Lenders;
(b)
each prepayment shall be in an aggregate principal amount of at least $1,000,000 or such lesser amount of a
Borrowing which is outstanding, provided that no partial prepayment of Loans made pursuant to any Borrowing shall reduce the
outstanding Loans made pursuant to such Borrowing to an amount less than $1,000,000;
(c)
at the time of any prepayment of Loans pursuant to this Section 4.01 on any date other than the last day of any
Interest Period applicable thereto or otherwise as set out in Section 2.10, the Borrower shall pay the amounts required pursuant
to Section 2.10;
(d)
in the event of certain refusals by a Lender as provided in Section 14.11(b) to consent to certain proposed
changes, waivers, discharges or terminations with respect to this Agreement which have been approved by the Required
Lenders, the Borrower may, upon five Business Days’ written notice to the Facility Agent at its Notice Office (which notice the
Facility Agent shall promptly transmit to each of the Lenders), prepay all Loans, together with accrued and unpaid interest,
Commitment Commission, and other amounts owing to such Lender (or owing to such Lender with respect to each Loan which
gave rise to the need to obtain such Lender’s individual consent) in accordance with said Section 14.11(b) so long as (A) the
Commitment of such Lender (if any) is
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terminated concurrently with such prepayment (at which time Schedule 1.01(a) shall be deemed modified to reflect the changed
Commitments) and (B) the consents required by Section 14.11(b) in connection with the prepayment pursuant to this clause (d)
have been obtained; and
(e)
each prepayment in respect of any Loans made pursuant to a Borrowing shall be applied (x) in inverse order of
maturity and (y) except as expressly provided in the preceding clause (d), pro rata among the Loans comprising such Borrowing,
provided that in connection with any prepayment of Loans pursuant to this Section 4.01, such prepayment shall not be applied to
any Loan of a Defaulting Lender until all other Loans of Non-Defaulting Lenders have been repaid in full.
4 . 0 2 Mandatory Repayments and Commitment Reductions. (a) In addition to any other mandatory repayments
pursuant to this Section 4.02 or any other Section of this Agreement, the outstanding Loans shall be repaid on each Repayment Date
(or such other date as may be agreed between the Facility Agent and the Borrower) (without further action of the Borrower being
required) in 24 equal semi-annual installments commencing on either (i) the first Business Day that is on or after the sixth month
anniversary of the Borrowing Date in relation to the Delivery Date or, (ii) if requested by the Borrower no later than five days prior to
the anticipated Delivery Date, such date falling less than 6 months after the Delivery Date as the Borrower may select, and ending on
the Maturity Date (each such repayment, a “Scheduled Repayment”).
(b)
In addition to any other mandatory repayments or commitment reductions pursuant to this Section 4.02 or any
other Section of this Agreement, but without duplication, on (i) the Business Day following the date of a Collateral Disposition (other
than a Collateral Disposition constituting an Event of Loss) and (ii) the earlier of (A) the date which is 150 days following any
Collateral Disposition constituting an Event of Loss involving the Vessel (or, in the case of an Event of Loss which is a constructive or
compromised or arranged total loss of the Vessel, if earlier, 180 days after the date of the event giving rise to such damage) and (B) the
date of receipt by the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or the Facility Agent of the insurance proceeds relating to such Event of Loss,
the Borrower shall repay the outstanding Loans in full and the Total Commitments shall be automatically terminated (without further
action of the Borrower being required).
(c)
In addition to any other mandatory repayments or commitment reductions pursuant to this Section 4.02 or any
other Section of this Agreement, but without duplication, if (x) the Construction Contract is terminated prior to the Delivery Date, (y)
the Vessel has not been delivered to the Borrower by the Yard pursuant to the Construction Contract by the Commitment Termination
Date or (z) any of the events described in Sections 11.05, 11.10 or 11.11 shall occur in respect of the Yard at any time prior to the
Delivery Date, within five Business Days of the occurrence of such event the Borrower shall repay the outstanding Loans in full and
the Total Commitments shall be automatically terminated (without further action of the Borrower being required).
(d)
With respect to each repayment of Loans required by this Section 4.02, the Borrower may designate the
specific Borrowing or Borrowings pursuant to which such Loans
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were made, provided that (i) all Loans with Interest Periods ending on such date of required repayment shall be paid in full prior to the
payment of any other Loans and (ii) each repayment of any Loans comprising a Borrowing shall be applied pro rata among such
Loans. In the absence of a designation by the Borrower as described in the preceding sentence, the Facility Agent shall, subject to the
preceding provisions of this clause (e), make such designation in its sole reasonable discretion with a view, but no obligation, to
minimize breakage costs owing pursuant to Section 2.10.
(e)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained elsewhere in this Agreement, all outstanding Loans shall
be repaid in full on the Maturity Date.
4 . 0 3 Method and Place of Payment. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, all payments under this
Agreement shall be made to the Facility Agent for the account of the Lender or Lenders entitled thereto not later than 10:00 A.M. (New
York time) on the date when due and shall be made in Dollars in immediately available funds at the Payment Office of the Facility
Agent. Whenever any payment to be made hereunder shall be stated to be due on a day which is not a Business Day, the due date
thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day (unless the next succeeding Business Day shall fall in the next calendar
month, in which case the due date thereof shall be the previous Business Day) and, with respect to payments of principal, interest shall
be payable at the applicable rate during such extension.
4.04 Net Payments; Taxes. (a) All payments made by any Credit Party hereunder will be made without setoff,
counterclaim or other defense. All such payments will be made free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for, any
present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, fees, assessments or other charges of whatever nature now or hereafter imposed by any
jurisdiction or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein with respect to such payments (but excluding any tax
imposed on or measured by the net income, net profits or any franchise tax based on net income or net profits, and any branch profits
tax of a Lender pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is organized or the jurisdiction in which the principal office or
applicable lending office of such Lender is located or any subdivision thereof or therein or due to failure to provide documents under
Section 4.04(b) or any FATCA Deduction required to be made by a party to this Agreement, all such taxes “ Excluded Taxes”) and all
interest, penalties or similar liabilities with respect to such non-excluded taxes, levies, imposts, duties, fees, assessments or other
charges to the extent imposed on taxes other than Excluded Taxes (all such non-excluded taxes, levies, imposts, duties, fees,
assessments or other charges being referred to collectively as “Taxes” and “ Taxation” shall be applied accordingly). The Borrower
will furnish to the Facility Agent within 45 days after the date of payment of any Taxes due pursuant to applicable law certified copies
of tax receipts evidencing such payment by the Borrower. The Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless each Lender, and
reimburse such Lender upon its written request, for the amount of any Taxes so levied or imposed and paid by such Lender.
(b)
Each Lender agrees (consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions and subject to overall policy
considerations of such Lender) to file any certificate or document or to furnish to the Borrower any information as reasonably
requested by the Borrower that may be necessary to establish any available exemption from, or reduction in the amount of, any Taxes;
provided, however, that nothing in this Section 4.04(b) shall require a Lender to disclose any
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confidential information (including, without limitation, its tax returns or its calculations). The Borrower shall not be required to
indemnify any Lender for Taxes attributed to such Lender’s failure to provide the required documents under this Section 4.04(b).
(c)
If the Borrower pays any additional amount under this Section 4.04 to a Lender and such Lender determines in
its sole discretion exercised in good faith that it has actually received or realized in connection therewith any refund or any reduction
of, or credit against, its Tax liabilities in or with respect to the taxable year in which the additional amount is paid (a “Tax Benefit”),
such Lender shall pay to the Borrower an amount that such Lender shall, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, determine is
equal to the net benefit, after tax, which was obtained by such Lender in such year as a consequence of such Tax Benefit; provided,
however, that (i) any Lender may determine, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith consistent with the policies of such Lender,
whether to seek a Tax Benefit, (ii) any Taxes that are imposed on a Lender as a result of a disallowance or reduction (including through
the expiration of any tax credit carryover or carryback of such Lender that otherwise would not have expired) of any Tax Benefit with
respect to which such Lender has made a payment to the Borrower pursuant to this Section 4.04(c) shall be treated as a Tax for which
the Borrower is obligated to indemnify such Lender pursuant to this Section 4.04 without any exclusions or defenses and (iii) nothing
in this Section 4.04(c) shall require any Lender to disclose any confidential information to the Borrower (including, without limitation,
its tax returns).
(d)
Each party to this Agreement may make any FATCA Deduction it is required to make by FATCA, and any
payment required in connection with that FATCA Deduction, and no party to this Agreement shall be required to increase any payment
in respect of which it makes such a FATCA Deduction or otherwise compensate the recipient of the payment for that FATCA
Deduction. Each party to this Agreement shall promptly, upon becoming aware that it must make a FATCA Deduction (or that there is
any change in the rate or the basis of such FATCA Deduction), notify the party to this Agreement to whom it is making the payment
and, in addition, shall notify the Borrower and the Agent and the Agent shall notify the other Credit Parties.
4.05 Application of Proceeds. (a) All proceeds collected by the Collateral Agent upon any sale or other disposition of
such Collateral of each Credit Party, together with all other proceeds received by the Collateral Agent under and in accordance with
this Agreement and the other Credit Documents (except to the extent released in accordance with the applicable provisions of this
Agreement or any other Credit Document), shall be applied by the Facility Agent to the payment of the Secured Obligations as
follows:
(i)
first, to the payment of all amounts owing to the Collateral Agent or any other Agent of the type described in
clauses (iii) and (iv) of the definition of “Secured Obligations”;
(ii)
second, to the extent proceeds remain after the application pursuant to the preceding clause (i), an amount equal
to the outstanding Credit Document Obligations shall be paid to the Lender Creditors as provided in Section 4.05(d) hereof, with
each Lender Creditor receiving an amount equal to such outstanding Credit Document
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Obligations or, if the proceeds are insufficient to pay in full all such Credit Document Obligations, its Pro Rata Share of the
amount remaining to be distributed;
(iii)
third, to the extent proceeds remain after the application pursuant to the preceding clauses (i) and (ii), an amount
equal to the outstanding Other Obligations shall be paid to the Other Creditors as provided in Section 4.05(d) hereof, with each
Other Creditor receiving an amount equal to such outstanding Other Obligations or, if the proceeds are insufficient to pay in full
all such Other Obligations, its Pro Rata Share of the amount remaining to be distributed; and
( i v ) fourth, to the extent proceeds remain after the application pursuant to the preceding clauses (i) through (iii),
inclusive, and following the termination of this Agreement, the Credit Documents, the Interest Rate Protection Agreements and
the Other Hedging Agreements in accordance with their terms, to the relevant Credit Party or to whomever may be lawfully
entitled to receive such surplus.
(b)
For purposes of this Agreement, “Pro Rata Share” shall mean, when calculating a Secured Creditor’s portion of
any distribution or amount, that amount (expressed as a percentage) equal to a fraction the numerator of which is the then unpaid
amount of such Secured Creditor’s Credit Document Obligations or Other Obligations, as the case may be, and the denominator of
which is the then outstanding amount of all Credit Document Obligations or Other Obligations, as the case may be.
(c)
If any payment to any Secured Creditor of its Pro Rata Share of any distribution would result in overpayment to
such Secured Creditor, such excess amount shall instead be distributed in respect of the unpaid Credit Document Obligations or Other
Obligations, as the case may be, of the other Secured Creditors, with each Secured Creditor whose Credit Document Obligations or
Other Obligations, as the case may be, have not been paid in full to receive an amount equal to such excess amount multiplied by a
fraction the numerator of which is the unpaid Credit Document Obligations or Other Obligations, as the case may be, of such Secured
Creditor and the denominator of which is the unpaid Credit Document Obligations or Other Obligations, as the case may be, of all
Secured Creditors entitled to such distribution.
(d)
All payments required to be made hereunder shall be made (x) if to the Lender Creditors, to the Facility Agent
under this Agreement for the account of the Lender Creditors, and (y) if to the Other Creditors, to the trustee, paying agent or other
similar representative (each, a “Representative”) for the Other Creditors or, in the absence of such a Representative, directly to the
Other Creditors.
(e)
For purposes of applying payments received in accordance with this Section 4.05, the Collateral Agent shall be
entitled to rely upon (i) the Facility Agent under this Agreement and (ii) the Representative for the Other Creditors or, in the absence of
such a Representative, upon the Other Creditors for a determination (which the Facility Agent, each Representative for any Other
Creditors and the Secured Creditors agree (or shall agree) to provide upon request of the Collateral Agent) of the outstanding Credit
Document Obligations and Other Obligations owed to the Lender Creditors or the Other Creditors, as the case may be.
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Unless it has actual knowledge (including by way of written notice from an Other Creditor) to the contrary, the Collateral Agent, shall
be entitled to assume that no Interest Rate Protection Agreements or Other Hedging Agreements are in existence.
(f)
It is understood and agreed that each Credit Party shall remain jointly and severally liable to the extent of any
deficiency between the amount of the proceeds of the Collateral pledged by it under and pursuant to the Security Documents and the
aggregate amount of the Secured Obligations of such Credit Party.
4.06 FATCA Information. (a) Subject to paragraph (c) below, each party to this Agreement shall, within ten Business
Days of a reasonable request by another party to this Agreement:
(i)

confirm to that other party to this Agreement whether it is:
(A)

a FATCA Exempt Party; or

(B)

not a FATCA Exempt Party;

(ii)

supply to that other party to this Agreement such forms, documentation and other information relating to
its status under FATCA as that other party to this Agreement reasonably requests for the purposes of that
other party to this Agreement's compliance with FATCA;

(iii)

supply to that other party to this Agreement such forms, documentation and other information relating to
its status as that other party to this Agreement reasonably requests for the purposes of that other party to
this Agreement's compliance with any other law, regulation, or exchange of information regime.

(b)
If a party to this Agreement confirms to another party to this Agreement pursuant to paragraph (a)(i) above that it
is a FATCA Exempt Party and it subsequently becomes aware that it is not or has ceased to be a FATCA Exempt Party, that
party to this Agreement shall notify that other party to this Agreement reasonably promptly.
(c)
Paragraph (a) above shall not oblige any Credit Party to do anything, and paragraph (a)(iii) above shall not oblige
any other party to this Agreement to do anything, which would or might in its reasonable opinion constitute a breach of:
(i)

any law or regulation;

(ii)

any fiduciary duty; or

(iii)

any duty of confidentiality.

(d)
If a party to this Agreement fails to confirm whether or not it is a FATCA Exempt Party or to supply forms,
documentation or other information requested in
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accordance with paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) above (including, for the avoidance of doubt, where paragraph (c) above applies), then
such party to this Agreement shall be treated for the purposes of the Credit Documents (and payments under them) as if it is not
a FATCA Exempt Party until such time as the party to this Agreement in question provides the requested confirmation, forms,
documentation or other information.
(e)
If the Borrower is a U.S. Tax Obligor or the Facility Agent reasonably believes that its obligations under
FATCA or any other applicable law or regulation require it, each Lender shall, within ten (10) Business Days of:
(i)

where the Borrower is a U.S. Tax Obligor, the date of this Agreement;

(ii)

the date a new U.S. Tax Obligor accedes as a Borrower; or

(iii)

where the Borrower is not a U.S. Tax Obligor, the date of a request from the Facility Agent,

supply to the Facility Agent:
(A)

a withholding certificate on Form W-8, Form W-9 or any other relevant form; or

(B)

any withholding statement or other document, authorisation or waiver as the Facility Agent may
require to certify or establish the status of such Lender under FATCA or that other law or
regulation.

(f)
The Facility Agent shall provide any withholding certificate, withholding statement, document, authorisation or
waiver it receives from a Lender pursuant to paragraph (e) above to the Borrower.
(g)
If any withholding certificate, withholding statement, document, authorisation or waiver provided to the Facility
Agent by a Lender pursuant to paragraph (e) above is or becomes materially inaccurate or incomplete, that Lender shall
promptly update it and provide such updated withholding certificate, withholding statement, document, authorisation or waiver
to the Facility Agent unless it is unlawful for the Lender to do so (in which case the Lender shall promptly notify the Facility
Agent). The Facility Agent shall provide any such updated withholding certificate, withholding statement, document,
authorisation or waiver to the Borrower.
(h)
The Facility Agent may rely on any withholding certificate, withholding statement, document, authorisation or
waiver it receives from a Lender pursuant to paragraph (e) or (g) above without further verification. The Facility Agent shall not
be liable for any action taken by it under or in connection with paragraph (e), (f) or (g) above.
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SECTION 5. Conditions Precedent to the Initial Borrowing Date. The obligation of each Lender to make Loans on
the Initial Borrowing Date is subject at the time of the making of such Loans to the satisfaction or (other than in the case of Sections
5.04, 5.05, 5.06 (other than delivery of the Share Charge Collateral), 5.07, 5.10, 5.11, 5.12 and 5.15) waiver of the following
conditions:
5.01 Effective Date. On or prior to the Initial Borrowing Date, the Effective Date shall have occurred.
5.02 [Intentionally Omitted].
5.03 Corporate Documents; Proceedings; etc. On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent shall have received a
certificate, dated the Initial Borrowing Date, signed by the secretary or any assistant secretary of each Credit Party (or, to the extent
such Credit Party does not have a secretary or assistant secretary, the analogous Person within such Credit Party), and attested to by an
authorized officer, member or general partner of such Credit Party, as the case may be, in substantially the form of Exhibit D, with
appropriate insertions, together with copies of the certificate of incorporation and by-laws (or equivalent organizational documents) of
such Credit Party and the resolutions of such Credit Party referred to in such certificate.
5.04 Know Your Customer. On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent, the Hermes Agent and the Lenders
shall have been provided with all information requested in order to carry out and be reasonably satisfied with all necessary “know your
customer” information required pursuant to the PATRIOT ACT and such other documentation and evidence necessary in order for the
Lenders to carry out and be reasonably satisfied with other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the
Transaction and the Hermes Cover, in connection with each of the Facility Agent’s, the Hermes Agent’s and each Lender’s internal
compliance regulations including, without limitation and to the extent required to comply with the “know your customer” requirements
referred to above (i) specimen signatures of any person authorized to execute the Credit Documents and (ii) copies of the passports for
each person identified in item (i).
5.05 Construction Contract and Other Material Agreements. On or prior to the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility
Agent shall have received a true, correct and complete copy of the Construction Contract, which shall be in full force and effect (and
shall not have been cancelled pursuant to Article 14, Clause 11 of the Construction Contract), and all other material contracts in
connection with the construction, supervision and acquisition of the Vessel that the Facility Agent may reasonably request and all such
documents shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Facility Agent (it being understood that the executed copy of
the Construction Contract delivered to the Lead Arrangers prior to the Effective Date is satisfactory).
5.06 Share Charge. On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Pledgor shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered a
Bermuda share charge for the Borrower substantially in the form of Exhibit F (as modified, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time, the “Share Charge”) or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers, together with the Share Charge
Collateral.
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5.07 Assignment of Contracts. On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Borrower shall have duly authorized, executed and
delivered a valid and effective assignment by way of security in favor of the Collateral Agent of all of the Borrower’s present and
future interests in and benefits under (x) the Construction Contract, (y) each Refund Guarantee and (z) the Construction Risk Insurance
(it being understood that the Borrower will use commercially reasonable efforts to have the underwriters of the Construction Risk
Insurance accept and endorse on such insurance policy a loss payable clause substantially in the form set forth in Part 3 of Schedule 2
to the Assignment of Contracts (as defined below), and it being further understood that certain of the Refund Guarantee and none of the
Construction Risk Insurances will have been issued on the Initial Borrowing Date), which assignment shall be substantially in the form
of Exhibit J hereto or otherwise reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers and the Borrower and customary for transactions of this
type, along with appropriate notices and consents relating thereto (to the extent incorporated into or required pursuant to such Exhibit
or otherwise agreed by the Borrower and the Facility Agent), including, without limitation, those acknowledgments, notices and
consents listed on Schedule 5.07 (as modified, supplemented or amended from time to time, the “Assignment of Contracts”) provided
that, if any Refund Guarantee issued to the Borrower on the Initial Borrowing Date shall have been issued by KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH,
then such Refund Guarantee shall be charged pursuant to a duly authorized, executed and delivered, valid and effective charge of any
such Refund Guarantee in the form of Exhibit Q hereto or otherwise in a form reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers and the
Borrower and customary for transactions of this type, along with appropriate notices and consents relating thereto (to the extent
incorporated into or required pursuant to such Exhibit or otherwise agreed by the Borrower and the Facility Agent) (as modified,
supplemented or amended from time to time, the “Charge of KfW Refund Guarantees”).
5.08 [Intentionally Omitted]
5.09 Process Agent. On or prior to the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent shall have received satisfactory
evidence from the Parent, the Borrower and any other applicable Credit Party that they have each appointed an agent in London for the
service of process or summons in relation to each of the Credit Documents.
5.10 Opinions of Counsel.
(a)
On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton &
Garrison LLP (or another counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special New York counsel to the Credit Parties, an
opinion addressed to the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated the Initial Borrowing Date in substantially the form
delivered to the Lenders prior to the Effective Date, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers, substantially in the
form set forth in Exhibit 1 of Schedule 5.10.
(b)
On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Walkers (Bermuda) Limited (or
another counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special Bermuda counsel to the Credit Parties, an opinion addressed to
the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated the Initial Borrowing Date in substantially the form delivered to the Lenders prior
to the Effective Date, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers, substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit 2 of
Schedule 5.10.
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(c)
On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Norton Rose Fulbright LLP (or
another counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special English counsel to the Facility Agent for the benefit of the Lead
Arrangers, an opinion addressed to the Facility Agent (for itself and on behalf of the Lenders) and the Collateral Agent (for itself and
on behalf of the Secured Creditors) dated the Initial Borrowing Date in substantially the form delivered to the Lenders prior to the
Effective Date or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit 3 of Schedule
5.10.
(d)
On the Initial Borrowing Date if required by any New Lender, the Facility Agent shall have received from
Norton Rose Fulbright LLP (or another counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special German counsel to the Facility
Agent for the benefit of the Lead Arrangers, an opinion addressed to the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated the Initial
Borrowing Date in substantially the form delivered to the Lenders prior to the Effective Date, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to
the Lead Arrangers, covering the matters set forth in Exhibit 4 of Schedule 5.10.
(e)
On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Holland & Knight LLP (or another
counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special Florida counsel to the Credit Parties, an opinion addressed to the
Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated the Initial Borrowing Date in substantially the form delivered to the Lenders prior to
the Effective Date, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers, substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit 5 of
Schedule 5.10.
5.11 KfW Refinancing. On or prior to the Initial Borrowing Date and to the extent that the Initial Syndication Date
has occurred, either:
(a)
the definitive credit documentation related to the KfW Refinancing (including, without limitation, the
Interaction Agreement) shall have been duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto and shall be reasonably satisfactory to KfW
and the Refinanced Banks, and the KfW Refinancing shall be effective in accordance with its terms; or
(b)
any Lender which is not a Refinanced Bank but wishes to benefit from an Interest Make-Up Agreement shall
have duly executed and delivered an Interest Make-Up Agreement.
5.12 Equity Payment. On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Facility Agent shall have received evidence, in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Facility Agent, that the Borrower shall have funded from cash on hand an amount equal to
0.4% of the Initial Construction Price for the Vessel.
5.13 Financing Statements. On the Initial Borrowing Date, the Collateral Agent, in consultation with the Credit
Parties, shall have:
(a)
prepared and filed proper financing statements (Form UCC-1 or the equivalent) fully prepared for filing
under the UCC or in other appropriate filing offices of each jurisdiction as may be necessary or, in the reasonable
opinion of the Collateral Agent, desirable to perfect the security interests
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purported to be created by the Share Charge, the Assignment of Contracts and if applicable, the Charge of KfW Refund
Guarantees; and
(b)
received certified copies of lien search results (Form UCC-11) listing all effective financing statements
that name each Credit Party as debtor and that are filed in the District of Columbia and Florida, together with Form
UCC-3 Termination Statements (or such other termination statements as shall be required by local law) fully prepared
for filing if required by applicable laws for any financing statement which covers the Collateral except to the extent
evidencing Permitted Liens.
5.14 Security Trust Deed. On the Initial Borrowing Date and to the extent that the Initial Syndication Date has
occurred, the Security Trust Deed shall have been executed by the parties thereto and shall be in full force and effect.
5.15 Hermes Cover. On the Initial Borrowing Date, (x) the Facility Agent shall have received evidence from the
Hermes Agent that the Hermes Cover is in full force and effect on terms acceptable to the Lead Arrangers (it being understood that
each Lead Arranger shall have confirmed to the Hermes Agent that the terms of the Hermes Cover are acceptable), and all due and
owing Hermes Premium and Hermes Issuing Fees to be paid in connection therewith shall have been paid in full, which the Borrower
hereby agrees to pay, provided it is understood and agreed that the Hermes Cover shall have been granted as soon as the Hermes Agent
and/or the Facility Agent receives the Declaration of Guarantee (Gewährleistungs-Erklärung) from Hermes and (y) all Loans and other
financing to be made pursuant hereto shall be in material compliance with the Hermes Cover and all applicable requirements of law or
regulation.
SECTION 6. Conditions Precedent to each Borrowing Date.The obligation of each Lender to make Loans on each
Borrowing Date is subject at the time of the making of such Loans to the satisfaction or (other than in the case of Sections 6.01, 6.02,
6.03, 6.04, 6.06 and 6.07) waiver of the following conditions:
6.01 No Default; Representations and Warranties. At the time of each Borrowing and also after giving effect thereto
(i) there shall exist no Default or Event of Default and (ii) all representations and warranties contained herein or in any other Credit
Document shall be true and correct in all material respects both before and after giving effect to such Borrowing with the same effect as
though such representations and warranties had been made on the Borrowing Date in respect of such Borrowing (it being understood
and agreed that any representation or warranty which by its terms is made as of a specified date shall be required to be true and correct
in all material respects only as of such specified date).
6.02 Consents. On or prior to each Borrowing Date, all necessary governmental (domestic and foreign) and material
third party approvals and/or consents in connection with the Construction Contract, any Refund Guarantee (to the extent issued on or
prior to such Borrowing Date), the Vessel and the other transactions contemplated hereby (except to the extent specifically addressed
in other sections of Section 5 or this Section 6) shall have been obtained and remain in effect. On each Borrowing Date, there shall not
exist any judgment,
54

order, injunction or other restraint issued or filed or a hearing seeking injunctive relief or other restraint pending or notified prohibiting
or imposing materially adverse conditions upon this Agreement, the Transaction or the other transactions contemplated by the Credit
Documents.
6.03 Refund Guarantees. On (x) the Initial Borrowing Date, the Refund Guarantee for the Pre-delivery Installment to
be paid on the Initial Borrowing Date shall have been issued and assigned to the Collateral Agent pursuant to an Assignment of
Contracts (or, if such Refund Guarantee is issued by KfW IPEX Bank GmbH, the Charge of KfW Refund Guarantees) and (y) each
other Borrowing Date (other than the Borrowing Date in relation to the Delivery Date), each additional Refund Guarantee that has
been issued since the Initial Borrowing Date shall have been assigned to the Collateral Agent by delivering a supplement to the
relevant schedule to the Assignment of Contracts (or, in the case of Refund Guarantees issued by KfW IPEX Bank GmbH, or
supplement to the relevant schedule of the Charge of KfW Refund Guarantees) to the Collateral Agent with the updated information, in
each case along with (to the extent incorporated into the Assignment of Contracts) an appropriate notice and consent relating thereto,
and the Lead Arrangers shall have received reasonably satisfactory evidence to such effect. Each Refund Guarantee shall secure a
principal amount equal to (i) the amount of the corresponding Pre-delivery Installment to be paid by the Borrower to the Yard minus
(ii) the amount paid by the Yard to the Borrower in respect of the corresponding Pre-delivery Installment under Article 8, Clause 2.8
(i), (ii), (iii) or (iv), as the case may be, of the Construction Contract pursuant to the terms of each Refund Guarantee, and the Lead
Arrangers shall have received reasonably satisfactory evidence to such effect.
6.04 Equity Payment. On each Borrowing Date on which the proceeds of Loans are being used to fund a payment
under the Construction Contract, the Facility Agent shall have received evidence, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Facility Agent, of the payment by the Borrower (other than from proceeds of Loans) of at least [*] of each such amount then due on
such Borrowing Date under the Construction Contract, it being agreed and acknowledged that where the Borrower makes an equity
payment in excess of any of the minimum equity payments of [*] referred to above, the subsequent minimum equity payment for future
Borrowing Dates required may be reduced to take account of such over payment on a basis notified by the Borrower to the Facility
Agent as long as at all times the Borrower continues to comply with the minimum equity requirements set out above.
6.05 Fees, Costs, etc. On each Borrowing Date, the Borrower shall have paid to the Agents, the Lead Arrangers and
the Lenders all costs, fees, expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees and expenses of Norton Rose Fulbright LLP and
local and maritime counsel and consultants) and other compensation contemplated hereby payable to the Agents, the Lead Arrangers
and the Lenders or payable in respect of the transactions contemplated hereunder (including, without limitation, the KfW Refinancing),
to the extent then due; provided that (i) any such costs, fees and expenses and other compensation shall have been invoiced to the
Borrower at least three Business Days prior to such Borrowing Date and (ii) such costs, fees and expenses in respect of the initial
syndication arising at the time of the Initial Syndication Date (including in respect of any KfW Refinancing or any Interest Make-Up
Agreement but subject to Section 14.01) shall include ongoing or recurring legal costs or expenses after the Effective Date where such
legal costs or expenses are incurred in respect of
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the period falling 6 months after the Effective Date or such longer period as the Borrower may approve (such approval not to be
unreasonably withheld).
6 . 0 6 Construction Contract. On each Borrowing Date, the Borrower shall have certified that all conditions and
requirements under the Construction Contract required to be satisfied on such Borrowing Date, including in connection with the
respective payment installments to be made to the Yard on such Borrowing Date, shall have been satisfied (including, but not limited
to, the Borrower’s payment to the Yard of the portion of the payment installment on the Vessel that is not being financed with proceeds
of the Loans), other than those that are not materially adverse to the Lenders, it being understood that any litigation between the Yard
and the Parent and/or Borrower shall be deemed to be materially adverse to the Lenders.
6.07 Notice of Borrowing. Prior to the making of each Loan, the Facility Agent shall have received the Notice of
Borrowing required by Section 2.03(a), with such Notice of Borrowing to be accompanied by a copy of the invoice from the Yard in
respect of the relevant instalment under the Construction Contract which is to be funded by that Loan.
6 . 0 8 Solvency Certificate. On each Borrowing Date, Parent shall cause to be delivered to the Facility Agent a
solvency certificate from a senior financial officer of Parent, in substantially the form of Exhibit K or otherwise reasonably acceptable
to the Facility Agent, which shall be addressed to the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated such Borrowing Date, setting
forth the conclusion that, after giving effect to the transactions hereunder (including the incurrence of all the financing contemplated
with respect thereto and the purchase of the Vessel), the Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are not insolvent and will not be
rendered insolvent by the Indebtedness incurred in connection therewith, and will not be left with unreasonably small capital with
which to engage in their respective businesses and will not have incurred debts beyond their ability to pay such debts as they mature.
6.09 Litigation. On each Borrowing Date, other than as set forth on Schedule 6.09, there shall be no actions, suits or
proceedings (governmental or private) pending or, to the Parent or the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened (i) with respect to this
Agreement or any other Credit Document or (ii) which has had, or, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to have, a
Material Adverse Effect.
6.10 Hermes Cover. The obligation of each Lender to make Loans on the first Borrowing Date following the Second
Restatement Date is subject at the time of the making of such Loans to the satisfaction or waiver of the following additional condition
that the Facility Agent shall have received evidence from the Hermes Agent that the Hermes Cover has been amended to provide cover
in respect of the increase to the Total Commitments agreed pursuant to the Supplemental Agreements and remains in full force and
effect on terms acceptable to the Lead Arrangers (it being understood that each Lead Arranger shall have confirmed to the Hermes
Agent that the terms of the Hermes Cover are acceptable), and the Additional Hermes Premium shall have been paid in full, which the
Borrower hereby agrees to pay.
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The acceptance of the proceeds of each Loan shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower to the
Facility Agent and each of the Lenders that all of the applicable conditions specified in Section 5, this Section 6 and Section 7
applicable to such Loan have been satisfied as of that time.
SECTION 7. Conditions Precedent to the Delivery Date.The obligation of each Lender to make Loans on the Delivery
Date is subject at the time of making such Loans to the satisfaction of the following conditions:
7.01 Delivery of Vessel. On the Delivery Date, the Vessel shall have been delivered in accordance with the terms of
the Construction Contract, other than those changes that would not be materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders, and the
Facility Agent shall have received (a) certified copies of the Delivery Documents (as such term is defined in the Construction Contract)
required to be delivered by the Yard pursuant to Article 7, paragraph 1.3, clauses (i), (ii), (vii) and (viii) (and which, in the case of (vii)
shall include details of all Permitted Change Orders) of the Construction Contract and (b) a copy of the written statement in respect of
the Buyer’s Allowance (as defined in the Construction Contract) referred to in Article 8, paragraph 2.8 (vii) of the Construction
Contract as well as any details of any payment required to be made to the Borrower pursuant to Article 8, paragraph 2.8 (viii) of the
Construction Contract.
7 . 0 2 Collateral and Guaranty Requirements. On or prior to the Delivery Date, the Collateral and Guaranty
Requirements with respect to the Vessel shall have been satisfied or the Facility Agent shall have waived such requirements (other than
the Specified Requirements) and/or conditioned such waiver on the satisfaction of such requirements within a specified period of time.
7.03 Evidence of [*] Payment. On the Delivery Date, the Borrower shall have provided funding for an amount in the
aggregate equal to the sum of at least (x) [*] of the Initial Construction Price for the Vessel, (y) [*] of the aggregate amount of
Permitted Change Orders for the Vessel and (z) [*] of the difference between the Final Construction Price and the Adjusted
Construction Price for the Vessel (in each case, other than from proceeds of Loans) and the Facility Agent shall have received a
certificate from the officer of the Borrower to such effect.
7.04 Hermes Compliance; Compliance with Applicable Laws and Regulations. On the Delivery Date, all Loans and
other financing to be made pursuant hereto shall be in material compliance with all applicable requirements of law or regulation and the
Hermes Cover.
7.05 Opinion of Counsel.
(a)
On the Delivery Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Norton Rose Fulbright LLP (or another
counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special English counsel to the Facility Agent for the benefit of the Lead
Arrangers, an opinion addressed to the Facility Agent (for itself and on behalf of the Lenders) and the Collateral Agent (for itself and
on behalf of the Secured Creditors) and each of the Lenders and dated as of the Delivery
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Date in substantially the form delivered to the Lenders pursuant to Section 5.10, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead
Arrangers, covering the matters set forth in Schedule 7.05.
(b)
On the Delivery Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison
LLP (or another counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special New York counsel to the Credit Parties, an opinion
addressed to the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated as of the Delivery Date in substantially the form delivered to the
Lenders pursuant to Section 5.10, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers, covering the matters set forth in Schedule
7.05.
(c)
On the Delivery Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Graham Thompson & Co. (or another
counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special Bahamas counsel to the Credit Parties (or if the Vessel is not flagged in
the Bahamas, counsel qualified in the jurisdiction of the flag of the Vessel and reasonably satisfactory to the Facility Agent), an
opinion addressed to the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated as of the Delivery Date in substantially the form delivered to
the Lenders pursuant to Section 5.10, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers, covering the matters set forth in
Schedule 7.05.
(d)
On the Delivery Date, the Facility Agent shall have received from Walkers (Bermuda) Limited (or another
counsel reasonably acceptable to the Lead Arrangers), special Bermuda counsel to the Credit Parties, an opinion addressed to the
Facility Agent and each of the Lenders and dated as of such Borrowing Date in substantially the form delivered to the Lenders prior to
the Effective Date, or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Lead Arrangers, covering the matters set forth in Schedule 7.05.
SECTION 8. Representations and Warranties.In order to induce the Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to make
the Loans, the Borrower or each Credit Party, as applicable, makes the following representations and warranties, in each case on a daily
basis, all of which shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the making of the Loans:
8.01 Entity Status. The Parent and each of the other Credit Parties (i) is a Person duly organized, constituted and
validly existing (or the functional equivalent) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, has the capacity to sue and be sued in
its own name and the power to own and charge its assets and carry on its business as it is now being conducted, (ii) is duly qualified
and is authorized to do business and is in good standing (or the functional equivalent) in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing
or operation of its property or the conduct of its business requires such qualifications except for failures to be so qualified or authorized
or in good standing which, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect
and (iii) is not a FATCA FFI or a U.S. Tax Obligor.
8.02 Power and Authority. Each of the Credit Parties has the power to enter into and perform this Agreement and
those of the other Credit Documents to which it is a party and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and has taken all
necessary action to authorize the entry into and performance of this Agreement and such other Credit Documents
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and such transactions. This Agreement constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations of the Parent and the Borrower enforceable in
accordance with its terms and in entering into this Agreement and borrowing the Loans (in the case of the Borrower), the Parent and the
Borrower are each acting on their own account. Each other Credit Document constitutes (or will constitute when executed) legal, valid
and binding obligations of each Credit Party expressed to be a party thereto enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.
8 . 0 3 No Violation. The entry into and performance of this Agreement, the other Credit Documents and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not conflict with:
(a)

any law or regulation or any official or judicial order; or

(b)

the constitutional documents of any Credit Party; or

(c)

except as set forth on Schedule 8.03, any agreement or document to which any member of the NCLC Group is a party or
which is binding upon such Credit Party or any of its assets, nor result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on a
Credit Party or its assets pursuant to the provisions of any such agreement or document.

8.04 Governmental Approvals. Except for the filing of those Security Documents which require registration in the
Federal Republic of Germany, the Bahamas, any state of the United States of America and/or with the Registrar of Companies in
Bermuda, and for the registration of the Vessel Mortgage through the Bahamas Maritime Authority (if the Vessel is flagged in the
Bahamas) or such other relevant authority (if the Vessel is flagged in another Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction), all authorizations,
approvals, consents, licenses, exemptions, filings, registrations, notarizations and other matters, official or otherwise, required in
connection with the entry into, performance, validity and enforceability of this Agreement and each of the other Credit Documents and
the transactions contemplated thereby have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect except for matters in respect of (x)
the Construction Risk Insurance and any Refund Guarantee (in each case only to the extent that such Collateral has not yet been
delivered) and (y) Collateral to be delivered on the Delivery Date.
8.05 Financial Statements; Financial Condition. (a)(i) The audited consolidated balance sheets of the Parent and its
Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2013 and the unaudited consolidated balance sheets of the Parent and its Subsidiaries as at March 31,
2014 and the related consolidated statements of operations and of cash flows for the fiscal years or quarters, as the case may be, ended
on such dates, reported on by and accompanied by, in the case of the annual financial statements, an unqualified report from
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial condition of the Parent and its
Subsidiaries as at such date, and the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for the respective fiscal years
or quarters, as the case may be, then ended. All such financial statements, including the related schedules and notes thereto, have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP applied consistently throughout the periods involved (except as approved by the aforementioned
firm of accountants and disclosed therein).
59

(ii)
The pro forma consolidated balance sheet of the Parent and its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 (after
giving effect to the Transaction and the financing therefor), a copy of which has been furnished to the Lenders prior to the Initial
Borrowing Date, presents a good faith estimate in all material respects of the pro forma consolidated financial position of the Parent
and its Subsidiaries as of such date.
(b)
Since December 31, 2013, nothing has occurred that has had or could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.
8.06 Litigation. No litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings of or before any court, arbitral body or agency
(including but not limited to investigative proceedings) are current or pending or, to the Parent or the Borrower’s knowledge,
threatened, which might, if adversely determined, have a Material Adverse Effect.
8.07 True and Complete Disclosure. Each Credit Party has fully disclosed in writing to the Facility Agent all facts
relating to such Credit Party which it knows or should reasonably know and which might reasonably be expected to influence the
Lenders in deciding whether or not to enter into this Agreement.
8 . 0 8 Use of Proceeds. All proceeds of the Loans may be used only to finance (i) up to 80% of the Adjusted
Construction Price of the Vessel and (ii) up to 100% of the Hermes Premium.
8.09 Tax Returns and Payments. The NCLC Group have complied with all taxation laws in all jurisdictions in which
it is subject to Taxation and has paid all material Taxes due and payable by it; no material claims are being asserted against it with
respect to Taxes, which might, if such claims were successful, have a material adverse effect on the ability of any Credit Party to
perform its obligations under the Credit Documents or could otherwise be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. As
at the Effective Date all amounts payable by the Parent and the Borrower hereunder may be made free and clear of and without
deduction for or on account of any Taxation in the Parent and the Borrower’s jurisdiction.
8.10 No Material Misstatements. (a) All written information (other than the Projections, estimates and information of
a general economic nature or general industry nature) (the “Information”) concerning the Parent and its Subsidiaries, and the
transactions contemplated hereby prepared by or on behalf of the foregoing or their representatives and made available to any Lenders
or any Agent in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, when taken as a whole, was true and correct in all material
respects, as of the date such Information was furnished to the Lenders or any Agent and as of the Effective Date and did not, taken as a
whole, contain any untrue statement of a material fact as of any such date or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements contained therein, taken as a whole, not materially misleading in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made.
(b)
The Projections and estimates and information of a general economic nature prepared by or on behalf of the
Parent, the Borrower or any of their respective representatives and that have been made available to any Lenders or any Agent in
connection
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with the transactions contemplated hereby (i) have been prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed by the Parent, the
Borrower to be reasonable as of the date thereof (it being understood that actual results may vary materially from the Projections), as of
the date such Projections and estimates were furnished to the Lenders and as of the Effective Date, and (ii) as of the Effective Date,
have not been modified in any material respect by the Parent or the Borrower.
8.11 The Security Documents. (a) None of the Collateral is subject to any Liens except Permitted Liens.
(b)
The security interests created under the Share Charge in favor of the Collateral Agent, as pledgee, for the
benefit of the Secured Creditors, constitute perfected security interests in the Share Charge Collateral described in the Share Charge,
subject to no security interests of any other Person. No filings or recordings are required in order to perfect (or maintain the perfection
or priority of) the security interests created in the Share Charge Collateral under the Share Charge other than with respect to that
portion of the Share Charge Collateral constituting a “general intangible” under the UCC. The filings on Form UCC-1 made pursuant
to the Share Charge will perfect a security interest in the Collateral covered by the Share Charge to the extent a security interest in such
Collateral may be perfected by such filings.
(c)
After the execution and registration thereof, the Vessel Mortgage will create, as security for the obligations
purported to be secured thereby, a valid and enforceable perfected security interest in and mortgage lien on the Vessel in favor of the
Collateral Agent (or such other trustee as may be required or desired under local law) for the benefit of the Secured Creditors, superior
and prior to the rights of all third Persons (except that the security interest and mortgage lien created on the Vessel may be subject to
the Permitted Liens related thereto) and subject to no other Liens (other than Permitted Liens related thereto).
(d)
After the execution and delivery thereof and upon the taking of the actions mentioned in the immediately
succeeding sentence, each of the Security Documents will create in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured
Creditors a legal, valid and enforceable fully perfected first priority security interest in and Lien on all right, title and interest of the
Credit Parties party thereto in the Collateral described therein, subject only to Permitted Liens. Subject to Sections 7.02, 8.04 and this
Section 8.11 and the definition of “Collateral and Guaranty Requirements,” no filings or recordings are required in order to perfect the
security interests created under any Security Document except for filings or recordings which shall have been made on or prior to the
execution of such Security Document.
8.12 Capitalization. All the Capital Stock, as set forth on Schedule 8.12, in the Borrower and each other Credit Party
(other than the Parent) is legally and beneficially owned directly or indirectly by the Parent and, except as permitted by Section 10.02,
such structure shall remain so until the Maturity Date.
8.13 Subsidiaries. On and as of the Initial Borrowing Date, other than in respect of Dormant Subsidiaries (i) the
Parent has no Subsidiaries other than those Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 8.13 which Schedule identifies the correct legal name,
direct owner, percentage ownership and jurisdiction of organization of the Borrower and each such other Subsidiary on
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the date hereof, (ii) all outstanding shares of the Borrower and each other Subsidiary of the Parent have been duly and validly issued,
are fully paid and non-assessable and have been issued free of preemptive rights, and (iii) neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary of
the Parent has outstanding any securities convertible into or exchangeable for its Capital Stock or outstanding any right to subscribe for
or to purchase, or any options or warrants for the purchase of, or any agreement providing for the issuance (contingent or otherwise) of
or any calls, commitments or claims of any character relating to, its Capital Stock or any stock appreciation or similar rights.
8.14 Compliance with Statutes, etc. The Parent and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects
with all applicable statutes, regulations and orders of, and all applicable restrictions imposed by, all governmental bodies, domestic or
foreign, in respect of the conduct of its business and the ownership of its property, except such noncompliances as could not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
8.15 Winding‑up, etc. None of the events contemplated in clauses (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of Section 11.05 has occurred
with respect to any Credit Party.
8.16 No Default. No event has occurred which constitutes a Default or Event of Default under or in respect of any
Credit Document to which any Credit Party is a party or by which the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries may be bound (including (inter
alia) this Agreement) and no event has occurred which constitutes a default under or in respect of any agreement or document to which
any Credit Party is a party or by which any Credit Party may be bound, except to an extent as could not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
8.17 Pollution and Other Regulations. Each of the Credit Parties:
(a)
is in compliance with all applicable federal, state, local, foreign and international laws, regulations,
conventions and agreements relating to pollution prevention or protection of human health or the environment (including, without
limitation, ambient air, surface water, ground water, navigable waters, water of the contiguous zone, ocean waters and international
waters), including without limitation, laws, regulations, conventions and agreements relating to (i) emissions, discharges, releases or
threatened releases of chemicals, pollutants, contaminants, wastes, toxic substances, hazardous materials, oil, hazard substances,
petroleum and petroleum products and by-products (“Materials of Environmental Concern”) or (ii) Environmental Law;
(b)
has all permits, licenses, approvals, rulings, variances, exemptions, clearances, consents or other
authorizations required under applicable Environmental Law (“Environmental Approvals”) and is in compliance with all
Environmental Approvals required to operate its business as presently conducted or as reasonably anticipated to be conducted;
(c)
has not received any notice, claim, action, cause of action, investigation or demand by any other person,
alleging potential liability for, or a requirement to incur, investigatory costs, clean-up costs, response and/or remedial costs (whether
incurred by a
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governmental entity or otherwise), natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries, attorneys’ fees and expenses or
fines or penalties, in each case arising out of, based on or resulting from (i) the presence or release or threat of release into the
environment of any Materials of Environmental Concern at any location, whether or not owned by such person or (ii) Environmental
Claim,
(A) which is, or are, in each case, material; and
(B) there are no circumstances that may prevent or interfere with such full compliance in the future.
There are no Environmental Claims pending or threatened against any of the Credit Parties which the Parent or the
Borrower, in its reasonable opinion, believes to be material.
There are no past or present actions, activities, circumstances, conditions, events or incidents, including, without
limitation, the release, emission, discharge or disposal of any Materials of Environmental Concern, that the Parent or the Borrower
reasonably believes could form the basis of any bona fide material Environmental Claim against any of the Credit Parties.
8.18 Ownership of Assets. Except as permitted by Section 10.02, each member of the NCLC Group has good and
marketable title to all its assets which is reflected in the audited accounts referred to in Section 8.05(a).
8.19 Concerning the Vessel. As of the Delivery Date, (a) the name, registered owner, official number, and jurisdiction
of registration and flag of the Vessel shall be set forth on Schedule 8.19 (as updated from time to time by the Borrower pursuant to
Section 9.13 with respect to flag jurisdiction, and otherwise (with respect to name, registered owner, official number and jurisdiction of
registration) upon advance notice and in a manner that does not interfere with the Lenders’ Liens on the Collateral, provided that each
applicable Credit Party shall take all steps requested by the Collateral Agent to preserve and protect the Liens created by the Security
Documents on the Vessel) and (b) the Vessel is and will be operated in material compliance with all applicable law, rules and
regulations.
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8.20 Citizenship. None of the Credit Parties has an establishment in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the
Overseas Companies Regulation 2009 with the exception of the Parent or a place of business in the United States (in each case, except
as already disclosed) or any other jurisdiction which requires any of the Security Documents to be filed or registered in that jurisdiction
to ensure the validity of the Security Documents to which it is a party unless (x) all such filings and registrations have been made or
will be made as provided in Sections 7.02, 8.04 and 8.11 and the definition of “Collateral and Guaranty Requirements” and (y) prompt
notice of the establishment of such a place of business is given to the Facility Agent and the requirements set forth in Section 9.10 have
been satisfied. The Borrower and each other Credit Party which owns or operates, or will own or operate, the Vessel at any time is, or
will be, qualified to own and operate the Vessel under the laws of the Bahamas or such other jurisdiction in which the Vessel is
permitted, or will be permitted, to be flagged in accordance with the terms of Section 9.13.
8.21 Vessel Classification. The Vessel is or will be as of the Delivery Date, classified in the highest class available for
vessels of its age and type with a classification society listed on Schedule 8.21 hereto or another internationally recognized
classification society reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent, free of any overdue conditions or recommendations.
8 . 2 2 No Immunity. None of the Credit Parties nor any of their respective assets enjoys any right of immunity
(sovereign or otherwise) from set‑off, suit or execution in respect of their obligations under this Agreement or any of the other Credit
Documents or by any relevant or applicable law.
8.23 Fees, Governing Law and Enforcement. No fees or taxes, including, without limitation, stamp, transaction,
registration or similar taxes, are required to be paid to ensure the legality, validity, or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the
other Credit Documents other than recording taxes which have been, or will be, paid as and to the extent due. Under the laws of the
Bahamas or any other jurisdiction where the Vessel is flagged, the choice of the laws of England as set forth in the Credit Documents
which are stated to be governed by the laws of England is a valid choice of law, and the irrevocable submission by each Credit Party to
jurisdiction and consent to service of process and, where necessary, appointment by such Credit Party of an agent for service of
process, in each case as set forth in such Credit Documents, is legal, valid, binding and effective.
8.24 Form of Documentation. Each of the Credit Documents is in proper legal form (under the laws of England, the
Bahamas, Bermuda and each other jurisdiction where the Vessel is flagged or where the Credit Parties are domiciled) for the
enforcement thereof under such laws. To ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence of each such Credit
Document in England, the Bahamas and/or Bermuda it is not necessary that any Credit Document or any other document be filed or
recorded with any court or other authority in England, the Bahamas and Bermuda, except as have been made, or will be made, in
accordance with Section 5, 6, 7 and 8, as applicable.
8.25 Pari Passu or Priority Status. The claims of the Agents and the Lenders against the Parent or the Borrower under
this Agreement will rank at least pari passu with the
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claims of all unsecured creditors of the Parent or the Borrower (other than claims of such creditors to the extent that they are statutorily
preferred) and in priority to the claims of any creditor of the Parent or the Borrower who is also a Credit Party.
8.26 Solvency. The Credit Parties, taken as a whole, are and shall remain, after the advance to them of the Loans or
any of such Loans, solvent in accordance with the laws of Bermuda, the United States, England and the Bahamas and in particular with
the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and the requirements thereof.
8.27 No Undisclosed Commissions. There are and will be no commissions, rebates, premiums or other payments by
or to or on account of any Credit Party, their shareholders or directors in connection with the Transaction as a whole other than as
disclosed to the Facility Agent or any other Agent in writing.
8.28 Completeness of Documentation. The copies of the Management Agreements, the Construction Contract, each
Refund Guarantee, and to the extent applicable, the Supervision Agreement delivered to the Facility Agent are true and complete
copies of each such document constituting valid and binding obligations of the parties thereto enforceable in accordance with their
respective terms and no amendments thereto or variations thereof have been agreed nor has any action been taken by the parties thereto
which would in any way render such document inoperative or unenforceable, unless replaced by a management agreement or
management agreements, refund guarantees or, to the extent applicable, a supervision agreement, as the case may be, reasonably
satisfactory to the Facility Agent.
8.29 Money Laundering. Any borrowing by the Borrower hereunder, and the performance of its obligations hereunder
and under the other Security Documents, will be for its own account and will not, to the best of its knowledge, involve any breach by it
of any law or regulatory measure relating to “money laundering” as defined in Article 1 of the Directive (2005/EC/60) of the European
Parliament and of the Council of the European Communities.
SECTION 9. Affirmative Covenants. The Parent and the Borrower hereby covenant and agree that on and after the
Initial Borrowing Date and until the Total Commitments have terminated and the Loans, together with interest, Commitment
Commission and all other obligations incurred hereunder and thereunder, are paid in full (other than contingent indemnification and
expense reimbursement claims for which no claim has been made):
9.01 Information Covenants. The Parent will provide to the Facility Agent (or will procure the provision of):
(a)
Quarterly Financial Statements. Within 60 days after the close of the first three fiscal quarters in each fiscal
year of the Parent, the consolidated balance sheets of the Parent and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such quarterly accounting period
and the related consolidated statements of operations and cash flows, in each case for such quarterly accounting period and for the
elapsed portion of the fiscal year ended with the last day of such quarterly accounting period, and in each case, setting forth
comparative figures for the related periods in the prior fiscal year, all of which shall be certified by a financial officer of the Borrower,
subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes;
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( b )
Annual Financial Statements. Within 120 days after the close of each fiscal year of the Parent, the
consolidated balance sheets of the Parent and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such fiscal year and the related consolidated statements of
operations and changes in shareholders’ equity and of cash flows for such fiscal year setting forth comparative figures for the preceding
fiscal year and audited by independent certified public accountants of recognized international standing, together with an opinion of
such accounting firm (which opinion shall not be qualified as to scope of audit or as to the status of the Parent as a going concern) to
the effect that such consolidated financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position and results of
operations of the Parent and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP;
(c)
Valuations. After the Delivery Date, together with delivery of the financial statements described in Section
9.01(b) for each fiscal year, and at any other time within 15 days of a written request from the Facility Agent, an appraisal report of
recent date (but in no event earlier than 90 days before the delivery of such reports) from an Approved Appraiser or such other
independent firm of shipbrokers or shipvaluers nominated by the Borrower and approved by the Facility Agent (acting on the
instructions of the Required Lenders) or failing such nomination and approval, appointed by the Facility Agent (acting on such
instructions) in its sole discretion (each such valuation and any other valuation obtained pursuant to this Section 9.01(c) shall be made
without, unless reasonably required by the Facility Agent, physical inspection and on the basis of a sale for prompt delivery for cash at
arm’s length on normal commercial terms as between a willing buyer and a willing seller without taking into account the benefit of any
charterparty or other engagement concerning the Vessel), stating the then current fair market value of the Vessel. The appraisal
obtained pursuant to the above provisions shall be treated as the fair market value of the Vessel for that period unless the Facility
Agent (acting on the instructions of the Required Lenders) notifies the Borrower within 15 days of the receipt of this appraisal that it is
not satisfied that such appraisal appropriately reflects the fair market value of the Vessel, in which case the Facility Agent shall be
entitled to request that the Borrower obtains a second valuation from an Approved Appraiser, such second valuation to be obtained
within 15 days of the receipt of the request for the same. Where any such second valuation is so requested, the fair market value of the
Vessel shall be determined on the basis of the average of the two appraisals so obtained. All such appraisals shall be conducted by,
and made at the expense of, the Borrower (it being understood that the Facility Agent may and, at the request of the Lenders, shall,
upon prior written notice to the Borrower (which notice shall identify the names of the relevant appraisal firms), obtain such appraisals
and that the cost of all such appraisals will be for the account of the Borrower); provided that, unless an Event of Default shall then be
continuing, in no event shall the Borrower be required to pay for appraisal reports from one or, if applicable, two appraisers on more
than one occasion in any fiscal year of the Borrower, with the cost of any such reports in excess thereof to be paid by the Lenders on a
pro rata basis;
(d)
Filings. Promptly, copies of all financial information, proxy materials and other information and reports, if
any, which the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries shall file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (or any successor thereto);
(e)
Projections. (i) As soon as practicable (and in any event within 120 days after the close of each fiscal year),
commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2014, annual cash flow projections on a consolidated basis of the NCLC Group
showing on a monthly
66

basis advance ticket sales (for at least 12 months following the date of such statement) for the NCLC Group;
(ii)

As soon as practicable (and in any event not later than January 31 of each fiscal year):
(x)

a budget for the NCLC Group for such new fiscal year including a 12 month liquidity budget for such
new fiscal year;

(y)

updated financial projections of the NCLC Group for at least the next five years (including an income
statement and quarterly break downs for the first of those five years); and

(z)

an outline of the assumptions supporting such budget and financial projections including but without
limitation any scheduled drydockings;

(f)
Officer’s Compliance Certificates. As soon as practicable (and in any event within 60 days after the close of
each of the first three quarters of its fiscal year and within 120 days after the close of each fiscal year), a statement signed by one of the
Parent’s financial officers substantially in the form of Exhibit M (commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2014) and
such other information as the Facility Agent may reasonably request;
(g)
Litigation. On a quarterly basis, details of any material litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings
affecting any Credit Party which are instituted and served, or, to the knowledge of the Parent or the Borrower, threatened (and for this
purpose proceedings shall be deemed to be material if they involve a claim in an amount exceeding $25,000,000 or the equivalent in
another currency);
(h)
Notice of Event of Default. Promptly upon (i) any Credit Party becoming aware thereof (and in any event
within three Business Days), notification of the occurrence of any Event of Default and (ii) the Facility Agent’s request from time to
time, a certificate stating whether any Credit Party is aware of the occurrence of any Event of Default;
( i )
Status of Foreign Exchange Arrangements . Promptly upon reasonable request from the Lead Arrangers
through the Facility Agent, an update on the status of the Parent and the Borrower’s foreign exchange arrangements with respect to the
Vessel and this Agreement; and
( j )
Other Information. Promptly, such further information in its possession or control regarding its financial
condition and operations and those of any company in the NCLC Group as the Facility Agent may reasonably request.
All accounts required under this Section 9.01 shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP and shall fairly represent in
all material respects the financial condition of the relevant company.
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9.02 Books and Records; Inspection. The Parent will keep, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to keep, proper
books of record and account in all material respects, in which materially proper and correct entries shall be made of all financial
transactions and the assets, liabilities and business of the Parent and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP. The Parent will, and
will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, permit officers and designated representatives of the Facility Agent at the reasonable request of
any Lead Arranger to visit and inspect, under guidance of officers of the Parent or such Subsidiary, any of the properties of the Parent
or such Subsidiary, and to examine the books of account of the Parent or such Subsidiary and discuss the affairs, finances and accounts
of the Parent or such Subsidiary with, and be advised as to the same by, its and their officers and independent accountants, all upon
reasonable prior notice and at such reasonable times and intervals and to such reasonable extent as the Facility Agent at the reasonable
request of any such Lead Arranger may reasonably request.
9.03 Maintenance of Property; Insurance. The Parent will (x) keep, and will procure that each of its Subsidiaries
keeps, all of its real property and assets properly maintained and in existence and will comprehensively insure, and will procure that
each of its Subsidiaries comprehensively insures, for such amounts and of such types as would be effected by prudent companies
carrying on business similar to the Parent or its Subsidiaries (as the case may be) and (y) as of the Delivery Date, maintain (or cause
the Borrower to maintain) insurance (including, without limitation, hull and machinery, war risks, loss of hire (if applicable),
protection and indemnity insurance as set forth on Schedule 9.03 (the “Required Insurance”) with respect to the Vessel at all times .
9.04 Corporate Franchises. The Parent will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, do all such things as are
necessary to maintain its corporate existence (except as permitted by Section 10.02) in good standing and will ensure that it has the
right and is duly qualified to conduct its business as it is conducted in all applicable jurisdictions and will obtain and maintain all
franchises and rights necessary for the conduct of its business, except, in the case of Subsidiaries that are not Credit Parties, to the
extent that a failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
9.05 Compliance with Statutes, etc. The Parent will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply with all
applicable statutes, regulations and orders of, and all applicable restrictions (including all laws and regulations relating to money
laundering) imposed by, all governmental bodies, domestic or foreign, in respect of the conduct of its business and the ownership of its
property, except such non-compliances as could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
9.06 Hermes Cover. (a) The terms and conditions of the Hermes Cover are incorporated herein and in so far as they
impose terms, conditions and/or obligations on the Collateral Agent and/or the Facility Agent and/or the Hermes Agent and/or the
Lenders in relation to the Borrower or any other Credit Party then such terms, conditions and obligations are binding on the parties
hereto and further in the event of any conflict between the terms of the Hermes Cover and the terms hereof the terms of the Hermes
Cover shall be paramount and prevail. For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Parent nor the Borrower has any interest or entitlement
in the proceeds of the Hermes Cover. In particular, but without limitation, the
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Borrower shall pay any difference between the amount of the Loans drawn to pay the Hermes Premium, and the Hermes Premium.
(b)

The Borrower shall at all times promptly pay all due and owing Hermes Premium.

9 . 0 7 End of Fiscal Years.

The Parent and the Borrower will maintain their fiscal year ends as in effect on the

Effective Date.
9 . 0 8 Performance of Credit Document Obligations. The Parent will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to,
perform all of its obligations under the terms of each mortgage, indenture, security agreement and other debt instrument (including,
without limitation, the Credit Documents) by which it is bound, except such non-performances as could not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
9 . 0 9 Payment of Taxes. The Parent will pay and discharge, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to pay and
discharge, all material taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its income or profits, or upon
any properties belonging to it, in each case on a timely basis, and all lawful claims which, if unpaid, might become a Lien not
otherwise permitted under Section 10.01, provided that neither the Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to pay any such
tax, assessment, charge, levy or claim which is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings if it has maintained adequate
reserves with respect thereto in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
9.10 Further Assurances. (a) The Borrower will, from time to time on being required to do so by the Facility Agent
or the Hermes Agent, do or procure the doing of all such acts and/or execute or procure the execution of all such documents in a form
reasonably satisfactory to the Facility Agent or the Hermes Agent (as the case may be) as the Facility Agent or the Hermes Agent may
reasonably consider necessary for giving full effect to any of the Credit Documents or securing to the Agents and/or the Lenders or any
of them the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon the Agents and/or the Lenders or any of them in any such
Credit Document.
(b)
The Borrower hereby authorizes the Collateral Agent to file one or more financing or continuation statements
under the UCC (or any non-U.S. equivalent thereto), and amendments thereto, relative to all or any part of the Collateral without the
signature of the Borrower, where permitted by law. The Collateral Agent will promptly send the Borrower a copy of any financing or
continuation statements which it may file without the signature of the Borrower and the filing or recordation information with respect
thereto.
(c)
The Parent will cause each Subsidiary of the Parent which owns any direct interest in the Borrower promptly
following such Subsidiary’s acquisition of such interest, to execute and deliver a counterpart to the Share Charge and, in connection
therewith, promptly execute and deliver all further instruments, and take all further action, that the Facility Agent may reasonably
require (including, without limitation, the provision of officers’ certificates,
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resolutions, good standing certificates and opinions of counsel, in each case to the reasonable satisfaction of the Facility Agent).
(d)
If at any time the Borrower shall enter into a Supervision Agreement pursuant to the Construction Contract,
the Borrower shall, substantially simultaneously therewith, duly authorize, execute and deliver a valid and effective first-priority legal
assignment in favor of the Collateral Agent of all of the Borrower’s present and future interests in and benefits under such Supervision
Agreement, which such assignment shall be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Facility Agent, and customary for this
type of transaction.
9.11 Ownership of Subsidiaries. Other than “director qualifying shares” and similar requirements, the Parent shall at
all times directly or indirectly own 100% of the Capital Stock or other Equity Interests of the Borrower (except as permitted by Section
10.02).
9.12 Consents and Registrations. The Parent and the Borrower shall obtain (and shall, at the request of the Facility
Agent, promptly furnish certified copies to the Facility Agent of) all such authorizations, approvals, consents, licenses and exemptions
as may be required under any applicable law or regulation to enable it or any Credit Party to perform its obligations under, and ensure
the validity or enforceability of, each of the Credit Documents and shall ensure that the same are promptly renewed from time to time
and will also procure that the terms of the same are complied with at all times. Insofar as such filings or registrations have not been
completed on or before the Initial Borrowing Date, the Borrower will procure the filing or registration within applicable time limits of
each Security Document which requires filing or registration together with all ancillary documents required to preserve the priority and
enforceability of the Security Documents.
9.13 Flag of Vessel. (a) The Borrower shall cause the Vessel to be registered under the laws and flag of the Bahamas
or, provided that the requirements of a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer are satisfied, another Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Borrower may transfer the Vessel to an Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction pursuant to the requirements set forth in the
definition of “Flag Jurisdiction Transfer”.
(b)
Except as permitted by Section 10.02, the Borrower will own the Vessel and will procure that the Vessel is
traded within the NCLC Fleet from the Delivery Date until the Maturity Date.
(c)
crewing of the Vessel.

The Borrower will at all times engage a Manager to provide the commercial and technical management and

9.14 “Know Your Customer” and Other Similar Information. The Parent will, and will cause the Credit Parties, to
provide (i) the “Know Your Customer” information required pursuant to the PATRIOT Act and applicable money laundering
provisions and (ii) such other documentation and evidence necessary in order for the Lenders to carry out and be reasonably satisfied
with other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the Transaction and the Hermes Cover, in each case as
requested by the Facility Agent, the Hermes Agent or any Lender in connection with each of the Facility Agent’s, the Hermes Agent’s
and each Lender’s internal compliance regulations.
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SECTION 10. Negative Covenants. The Parent and the Borrower hereby covenant and agree that on and after the
Initial Borrowing Date and until all Commitments have terminated and the Loans, together with interest, Commitment Commission
and all other Credit Document Obligations incurred hereunder and thereunder, are paid in full (other than contingent indemnification
and expense reimbursement claims for which no claim has been made):
10.01 Liens. The Parent will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist
any Lien upon or with respect to any Collateral, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or sell any such Collateral subject to an
understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such Collateral (including sales of accounts receivable with
recourse to the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries); provided that the provisions of this Section 10.01 shall not prevent the creation,
incurrence, assumption or existence of the following (Liens described below are herein referred to as “Permitted Liens”):
(i)
inchoate Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies not yet due and payable or Liens for
taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings for which
adequate reserves have been established in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(ii)
Liens imposed by law, which were incurred in the ordinary course of business and do not secure Indebtedness
for Borrowed Money, such as carriers’, warehousemen’s, materialmen’s and mechanics’ liens and other similar Liens arising in
the ordinary course of business, and (x) which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the Collateral and do
not materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of the Parent or such Subsidiary or (y) which are being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings (or orders entered in connection with such proceedings)
have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the Collateral subject to any such Lien;
(iii)
Liens in existence on the Effective Date which are listed, and the property subject thereto described, in Schedule
10.01, without giving effect to any renewals or extensions of such Liens, provided that the aggregate principal amount of the
Indebtedness, if any, secured by such Liens does not increase from that amount outstanding on the Effective Date, less any
repayments of principal thereof;
(iv)
Liens created pursuant to the Security Documents including, without limitation, Liens created in relation to any
Interest Rate Protection Agreement or Other Hedging Agreement;
(v)
Liens arising out of judgments, awards, decrees or attachments with respect to which the Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries shall in good faith be prosecuting an appeal or proceedings for review, provided that the aggregate amount of all
such judgments, awards, decrees or attachments shall not constitute an Event of Default under Section 11.09;
71

(vi)
Liens in respect of seamen’s wages which are not past due and other maritime Liens arising in the ordinary
course of business up to an aggregate amount of $10,000,000;
(vii)

[Intentionally omitted]

(vii) Liens which rank after the Liens created by the Security Documents to secure the performance of bids, tenders,
bonds or contracts; provided that (a) such bids, tenders, bonds or contracts directly relate to the Vessel, are incurred in the
ordinary course of business and do not relate to the incurrence of Indebtedness for Borrowed Money, and (b) at any time
outstanding, the aggregate amount of Liens under this clause (vii) shall not secure greater than $25,000,000 of obligations.
In connection with the granting of Liens described above in this Section 10.01 by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, the Facility
Agent and the Collateral Agent shall be authorized to take any actions deemed appropriate by it in connection therewith (including,
without limitation, by executing appropriate lien subordination agreements in favor of the holder or holders of such Liens, in respect of
the item or items of equipment or other assets subject to such Liens).
10.02 Consolidation, Merger, Amalgamation, Sale of Assets, Acquisitions, etc. (a) The Parent will not, and will not
permit any of its Subsidiaries to, wind up, liquidate or dissolve its affairs or enter into any transaction of merger, amalgamation or
consolidation, or convey, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its property or assets, or make any Acquisitions,
except that:
(i)
any Subsidiary of the Parent (other than the Borrower) may merge, amalgamate or consolidate with and into, or
be dissolved or liquidated into, the Parent or other Subsidiary of the Parent (other than the Borrower), so long as (x) in the case
of any such merger, amalgamation, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation involving the Parent, the Parent is the surviving or
continuing entity of any such merger, amalgamation, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation and (y) any security interests
granted to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Creditors pursuant to the Security Documents in the assets of such
Subsidiary shall remain in full force and effect and perfected (to at least the same extent as in effect immediately prior to such
merger, amalgamation, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation) and all actions required to maintain said perfected status have
been taken;
(ii)
the Parent and any Subsidiary of the Parent may make dispositions of assets so long as such disposition is
permitted pursuant to Section 10.02(b);
(iii)
the Parent and any Subsidiary of the Parent (other than the Borrower) may make Acquisitions; provided that (x)
the Parent provides evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Required Lenders that the Parent will be in compliance with the
financial undertakings contained in Sections 10.06 to 10.09 after giving effect to such Acquisition on a pro forma basis and (y)
no Default or Event of Default will exist after giving effect to such Acquisition; and
72

(iv)

the Parent and any Subsidiary of the Parent (other than the Borrower) may establish new Subsidiaries.

(b)
The Parent will not, and will not permit any other company in the NCLC Group to, either in a single
transaction or in a series of transactions whether related or not and whether voluntarily or involuntarily, sell, transfer, lease or
otherwise dispose of all or a substantial part of its assets except that the following disposals shall not be taken into account:
(i)
dispositions made in the ordinary course of trading of the disposing entity (excluding a disposition of the
Vessel or other Collateral) including without limitation, the payment of cash as consideration for the purchase or acquisition of
any asset or service or in the discharge of any obligation incurred for value in the ordinary course of trading;
(ii)

dispositions of cash raised or borrowed for the purposes for which such cash was raised or borrowed;

(iii)
dispositions of assets (other than the Vessel or other Collateral) owned by any member of the NCLC
Group in exchange for other assets comparable or superior as to type and value;
(iv)
a vessel (other than the Vessel or other Collateral) or any other asset owned by any member of the
NCLC Group (other than the Borrower) may be sold, provided such sale is on a willing seller willing buyer basis at or about
market rate and at arm’s length subject always to the provisions of any loan documentation for the financing of such vessel or
other asset;
(v)
the Credit Parties may sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the Vessel or sell 100% of the Capital Stock of
the Borrower, provided that such sale is made at fair market value, the Total Commitments are permanently reduced to $0, and
the Loans are repaid in full; and
(vi)

Permitted Chartering Arrangements.

10.03 Dividends. (a) The Parent shall be entitled at any time to authorize, declare or pay any Dividends provided no
Default is continuing or would occur as a result of the authorization, declaration or payment of any such Dividend at such time;
provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parent may pay Dividends (i) to persons responsible for paying the tax liability in
respect of consolidated, combined, unitary or affiliated tax returns for each relevant jurisdiction of the NCLC Group, or (ii) to holders
of the Parent’s Capital Stock with respect to income taxable as a result of member of the NCLC Group being taxed as a pass-through
entity for U.S. Federal, state and local income tax purposes or attributable to any member of the NCLC Group.
(b)
Sub-clause (a) above does not apply to Subsidiaries of the Parent, who may therefore authorize, declare and
pay Dividends to another member of the NCLC Group regardless of whether a Default exists at such time.
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10.04 Advances, Investments and Loans. The Parent will not, and will not permit any other member of the NCLC
Group to, purchase or acquire any margin stock (or other Equity Interests) or any other asset, or make any capital contribution to or
other investment in any other Person (each of the foregoing an “Investment” and, collectively, “ Investments”), in each case either in a
single transaction or in a series of transactions (whether related or not), except that the following shall be permitted:
(i)

Investments on arm’s length terms;

(ii)

Investments for its use in its ordinary course of business;

(iii)

Investments the cost of which is less than or equal to its fair market value at the date of acquisition; and

(iv)

Investments permitted by Section 10.02.

10.05 Transactions with Affiliates. (a) The Parent will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or
indirectly, make any payment to, or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets to, or purchase any
property or assets from, or enter into or make or amend any transaction or series of transactions, contract, agreement, understanding,
loan, advance or guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of such Person (each of the foregoing, an “Affiliate Transaction ”)
involving aggregate consideration in excess of $10,000,000, unless such Affiliate Transaction is on terms that are not materially less
favorable to the Parent or any Subsidiary of the Parent than those that could have been obtained in a comparable transaction by such
Person with an unrelated Person.
(b)

The provisions of Section 10.05(a) shall not apply to the following:

(i)
transactions between or among the Parent and/or any Subsidiary of the Parent (or an entity that becomes
a Subsidiary of the Parent as a result of such transaction) and any merger, consolidation or amalgamation of the Parent or
any Subsidiary of the Parent and any direct parent of the Parent, any Subsidiary of the Parent or, in the case of a Subsidiary
of the Parent, the Parent; provided that such parent shall have no material liabilities and no material assets other than cash,
Cash Equivalents and the Capital Stock of the Parent or such Subsidiary of the Parent, as the case may be, and such merger,
consolidation or amalgamation is otherwise in compliance with the terms of this Agreement and effected for a bona fide
business purpose;
(ii)

Dividends permitted by Section 10.03 and Investments permitted by Section 10.04;

(iii)
the payment of reasonable and customary fees and reimbursement of expenses paid to, and indemnity
provided on behalf of, officers, directors, employees or consultants of the Parent or any Subsidiary of the Parent, any direct
or indirect parent of the Parent;
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(iv)
payments by the Parent or any Subsidiary of the Parent to a Permitted Holder made for any financial
advisory, financing, underwriting or placement services or in respect of other investment banking activities, including,
without limitation, in connection with acquisitions or divestitures, which payments are approved by a majority of the board
of directors of the Parent in good faith;
(v)
any agreement to pay, and the payment of, monitoring, management, transaction, advisory or similar fees
(A) in an aggregate amount in any fiscal year not to exceed the sum of (1) the greater of (i) 1% of Consolidated EBITDA of
the Parent and (ii) $9,000,000, plus reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses in connection therewith and unpaid amounts
accrued for prior periods; plus (2) any deferred fees (to the extent such fees were within such amount in clause (A)(1) above
originally), plus (B) 2.0% of the value of transactions with respect to which an Affiliate provides any transaction, advisory or
other services;
(vi)
transactions in which the Parent or any Subsidiary of the Parent, as the case may be, delivers to the
Facility Agent a letter from an independent financial advisor stating that such transaction is fair to the Parent or any
Subsidiary of the Parent, as the case may be, from a financial point of view or meets the requirements of Section 10.05(a);
(vii)
payments or loans (or cancellation of loans) to officers, directors, employees or consultants which are
approved by a majority of the board of directors of the Parent in good faith;
(viii)
any agreement as in effect as of the Effective Date or any amendment thereto (so long as any such
agreement together with all amendments thereto, taken as a whole, is not more disadvantageous to the Lenders in any
material respect than the original agreement as in effect on the Effective Date) or any transaction contemplated thereby as
determined in good faith by the Parent;
(ix)
(A) transactions with customers, clients, suppliers or purchasers or sellers of goods or services, or
transactions otherwise relating to the purchase or sale of goods or services, in each case in the ordinary course of business
and otherwise in compliance with the terms of this Agreement, which are fair to the Parent and its Subsidiaries in the
reasonable determination of the Board of Directors or the senior management of the Parent, or are on terms at least as
favorable as might reasonably have been obtained at such time from an unaffiliated party or (B) transactions with joint
ventures or Subsidiaries of the Parent entered into in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice or
industry norm;
(x)

the issuance of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Parent to any Person;

(xi)
the issuances of securities or other payments, awards or grants in cash, securities or otherwise pursuant to,
or the funding of, employment arrangements, stock option and stock ownership plans or similar employee benefit
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plans approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent or any direct or indirect parent of the Issuer or of a Subsidiary of the
Parent, as appropriate, in good faith;
(xii)

any contribution to the capital of the Parent;

(xiii) transactions between the Parent or any Subsidiary of the Parent and any Person, a director of which is
also a director of the Parent or a Subsidiary of the Parent or any direct or indirect parent of the Parent; provided, however,
that such director abstains from voting as a director of the Parent or a Subsidiary of the Parent or such direct or indirect
parent, as the case may be, on any matter involving such other Person;
(xiv)

pledges of Equity Interests of Subsidiaries of the Parent (other than the Borrower);

(xv)
the formation and maintenance of any consolidated group or subgroup for tax, accounting or cash
pooling or management purposes in the ordinary course of business;
(xvi) any employment agreements entered into by the Parent or any Subsidiary of the Parent in the ordinary
course of business; and
(xvii) transactions undertaken in good faith (as certified by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the
Parent in an officer’s certificate) for the purpose of improving the consolidated tax efficiency of the Parent and its
Subsidiaries and not for the purpose of circumventing any provision set forth in this Agreement.
10.06 Free Liquidity. The Parent will not permit the Free Liquidity to be less than $50,000,000 at any time.
10.07 Total Net Funded Debt to Total Capitalization. The Parent will not permit the ratio of Total Net Funded Debt to
Total Capitalization to be greater than 0.70:1.00 at any time.
10.08 Collateral Maintenance. The Borrower will not permit the Appraised Value of the Vessel (such value, the
“Vessel Value”) to be less than 125% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Loans at such time; provided that, so long as
any non-compliance in respect of this Section 10.08 is not caused by a voluntary Collateral Disposition, such non-compliance shall not
constitute a Default or an Event of Default so long as within 10 Business Days of the occurrence of such default, the Borrower shall
either (i) post additional collateral reasonably satisfactory to the Required Lenders in favor of the Collateral Agent (it being understood
that cash collateral comprised of Dollars is satisfactory and that it shall be valued at par), pursuant to security documentation
reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Collateral Agent and the Lead Arrangers, in an aggregate amount sufficient to cure
such non-compliance (and shall at all times during such period and prior to satisfactory completion thereof, be diligently carrying out
such actions) or (ii) repay Loans in an amount sufficient to cure such non-compliance; provided, further, that, subject to the last
sentence in Section 9.01(c), the covenant in this Section 10.08 shall be tested no more than once per
76

calendar year beginning with the first calendar year end to occur after the Delivery Date in the absence of the occurrence of an Event
of Default which is continuing.
10.09 Consolidated EBITDA to Consolidated Debt Service. The Parent will not permit the ratio of Consolidated
EBITDA to Consolidated Debt Service for the NCLC Group at the end of any fiscal quarter, computed for the period of the four
consecutive fiscal quarters ending as at the end of the relevant fiscal quarter, to be less than 1.25:1.00 unless the Free Liquidity of the
NCLC Group at all times during such period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending as at the end of such fiscal quarter was equal to
or greater than $100,000,000.
10.10 Business; Change of Name. The Parent will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, change its name,
change its address as indicated on Schedule 14.03A to an address outside the State of Florida, or make or threaten to make any
substantial change in its business as presently conducted or cease to perform its current business activities or carry on any other
business which is substantial in relation to its business as presently conducted if doing so would imperil the security created by any of
the Security Documents or affect the ability of the Parent or its Subsidiaries to duly perform its obligations under any Credit Document
to which it is or may be a party from time to time (it being understood that name changes and changes of address to an address outside
the State of Florida shall be permitted so long as new, relevant Security Documents are executed and delivered (and if necessary,
recorded) in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent), in each case in the reasonable opinion of the Facility Agent;
provided that any new leisure or hospitality venture embarked upon by any member of the NCLC Group (other than the Parent) shall
not constitute a substantial change in its business.
10.11 Subordination of Indebtedness. Other than the Sky Vessel Indebtedness, (i) the Parent shall procure that any
and all of its Indebtedness with any other Credit Party and/or any shareholder of the Parent is at all times fully subordinated to the
Credit Document Obligations and (ii) the Parent shall not make or permit to be made any repayments of principal, payments of interest
or of any other costs, fees, expenses or liabilities arising from or representing Indebtedness with any shareholder of the Parent. Upon
the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Parent shall not make any repayments of principal, payments of interest or of any other
costs, fees, expenses or liabilities arising from or representing Indebtedness with any other Credit Party (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, the Sky Vessel Indebtedness); provided that, notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement to the contrary, the consent of
the Lenders will be required for any (I) prepayment of the Sky Vessel Indebtedness in advance of the scheduled repayments set forth in
the memorandum of agreement referred to in the definition of Sky Vessel Indebtedness and (II) amendment to the memorandum of
agreement referred to in the definition of Sky Vessel Indebtedness to the extent that such amendment involves a material change to
terms of the financing arrangements set forth therein that is adverse to the interests of either the Parent or the Lenders (including,
without limitation, any change that is adverse to the interests of either the Parent or the Lenders (i) in the timing and/or schedule of
repayment applicable to such financing arrangements by more than five Business Days or (ii) in the interest rate applicable to such
financing arrangements).
10.12 Activities of Borrower, etc. The Parent will not permit the Borrower to, and the Borrower will not:
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(i)
issue or enter into any guarantee or indemnity or otherwise become directly or contingently liable for the
obligations of any other Person, other than in the ordinary course of its business as owner of the Vessel;
(ii)
incur any Indebtedness other than under the Credit Documents or other than in the ordinary course of its business
as owner of the Vessel; and
(iii)
engage in any business or own any significant assets or have any material liabilities other than (i) its ownership
of the Vessel and (ii) those liabilities which it is responsible for under this Agreement and the other Credit Documents to which
it is a party, provided that the Borrower may also engage in those activities that are incidental to (x) the maintenance of its
existence in compliance with applicable law and (y) legal, tax and accounting matters in connection with any of the foregoing
activities.
10.13 Material Amendments or Modifications of Construction Contracts. The Parent will not, and will not permit any
of its Subsidiaries to, make any material amendments, modifications or changes to any term or provision of the Construction Contract
that would amend, modify or change (i) the purpose of the Vessel or (ii) the Initial Construction Price in excess of 7.5% in the
aggregate, in each case unless such amendment, modification or change is approved in advance by the Facility Agent and the Hermes
Agent and the same could not reasonably be expected to be adverse to the interests of the Lenders or the Hermes Cover.
10.14 No Place of Business. None of the Credit Parties shall establish a place of business in the United Kingdom or
the United States of America, with the exception of those places of business already in existence on the Effective Date, unless prompt
notice thereof is given to the Facility Agent and the requirements set forth in Section 9.10 have been satisfied.
SECTION 11. Events of Default.Upon the occurrence of any of the following specified events (each an “Event of
Default”):
11.01 Payments. The Borrower or any other Credit Party does not pay on the due date any amount of principal or
interest on any Loan (provided, however, that if any such amount is not paid when due solely by reason of some error or omission on
the part of the bank or banks through whom the relevant funds are being transmitted no Event of Default shall occur for the purposes of
this Section 11.01 until the expiry of three Business Days following the date on which such payment is due) or, within three days of
the due date any other amount, payable by it under any Credit Document to which it may at any time be a party, at the place and in the
currency in which it is expressed to be payable; or
11.02 Representations, etc. Any representation, warranty or statement made or repeated in, or in connection with, any
Credit Document or in any accounts, certificate, statement or opinion delivered by or on behalf of any Credit Party thereunder or in
connection therewith is materially incorrect when made or would, if repeated at any time hereafter by reference to the facts subsisting
at such time, no longer be materially correct; or
11.03 Covenants. Any Credit Party shall (i) default in the due performance or observance by it of any term, covenant
or agreement contained in Section 9.01(h), Section 9.06, Section 9.11, or Section 10 or (ii) default in the due performance or
observance by it of any
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other term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any other Credit Document and, in the case of this clause (ii), such
default shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after written notice to the Borrower by the Facility Agent or any of the
Lenders; or
11.04 Default Under Other Agreements. (a) Any event of default occurs under any financial contract or financial
document relating to any Indebtedness of any member of the NCLC Group;
(b)
Any such Indebtedness or any sum payable in respect thereof is not paid when due (after the expiry of any
applicable grace period(s)) whether by acceleration or otherwise;
(c)

Any Lien over any assets of any member of the NCLC Group becomes enforceable; or

(d)
Any other Indebtedness of any member of the NCLC Group is not paid when due or is or becomes capable of
being declared due prematurely by reason of default or any security for the same becomes enforceable by reason of default,
provided that:
(i)
it shall not be a Default or Event of Default under this Section 11.04 unless the principal amount of the relevant
Indebtedness as described in preceding clauses (a) through (d), inclusive, exceeds $15,000,000;
(ii)
no Event of Default will arise under clauses (a), (c) and/or (d) until the earlier of (x) 30 days following the
occurrence of the related event of default, Lien becoming enforceable or Indebtedness becoming capable of being declared due
prematurely, as the case may be, and (y) the acceleration of the relevant Indebtedness or the enforcement of the relevant Lien; and
(iii)
if at any time hereafter the Parent or any other member of the NCLC Group agrees to the incorporation of a
cross default provision into any financial contract or financial document relating to any Indebtedness that is more onerous than this
Section 11.04, then the Parent shall immediately notify the Facility Agent and that cross default provision shall be deemed to apply to
this Agreement as if set out in full herein with effect from the date of such financial contract or financial document and during the term
of that financial contract or financial document; or
11.05 Bankruptcy, etc. (a) Other than as expressly permitted in Section 10, any order is made or an effective
resolution passed or other action taken for the suspension of payments or dissolution, termination of existence, liquidation, winding‑up
or bankruptcy of any member of the NCLC Group; or
(b)
Any member of the NCLC Group shall commence a voluntary case concerning itself under Title 11 of the
United States Code entitled “Bankruptcy,” as now or hereafter in effect, or any successor thereto (the “Bankruptcy Code”); or an
involuntary case is commenced against any member of the NCLC Group, and the petition is not dismissed within 45
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days after the filing thereof, provided, however, that during the pendency of such period, each Lender shall be relieved of its
obligation to extend credit hereunder; or a custodian (as defined in the Bankruptcy Code) is appointed for, or takes charge of, all or
substantially all of the property of any member of the NCLC Group, to operate all or any substantial portion of the business of any
member of the NCLC Group, or any member of the NCLC Group commences any other proceeding under any reorganization,
arrangement, adjustment of debt, relief of debtors, dissolution, insolvency or liquidation or similar law of any jurisdiction whether now
or hereafter in effect relating to any member of the NCLC Group, or there is commenced against any member of the NCLC Group any
such proceeding which remains undismissed for a period of 45 days after the filing thereof, or any member of the NCLC Group is
adjudicated insolvent or bankrupt; or any order of relief or other order approving any such case or proceeding is entered; or any
member of the NCLC Group makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; or any Company action is taken by any member
of the NCLC Group for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or
(c)
A liquidator (subject to Section 11.05(e)), trustee, administrator, receiver, manager or similar officer is
appointed in respect of any member of the NCLC Group or in respect of all or any substantial part of the assets of any member of the
NCLC Group and in any such case such appointment is not withdrawn within 30 days (in this Section 11.05, the “Grace Period”)
unless the Facility Agent considers in its sole discretion that the interest of the Lenders and/or the Agents might reasonably be expected
to be adversely affected in which event the Grace Period shall not apply; or
( d )
Any member of the NCLC Group becomes or is declared insolvent or is unable, or admits in writing its
inability, to pay its debts as they fall due or becomes insolvent within the terms of any applicable law; or
(e)
Anything analogous to or having a substantially similar effect to any of the events specified in this Section
11.05 shall have occurred under the laws of any applicable jurisdiction (subject to the analogous grace periods set forth herein); or
11.06 Total Loss. An Event of Loss shall occur resulting in the actual or constructive total loss of the Vessel or the
agreed or compromised total loss of the Vessel and the proceeds of the insurance in respect thereof shall not have been received within
150 days of the event giving rise to such Event of Loss; or
11.07 Security Documents. At any time after the execution and delivery thereof, any of the Security Documents shall
cease to be in full force and effect, or shall cease to give the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Creditors the Liens, rights,
powers and privileges purported to be created thereby (including, without limitation, a perfected security interest in, and Lien on, all of
the material Collateral), in favor of the Collateral Agent, superior to and prior to the rights of all third Persons (except in connection
with Permitted Liens), and subject to no other Liens (except Permitted Liens), or any “event of default” (as defined in the Vessel
Mortgage) shall occur in respect of the Vessel Mortgage; or
11.08 Guaranties. (a) The Parent Guaranty, or any provision thereof, shall cease to be in full force or effect as to the
Parent, or the Parent (or any Person acting by or on
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behalf of the Parent) shall deny or disaffirm the Parent’s obligations under the Parent Guaranty; or
(b)
After the execution and delivery thereof, the Hermes Cover, or any material provision thereof, shall cease to be
in full force or effect, or Hermes (or any Person acting by or on behalf of the Parent or the Hermes Agent) shall deny or disaffirm
Hermes’ obligations under the Hermes Cover; or
11.09 Judgments. Any distress, execution, attachment or other process affects the whole or any substantial part of the
assets of any member of the NCLC Group and remains undischarged for a period of 21 days or any uninsured judgment in excess of
$15,000,000 following final appeal remains unsatisfied for a period of 30 days in the case of a judgment made in the United States and
otherwise for a period of 60 days; or
11.10 Cessation of Business. Subject to Section 10.02, any member of the NCLC Group shall cease to carry on all or
a substantial part of its business; or
11 . 11 Revocation of Consents. Any authorization, approval, consent, license, exemption, filing, registration or
notarization or other requirement necessary to enable any Credit Party to comply with any of its obligations under any of the Credit
Documents to which it is a party shall have been materially adversely modified, revoked or withheld or shall not remain in full force
and effect and within 90 days of the date of its occurrence such event is not remedied to the satisfaction of the Required Lenders and
the Required Lenders consider in their sole discretion that such failure is or might be expected to become materially prejudicial to the
interests, rights or position of the Agents and the Lenders or any of them; provided that the Borrower shall not be entitled to the
aforesaid 90 day period if the modification, revocation or withholding of the authorization, approval or consent is due to an act or
omission of any Credit Party and the Required Lenders are satisfied in their sole discretion that the interests of the Agents or the
Lenders might reasonably be expected to be materially adversely affected; or
11.12 Unlawfulness. At any time it is unlawful or impossible for:
(i)
(ii)
Documents;

any Credit Party to perform any of its obligations under any Credit Document to which it is a party; or
the Agents or the Lenders, as applicable, to exercise any of their rights under any of the Credit

provided that no Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred (x) (except where the unlawfulness or impossibility adversely
affects any Credit Party’s payment obligations under this Agreement and/or the other Credit Documents (the determination of which
shall be in the Facility Agent’s sole discretion) in which case the following provisions of this Section 11.12 shall not apply) where the
unlawfulness or impossibility prevents any Credit Party from performing its obligations (other than its payment obligations under this
Agreement and the other Credit Documents) and is cured within a period of 21 days of the occurrence of the event giving rise to the
unlawfulness or impossibility and the relevant Credit Party, within the aforesaid period, performs its obligation(s), and (y) where the
Facility Agent and/or the Lenders, as applicable, could, in its or their sole discretion, mitigate the consequences of unlawfulness or
81

impossibility in the manner described in Section 2.11(a) (it being understood that the costs of mitigation shall be determined in
accordance with Section 2.11(a)); or
11.13 Insurances. The Borrower shall have failed to insure the Vessel in the manner specified in this Agreement or
failed to renew the Required Insurance prior to the date of expiry thereof; or
11.14 Disposals. The Borrower or any other member of the NCLC Group shall have concealed, removed, or permitted
to be concealed or removed, any part of its property, with intent to hinder, delay or defraud its creditors or any of them, or made or
suffered a transfer of any of its property which may be fraudulent under any bankruptcy, fraudulent conveyance or similar law; or shall
have made any transfer of its property to or for the benefit of a creditor with the intention of preferring such creditor over any other
creditor; or
11.15 Government Intervention. The authority of any member of the NCLC Group in the conduct of its business shall
be wholly or substantially curtailed by any seizure or intervention by or on behalf of any authority and within 90 days of the date of its
occurrence any such seizure or intervention is not relinquished or withdrawn and the Facility Agent reasonably considers that the
relevant occurrence is or might be expected to become materially prejudicial to the interests, rights or position of the Agents and/or the
Lenders; provided that the Borrower shall not be entitled to the aforesaid 90 day period if the seizure or intervention executed by any
authority is due to an act or omission of any member of the NCLC Group and the Facility Agent is satisfied, in its sole discretion, that
the interests of the Agents and/or the Lenders might reasonably be expected to be materially adversely affected; or
11.16 Change of Control. A Change of Control shall occur; or
11.17 Material Adverse Change. Any event shall occur which results in a Material Adverse Effect; or
11.18 Repudiation of Construction Contract or other Material Documents. Any party to the Construction Contract,
any Credit Document or any other material documents related to the Credit Document Obligations hereunder shall repudiate the
Construction Contract, such Credit Document or such material document in any way;
then, and in any such event, and at any time thereafter, if any Event of Default shall then be continuing, the Facility
Agent, upon the written request of the Required Lenders and after having informed the Hermes Agent of such written request, shall by
written notice to the Borrower, take any or all of the following actions, without prejudice to the rights of any Agent or any Lender to
enforce its claims against any Credit Party (provided that, if an Event of Default specified in Section 11.05 shall occur, the result which
would occur upon the giving of written notice by the Facility Agent to the Borrower as specified in clauses (i) and (ii) below shall
occur automatically without the giving of any such notice): (i) declare the Total Commitments terminated, whereupon all
Commitments of each Lender shall forthwith terminate immediately and any Commitment Commission shall forthwith become due
and payable without any other notice of any kind; (ii) declare the principal of and any accrued interest in respect of all Loans and all
Credit Document Obligations owing hereunder and thereunder to be, whereupon
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the same shall become, forthwith due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are
hereby waived by each Credit Party; and (iii) enforce, as Collateral Agent, all of the Liens and security interests created pursuant to the
Security Documents.
SECTION 12. Agency and Security Trustee Provisions Appointment and Declaration of Trust (a) The Lenders hereby
designate KfW IPEX Bank GmbH, as Facility Agent (for purposes of this Section 12, the term “Facility Agent ” shall include KfW
IPEX Bank GmbH (and/or any of its Affiliates) in its capacity as Collateral Agent under the Security Documents and as CIRR Agent)
to act as specified herein and in the other Credit Documents. Each Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes the Agents to take such action
on its behalf under the provisions of this Agreement, the other Credit Documents and any other instruments and agreements referred to
herein or therein and to exercise such powers and to perform such duties hereunder and thereunder as are specifically delegated to or
required of the Agents by the terms hereof and thereof and such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Each Agent may
perform any of its duties hereunder by or through its respective officers, directors, agents, employees or affiliates and, may transfer
from time to time any or all of its rights, duties and obligations hereunder and under the relevant Credit Documents (in accordance with
the terms thereof) to any of its banking affiliates.(b)
With effect from the Initial Syndication Date, KfW IPEX Bank GmbH in its
capacity as Collateral Agent pursuant to the Security Documents declares that it shall hold the Collateral in trust for the Secured
Creditors. The Collateral Agent shall have the right to delegate a co-agent or sub-agent from time to time to perform and benefit from
any or all of rights, duties and obligations hereunder and under the relevant Security Documents (in accordance with the terms thereof
and of the Security Trust Deed) and, in the event that any such duties or obligations are so delegated, the Collateral Agent is hereby
authorized to enter into additional Security Documents or amendments to the then existing Security Documents to the extent it deems
necessary or advisable to implement such delegation and, in connection therewith, the Parent will, or will cause the relevant Subsidiary
to, use its commercially reasonable efforts to promptly deliver any opinion of counsel that the Facility Agent may reasonably require to
the reasonable satisfaction of the Facility Agent.
(c)
The Lenders hereby designate KfW IPEX Bank GmbH, as Hermes Agent, which Agent shall be responsible for
any and all communication, information and negotiation required with Hermes in relation to the Hermes Cover. All notices and other
communications provided to the Hermes Agent shall be mailed, telexed, telecopied, delivered or electronic mailed to the Notice Office
of the Hermes Agent.
12.02 Nature of Duties. The Agents shall have no duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth in this
Agreement and the Security Documents. None of the Agents nor any of their respective officers, directors, agents, employees or
affiliates shall be liable for any action taken or omitted by it or them hereunder, under any other Credit Document, under the Hermes
Cover or in connection herewith or therewith, unless caused by such Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct (any such
liability limited to the applicable Agent to whom such Person relates). The duties of each of the Agents shall be mechanical and
administrative in nature; none of the Agents shall have by reason of this Agreement or any other Credit Document any fiduciary
relationship in respect of any Lender; and nothing in this Agreement or any other Credit Document, expressed or implied, is intended
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to or shall be so construed as to impose upon any Agents any obligations in respect of this Agreement, any other Credit Document or
the Hermes Cover except as expressly set forth herein or therein.
12.03 Lack of Reliance on the Agents. Independently and without reliance upon the Agents, each Lender, to the
extent it deems appropriate, has made and shall continue to make (i) its own independent investigation of the financial condition and
affairs of the Credit Parties in connection with the making and the continuance of the Loans and the taking or not taking of any action
in connection herewith, (ii) its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of the Credit Parties and (iii) its own appraisal of the Hermes
Cover and, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, none of the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility, either initially or
on a continuing basis, to provide any Lender with any credit or other information with respect thereto, whether coming into its
possession before the making of the Loans or at any time or times thereafter. None of the Agents shall be responsible to any Lender for
any recitals, statements, information, representations or warranties herein or in any document, certificate or other writing delivered in
connection herewith or for the execution, effectiveness, genuineness, validity, enforceability, perfection, collectibility, priority or
sufficiency of this Agreement, any other Credit Document, the Hermes Cover or the financial condition of the Credit Parties or any of
them or be required to make any inquiry concerning either the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions or conditions
of this Agreement, any other Credit Document, the Hermes Cover, or the financial condition of the Credit Parties or any of them or the
existence or possible existence of any Default or Event of Default.
12.04 Certain Rights of the Agents. If any of the Agents shall request instructions from the Required Lenders with
respect to any act or action (including failure to act) in connection with this Agreement, any other Credit Document or the Hermes
Cover, the Agents shall be entitled to refrain from such act or taking such action unless and until the Agents shall have received
instructions from the Required Lenders; and the Agents shall not incur liability to any Person by reason of so refraining. Without
limiting the foregoing, no Lender shall have any right of action whatsoever against the Agents as a result of any of the Agents acting or
refraining from acting hereunder or under any other Credit Document in accordance with the instructions of the Required Lenders.
12.05 Reliance. Each of the Agents shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any note,
writing, resolution, notice, statement, certificate, telex, email, teletype or telecopier message, cablegram, radiogram, order or other
document or telephone message signed, sent or made by any Person that the applicable Agent believed to be the proper Person, and,
with respect to all legal matters pertaining to this Agreement, any other Credit Document, the Hermes Cover and its duties hereunder
and thereunder, upon advice of counsel selected by the Facility Agent.
12.06 Indemnification. To the extent any of the Agents is not reimbursed and indemnified by the Borrower, the
Lenders will reimburse and indemnify the applicable Agents, in proportion to their respective “percentages” as used in determining the
Required Lenders (without regard to the existence of any Defaulting Lenders), for and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses,
damages, penalties, claims, actions, judgments, costs, expenses or disbursements of whatsoever kind or nature which may be imposed
on, asserted against or
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incurred by such Agents in performing their respective duties hereunder or under any other Credit Document, in any way relating to or
arising out of this Agreement or any other Credit Document; provided that no Lender shall be liable to an Agent for any portion of such
liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements resulting from such
Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.
12.07 The Agents in their Individual Capacities. With respect to its obligation to make Loans under this Agreement,
each of the Agents shall have the rights and powers specified herein for a “Lender” and may exercise the same rights and powers as
though it were not performing the duties specified herein; and the term “Lenders,” “Secured Creditors”, “Required Lenders” or any
similar terms shall, unless the context clearly otherwise indicates, include each of the Agents in their respective individual
capacity. Each of the Agents may accept deposits from, lend money to, and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other
business with any Credit Party or any Affiliate of any Credit Party as if it were not performing the duties specified herein, and may
accept fees and other consideration from the Borrower or any other Credit Party for services in connection with this Agreement and
otherwise without having to account for the same to the Lenders.
12.08 Resignation by an Agent. (a) Any Agent may resign from the performance of all its functions and duties
hereunder and/or under the other Credit Documents at any time by giving 15 Business Days’ prior written notice to the Borrower and
the Lenders. Such resignation shall take effect upon the appointment of a successor Agent pursuant to clauses (b) and (c) below or as
otherwise provided below.
(b)
Upon notice of resignation by an Agent pursuant to clause (a) above, the Required Lenders shall appoint a
successor Agent hereunder or thereunder who shall be a commercial bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to the Borrower;
provided that the Borrower’s consent shall not be required pursuant to this clause (b) if an Event of Default exists at the time of
appointment of a successor Agent.
(c)
If a successor Agent shall not have been so appointed within the 15 Business Day period referenced in clause
(a) above, the applicable Agent, with the consent of the Borrower (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), shall then
appoint a commercial bank or trust company with capital and surplus of not less than $500,000,000 as successor Agent who shall serve
as the applicable Agent hereunder or thereunder until such time, if any, as the Lenders appoint a successor Agent as provided above;
provided that the Borrower’s consent shall not be required pursuant to this clause (c) if an Event of Default exists at the time of
appointment of a successor Agent.
(d)
If no successor Agent has been appointed pursuant to clause (b) or (c) above by the 25th Business Day after the
date such notice of resignation was given by the applicable Agent, the applicable Agent’s resignation shall become effective and the
Required Lenders shall thereafter perform all the duties of such Agent hereunder and/or under any other Credit Document until such
time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successor Agent as provided above.
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(e)
The Agent shall resign in accordance with paragraph (a) above (and, to the extent applicable, shall use
reasonable endeavours to appoint a successor Facility Agent pursuant to paragraph (c) above) if on or after the date which is three
months before the earliest FATCA Application Date relating to any payment to the Facility Agent under the Finance Documents,
either:
(i)

the Facility Agent fails to respond to a request under Section 4.06 (FATCA Information) and the Borrower or a
Lender reasonably believes that the Facility Agent will not be (or will have ceased to be) a FATCA Exempt Party
on or after that FATCA Application Date;

(ii)

the information supplied by the Facility Agent pursuant to Section 4.06 (FATCA Information) indicates that the
Facility Agent will not be (or will have ceased to be) a FATCA Exempt Party on or after that FATCA
Application Date; or

(iii)

the Facility Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the Facility Agent will not be (or will have ceased
to be) a FATCA Exempt Party on or after that FATCA Application Date,

and (in each case) the Borrower or a Lender reasonably believes that a party to this Agreement will be required to make a FATCA
Deduction that would not be required if the Facility Agent were a FATCA Exempt Party, and the Borrower or that Lender, by notice to
the Agent, requires it to resign.
12.09 The Lead Arrangers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any provision of any other
Credit Document, KfW IPEX Bank GmbH is hereby appointed as a Lead Arranger by the Lenders to act as specified herein and in the
other Credit Documents. Each of the Lead Arrangers in their respective capacities as such shall have only the limited powers, duties,
responsibilities and liabilities with respect to this Agreement or the other Credit Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby
and thereby as are set forth herein or therein; it being understood and agreed that the Lead Arrangers shall be entitled to all
indemnification and reimbursement rights in favor of any of the Agents as provided for under Sections 12.06 and 14.01. Without
limitation of the foregoing, none of the Lead Arrangers shall, solely by reason of this Agreement or any other Credit Documents, have
any fiduciary relationship in respect of any Lender or any other Person.
12.10 Impaired Agent. (a) If, at any time, any Agent becomes an Impaired Agent, a Credit Party or a Lender which is
required to make a payment under the Credit Documents to such Agent in accordance with Section 4.03 may instead either pay that
amount directly to the required recipient or pay that amount to an interest-bearing account held with an Acceptable Bank within the
meaning of paragraph (a) of the definition of “Acceptable Bank” and in relation to which no Insolvency Event has occurred and is
continuing, in the name of the Credit Party or the Lender making the payment and designated as a trust account for the benefit of the
party or parties hereto beneficially entitled to that payment under the Credit Documents. In each case such payments must be made on
the due date for payment under the Credit Documents.
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(b)
All interest accrued on the amount standing to the credit of the trust account shall be for the benefit of the
beneficiaries of that trust account pro rata to their respective entitlements.
(c)
A party to this Agreement which has made a payment in accordance with this Section 12.10 shall be discharged
of the relevant payment obligation under the Credit Documents and shall not take any credit risk with respect to the amounts standing
to the credit of the trust account.
(d)
Promptly upon the appointment of a successor Agent in accordance with Section 12.11, each party to this
Agreement which has made a payment to a trust account in accordance with this Section 12.10 shall give all requisite instructions to the
bank with whom the trust account is held to transfer the amount (together with any accrued interest) to the successor Agent for
distribution in accordance with Section 2.04
12.11 Replacement of an Agent. (a) After consultation with the Parent, the Required Lenders may, by giving 30 days’
notice to an Agent (or, at any time such Agent is an Impaired Agent, by giving any shorter notice determined by the Required Lenders)
replace such Agent by appointing a successor Agent (subject to Section 12.08(b) and (c)).
(b)
The retiring Agent shall (at its own cost if it is an Impaired Agent and otherwise at the expense of the
Borrower) make available to the successor Agent such documents and records and provide such assistance as the successor Agent may
reasonably request for the purposes of performing its functions as Agent under the Credit Documents.
(c)
The appointment of the successor Agent shall take effect on the date specified in the notice from the Required
Lenders to the retiring Agent. As from such date, the retiring Agent shall be discharged from any further obligation in respect of the
Credit Documents but shall remain entitled to the benefit of this Section 12.11 (and any agency fees for the account of the retiring
Agent shall cease to accrue from (and shall be payable on) that date).
(d)
Any successor Agent and each of the other parties to this Agreement shall have the same
obligations amongst themselves as they would have had if such successor had been an original party to this Agreement.

rights and

12.12 Resignation by the Hermes Agent. (a) The Hermes Agent may resign from the performance of all its functions
and duties hereunder and/or under the other Credit Documents at any time by giving 15 Business Days’ prior written notice to the
Borrower and the Lenders. Such resignation shall take effect upon the appointment of a successor Hermes Agent pursuant to clauses
(b) and (c) below or as otherwise provided below.
(b)
Upon any such notice of resignation by the Hermes Agent, the Required Lenders shall appoint a successor
Hermes Agent hereunder or thereunder who shall be a commercial bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to the Borrower;
provided that the Borrower’s consent shall not be required pursuant to this clause (b) if an Event of Default exists at the time of
appointment of a successor Hermes Agent.
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(c)
If a successor Hermes Agent shall not have been so appointed within such 15 Business Day period, the Hermes
Agent, with the consent of the Borrower (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), shall then appoint a commercial bank
or trust company with capital and surplus of not less than $500,000,000 as successor Hermes Agent who shall serve as Hermes Agent
hereunder or thereunder until such time, if any, as the Lenders appoint a successor Hermes Agent as provided above; provided that the
Borrower’s consent shall not be required pursuant to this clause (d) if an Event of Default exists at the time of appointment of a
successor Hermes Agent.
(d)
If no successor Hermes Agent has been appointed pursuant to clause (b) or (c) above by the 25th Business Day
after the date such notice of resignation was given by the Hermes Agent, the Hermes Agent’s resignation shall become effective and the
Required Lenders shall thereafter perform all the duties of the Hermes Agent hereunder and/or under any other Credit Document until
such time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successor Hermes Agent as provided above.
SECTION 13. Benefit of Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be
enforceable by the respective successors and assigns of the parties hereto, subject to the provisions of this Section 13.
13.01 Assignments and Transfers by the Lenders. (a) Subject to Section 13.06, 13.07 and the First Supplemental
Agreement, any Lender (or any Lender together with one or more other Lenders, each an “Existing Lender”) may:
(i)
with the consent of the Hermes Agent and the written consent of the Federal Republic of Germany,
where required according to the applicable Hermes General Terms and Conditions (Allgemeine Bedingungen) and the
supplementary provisions relating to the assignment of Guaranteed Amounts (Ergänzende Bestimmungen für
Forderungsabtretungen-AB (FAB) ), assign any of its rights or transfer by novation any of its rights and obligations under this
Agreement or any Credit Document to which it is a party (including, without limitation, all of the Commitments and outstanding
Loans, or if less than all, a portion equal to at least $10,000,000 in the aggregate for such Lender’s rights and obligations (but
which minimum portion shall not apply in relation to any transfer as set out in (z) below)), to (w) its parent company and/or any
Affiliate of such assigning or transferring Lender which is at least 50% owned (directly or indirectly) by such Lender or its
parent company, (x) in the case of any Lender that is a fund that invests in bank loans, any other fund that invests in bank loans
and is managed or advised by the same investment advisor of such Lender or by an Affiliate of such investment advisor, (y) an
Existing Lender who is a Refinanced Bank as contemplated by clause 3.2 of the First Supplemental Agreement or (z) an
Existing Lender as contemplated by clause 3.3 of the First Supplemental Agreement, or
(ii)
with the consent of the Hermes Agent, the written consent of the Federal Republic of Germany, where
required according to the applicable Hermes General Terms and Conditions (Allgemeine Bedingungen) and the supplementary
provisions relating to the assignment of Guaranteed Amounts (Ergänzende Bestimmungen für Forderungsabtretungen-AB
(FAB)) and the consent of the Borrower
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(which consent, in the case of the Borrower (x) shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, (y) shall not be required if a
Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at such time and (z) shall be deemed to have been given ten
Business Days after the Existing Lender has requested it in writing unless consent is expressly refused by the Borrower within
that time) assign any of its rights in or transfer by novation any of its rights in and obligations under all of its Commitments and
outstanding Loans, or if less than all, a portion equal to at least $10,000,000 in the aggregate for such Existing Lender’s rights
and obligations, hereunder to one or more Eligible Transferees (treating any fund that invests in bank loans and any other fund
that invests in bank loans and is managed or advised by the same investment advisor of such fund or by an Affiliate of such
investment advisor as a single Eligible Transferee),
each of which assignees or transferees shall become a party to this Agreement as a Lender by execution of (I) an Assignment
Agreement (in the case of assignments) and (II) a Transfer Certificate (in the case of transfers under Section 13.06); provided that (x)
at such time, Schedule 1.01(a) shall be deemed modified to reflect the Commitments and/or outstanding Loans, as the case may be, of
such New Lender and of the Existing Lenders, (y) the consent of the Facility Agent shall be required in connection with any
assignment or transfer pursuant to the preceding clause (ii) (which consent, in each case, shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed)
and (z) the consent of the CIRR Representative and the Federal Republic of Germany shall be required in connection with any
assignment or transfer pursuant to preceding clause (i) or (ii) if the New Lender elects to become a Refinanced Bank or enter into an
Interest Make-Up Agreement; and provided, further, that at no time shall a Lender assign or transfer its rights or obligations under this
Agreement to a hedge fund, private equity fund, insurance company or other similar or related financing institution that is not in the
primary business of accepting cash deposits from, and making loans to, the public.
(b)
If (x) a Lender assigns or transfers any of its rights or obligations under the Credit Documents or changes its
Facility Office and (y) as a result of circumstances existing at the date the assignment, transfer or change occurs, a Credit Party would
be obliged to make a payment to the New Lender or Lender acting through its new Facility Office under Sections 2.09, 2.10 or 4.04,
then the New Lender or Lender acting through its new Facility Office is only entitled to receive payment under that section to the same
extent as the Existing Lender or Lender acting through its previous Facility Office would have been if the assignment, transfer or
change had not occurred. This Section 13.01(b) shall not apply in respect of an assignment or transfer made in the ordinary course of
the primary syndication of the Credit Agreement.
(c)
Each New Lender, by executing the relevant Transfer Certificate or Assignment Agreement, confirms, for the
avoidance of doubt, that the Facility Agent has authority to execute on its behalf any amendment or waiver that has been approved by
or on behalf of the requisite Lender or Lenders in accordance with this Agreement on or prior to the date on which the transfer or
assignment becomes effective in accordance with this Agreement and that it is bound by that decision to the same extent as the Existing
Lender would have been had it remained a Lender.
(d)
The Borrower and Bookrunner hereby agree to discuss and co-operate in good faith in connection with any
initial syndication and transfer of the Loans.
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13.02 Assignment or Transfer Fee. Unless the Facility Agent otherwise agrees and excluding an assignment or
transfer (i) to an Affiliate of a Lender, (ii) made in connection with primary syndication of this Agreement, (iii) as set forth in Section
13.03, (iv) to an Existing Lender who is a Refinanced Bank pursuant to clause 3.2 of the First Supplemental Agreement or (iv) to an
Existing Lender pursuant to clause 3.3 of the First Supplemental Agreement, each New Lender shall, on the date upon which an
assignment or transfer takes effect, pay to the Facility Agent (for its own account) a fee of $3,500.
13.03 Assignments and Transfers to Hermes or KfW. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or prohibit any Lender
from assigning its rights or transferring its rights and obligations hereunder to (x) Hermes and (y) KfW in support of borrowings made
by such Lender from KfW pursuant to the KfW Refinancing, in each case without the consent of the Borrower and without being
required to pay the non-refundable assignment fee of $3,500 referred to in Section 13.02 above.
13.04 Limitation of Responsibility to Existing Lenders. (a) Unless expressly agreed to the contrary, an Existing
Lender makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility to a New Lender for:
(i)
the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the Credit Documents, the Security Documents
or any other documents;
(ii)

the financial condition of any Credit Party;

(iii)
the performance and observance by any Credit Party of its obligations under the Credit Documents or any other
documents; or
(iv)
the accuracy of any statements (whether written or oral) made in or in connection with any Credit Document or
any other document,
and any representations or warranties implied by law are excluded.
(b)
Each New Lender confirms to the Existing Lender, the other Lender Creditors and the Secured Creditors that it
(1) has made (and shall continue to make) its own independent investigation and assessment of the financial condition and affairs of
each Credit Party and its related entities in connection with its participation in this Agreement and has not relied exclusively on any
information provided to it by the Existing Lender or any other Lender Creditor in connection with any Credit Document or any Lien (or
any other security interest) created pursuant to the Security Documents and (2) will continue to make its own independent appraisal of
the creditworthiness of each Credit Party and its related entities whilst any amount is or may be outstanding under the Credit
Documents or any Commitment is in force.
(c)

Nothing in any Credit Document obliges an Existing Lender to:

(i) accept a re-transfer or re-assignment from a New Lender of any of the rights and obligations assigned or transferred
under this Section 13; or
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(ii) support any losses directly or indirectly incurred by the New Lender by reason of the non-performance by any Credit
Party of its obligations under the Credit Documents or otherwise.
13.05 [Intentionally Omitted].
13.06 Procedure and Conditions for Transfer. (a) Subject to Section 13.01, a transfer is effected in accordance with
Section 13.06(c) when the Facility Agent executes an otherwise duly completed Transfer Certificate delivered to it by the Existing
Lender and the New Lender. The Facility Agent shall, subject to Section 13.06(b), as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt by it
of a duly completed Transfer Certificate appearing on its face to comply with the terms of this Agreement and delivered in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement, execute that Transfer Certificate.
(b)
The Facility Agent shall only be obliged to execute a Transfer Certificate delivered to it by the Existing Lender
and the New Lender once it is satisfied it has complied with all necessary “know your customer” or similar checks under all applicable
laws and regulations in relation to the transfer to such New Lender.
(c)

On the date of the transfer:

(i)
to the extent that in the Transfer Certificate the Existing Lender seeks to transfer by novation its rights and
obligations under the Credit Documents to which it is a party and in respect of the Security Documents each of the Credit Parties and
the Existing Lender shall be released from further obligations towards one another under the Credit Documents and in respect of the
Security Documents and their respective rights against one another under the Credit Documents and in respect of the Security
Documents shall be cancelled (being the “Discharged Rights and Obligations”);
(ii)
each of the Credit Parties and the New Lender shall assume obligations towards one another and/or acquire
rights against one another which differ from the Discharged Rights and Obligations only insofar as that Credit Party or other member
of the NCLC Group and the New Lender have assumed and/or acquired the same in place of that Credit Party and the Existing Lender;
(iii)
the Facility Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Hermes Agent, the New Lender and the other Lenders shall acquire
the same rights and assume the same obligations between themselves and in respect of the Security Documents as they would have
acquired and assumed had the New Lender been an original Lender with the rights, and/or obligations acquired or assumed by it as a
result of the transfer and to that extent the Facility Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Hermes Agent and the Existing Lender shall each be
released from further obligations to each other under the Credit Documents, it being understood that the indemnification provisions
under this Agreement (including, without limitation, Sections 2.09, 2.10, 4.04, 14.01 and 14.05) shall survive as to such Existing
Lender; and
(iv)

the New Lender shall become a party to this Agreement as a “Lender”
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13.07 Procedure and Conditions for Assignment. (a) Subject to Section 13.01, an assignment may be effected in
accordance with Section 13.07(c) below when the Facility Agent executes an otherwise duly completed Assignment Agreement
delivered to it by the Existing Lender and the New Lender. The Facility Agent shall, subject to Section 13.07(b) below, as soon as
reasonably practicable after receipt by it of a duly completed Assignment Agreement appearing on its face to comply with the terms of
this Agreement and delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, execute that Assignment Agreement.
(b)
The Facility Agent shall only be obliged to execute an Assignment Agreement delivered to it by the Existing
Lender and the New Lender once it is satisfied it has complied with all necessary “know your customer” or similar checks under
all applicable laws and regulations in relation to the assignment to such New Lender.
(c)

On the date of the assignment:

(i) the Existing Lender will assign absolutely to the New Lender its rights under the Credit Documents and in respect of
any Lien (or any other security interest) created pursuant to the Security Documents expressed to be the subject of the
assignment in the Assignment Agreement;
(ii) the Existing Lender will be released from the obligations (the “Relevant Obligations”) expressed to be the subject of
the release in the Assignment Agreement (and any corresponding obligations by which it is bound in respect of any Lien (or any
other security interest) created pursuant to the Security Documents), it being understood that the indemnification provisions
under this Agreement (including, without limitation, Sections 2.09, 2.10, 4.04, 14.01 and 14.05) shall survive as to such Existing
Lender; and
(iii) the New Lender shall become a Party as a “Lender” and will be bound by obligations equivalent to the Relevant
Obligations.
1 3 . 0 8 Copy of Transfer Certificate or Assignment Agreement to Parent. The Facility Agent shall, as soon as
reasonably practicable after it has executed a Transfer Certificate or an Assignment Agreement, send to the Parent a copy of that
Transfer Certificate or Assignment Agreement.
13.09 Security over Lenders’ Rights. In addition to the other rights provided to Lenders under this Section 13, each
Lender may without consulting with or obtaining consent from any Credit Party, at any time charge, assign or otherwise create a Lien
(or any other security interest) or declare a trust in or over (whether by way of collateral or otherwise) all or any of its rights under any
Credit Document to secure obligations of that Lender including, without limitation:
(i)
any charge, assignment or other Lien (or any other security interest) or trust to secure obligations to a federal
reserve or central bank or the CIRR Representative; and
(ii)
in the case of any Lender which is a fund, any charge, assignment or other Lien (or any other security interest)
granted to any holders (or trustee or representatives
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of holders) of obligations owed, or securities issued, by that Lender as security for those obligations or securities,
except that no such charge, assignment or Lien (or any other security interest) or trust shall:
(i) release a Lender from any of its obligations under the Credit Documents or substitute the beneficiary of the relevant
charge, assignment or other Lien (or any other security interest) or trust for the Lender as a party to any of the Credit Documents;
or
(ii) require any payments to be made by a Credit Party or grant to any person any more extensive rights than those
required to be made or granted to the relevant Lender under the Credit Documents.
13.10 Assignment by a Credit Party. No Credit Party may assign any of its rights or transfer by novation any of its
rights, obligations or interest hereunder or under any other Credit Document without the prior written consent of the Hermes Agent, the
CIRR Representative, and the Lenders.
13.11 Lender Participations. (a) Although any Lender may grant participations in its rights hereunder, such Lender
shall remain a “Lender” for all purposes hereunder (and may not transfer by novation its rights and obligations or assign its rights
under all or any portion of its Commitments hereunder except as provided in Sections 2.12 and 13.01) and the participant shall not
constitute a “Lender” hereunder;
(b)
no Lender shall grant any participation under which the participant shall have rights to approve any amendment
to or waiver of this Agreement or any other Credit Document except to the extent such amendment or waiver would (x) extend the final
scheduled maturity of any Loan in which such participant is participating, or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest
or Commitment Commission thereon (except (m) in connection with a waiver of applicability of any post-default increase in interest
rates and (n) that any amendment or modification to the financial definitions in this Agreement shall not constitute a reduction in the
rate of interest for purposes of this clause (x)) or reduce the principal amount thereof, or increase the amount of the participant’s
participation over the amount thereof then in effect (it being understood that a waiver of any Default or Event of Default or of a
mandatory reduction in the Total Commitments shall not constitute a change in the terms of such participation, and that an increase in
any Commitment or Loan shall be permitted without the consent of any participant if the participant’s participation is not increased as
a result thereof), (y) consent to the assignment by the Borrower of any of its rights, or transfer by the Borrower of any of its rights and
obligations, under this Agreement or (z) release all or substantially all of the Collateral under all of the Security Documents (except as
expressly provided in the Credit Documents) securing the Loans hereunder in which such participant is participating. In the case of
any such participation, the participant shall not have any rights under this Agreement or any of the other Credit Documents (the
participant’s rights against such Lender in respect of such participation to be those set forth in the agreement executed by such Lender
in favor of the participant relating thereto) and all amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder shall be determined as if such Lender
had not sold such participation; and
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(c)
Where the Borrower notifies the Lenders that a Participant Register is required by the Borrower, each Lender
that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name
and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each participant’s interest in the Loans or other
obligations under the Credit Documents (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all
or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any participant or any information relating to a participant's interest
in any commitments, loans, letters of credit or its other obligations under any Credit Document) to any Person except to the extent that
such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other obligation is in registered form under
Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent
manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such
participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, the Facility
Agent (in its capacity as Facility Agent) shall have no responsibility for maintaining a Participant Register.
13.12 Increased Costs. To the extent that a transfer of all or any portion of a Lender’s Commitments and related
outstanding Credit Document Obligations pursuant to Section 2.12 or Section 13.01 would, at the time of such assignment, result in
increased costs under Section 2.09, 2.10 or 4.04 from those being charged by the respective assigning Lender prior to such assignment,
then the Borrower shall not be obligated to pay such increased costs (although the Borrower shall be obligated to pay any other
increased costs of the type described above resulting from changes after the date of the respective assignment).
SECTION 14. Miscellaneous.
1 4 . 0 1 Payment of Expenses, etc. The Borrower agrees that it shall: whether or not the transactions herein
contemplated are consummated, (i) pay all reasonable documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of each of the Agents (including,
without limitation, the reasonable documented fees and disbursements of Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, Bahamian counsel, Bermuda
counsel, other counsel to the Facility Agent and the Lead Arrangers and local counsel) in connection with (a) the preparation,
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Credit Documents and the documents and instruments referred to herein and
therein and any amendment, waiver or consent relating hereto or thereto, and (b) any initial transfers by KfW IPEX Bank GmbH as
original Lender pursuant to Section 5.11 carried out during the period falling 6 months after the Effective Date including, without
limitation, all documents requested to be executed in respect of such transfers, and all respective syndication efforts with respect to this
Agreement; (ii) pay all documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of each of the Agents and each of the Lenders in connection with
the enforcement of this Agreement and the other Credit Documents and the documents and instruments referred to herein and therein
(including, without limitation, the fees and disbursements of counsel (excluding in-house counsel) for each of the Agents and for each
of the Lenders); (iii) pay and hold the Facility Agent and each of the Lenders harmless from and against any and all present and future
stamp, documentary, transfer, sales and use, value added, excise and other similar taxes with respect to the foregoing matters, the
performance of any obligation under this Agreement or any Credit Document or any payment thereunder, and save the Facility Agent
and save each of the Lenders
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harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay or omission (other than to the extent
attributable to the Facility Agent or such Lender) to pay such taxes; and (iv) other than in respect of a wrongful failure by any Lender to
fund its Commitments as required by this Agreement, indemnify the Agents and each Lender, and each of their respective officers,
directors, trustees, employees, representatives and agents from and hold each of them harmless against any and all liabilities,
obligations (including removal or remedial actions), losses, damages, penalties, claims, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses and
disbursements (including reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’ fees and disbursements) incurred by, imposed on or assessed against
any of them as a result of, or arising out of, or in any way related to, or by reason of, (a) any investigation, litigation or other
proceeding (whether or not any of the Agents or any Lender is a party thereto) related to the entering into and/or performance of this
Agreement or any other Credit Document or the proceeds of any Loans hereunder or the consummation of any transactions
contemplated herein, or in any other Credit Document or the exercise of any of their rights or remedies provided herein or in the other
Credit Documents, or (b) the actual or alleged presence of Hazardous Materials on the Vessel or in the air, surface water or
groundwater or on the surface or subsurface of any property at any time owned or operated by the Borrower, the generation, storage,
transportation, handling, disposal or Environmental Release of Hazardous Materials at any location, whether or not owned or operated
by the Borrower, the non-compliance of the Vessel or property with foreign, federal, state and local laws, regulations, and ordinances
(including applicable permits thereunder) applicable to the Vessel or property, or any Environmental Claim asserted against the
Borrower or the Vessel or property at any time owned or operated by the Borrower, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees
and disbursements of counsel and other consultants incurred in connection with any such investigation, litigation or other proceeding
(but excluding any losses, liabilities, claims, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, disbursements or expenses to the
extent incurred by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Person to be indemnified or by reason of a failure by the
Person to be indemnified to fund its Commitments as required by this Agreement). To the extent that the undertaking to indemnify,
pay or hold harmless each of the Agents or any Lender set forth in the preceding sentence may be unenforceable because it violates any
law or public policy, the Borrower shall make the maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of each of the indemnified
liabilities which is permissible under applicable law.
Notwithstanding the above, it is agreed that costs, fees, expenses and other compensation arising in respect of the
initial syndication of the Loans of the type referred to in Section 6.05 shall not include any such costs, fees and expenses and other
compensation arising solely in respect of legal advice to the Lenders to explain the technical and/or structural aspects of the Hermes
and CIRR issues.
14.02 Right of Set-off. In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under applicable law or otherwise, and not
by way of limitation of any such rights, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, each Lender is hereby
authorized at any time or from time to time, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind to the Parent or any
Subsidiary of the Parent or to any other Person, any such notice being hereby expressly waived, to set off and to appropriate and apply
any and all deposits (general or special) and any other Indebtedness at any time held or owing by such Lender (including, without
limitation, by branches and agencies of such Lender wherever located) to or for the
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credit or the account of the Parent or any Subsidiary of the Parent but in any event excluding assets held in trust for any such Person
against and on account of the Credit Document Obligations and liabilities of the Parent or such Subsidiary of the Parent, as applicable,
to such Lender under this Agreement or under any of the other Credit Documents, including, without limitation, all interests in Credit
Document Obligations purchased by such Lender pursuant to Section 14.05(b), and all other claims of any nature or description arising
out of or connected with this Agreement or any other Credit Document, irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have made any
demand hereunder and although said Credit Document Obligations, liabilities or claims, or any of them, shall be contingent or
unmatured. Each Lender upon the exercise of its rights to set-off pursuant to this Section 14.02 shall give notice thereof to the Facility
Agent.
14.03 Notices. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all notices and other communications provided for
hereunder shall be in writing (including telexed, telegraphic, telecopier or electronic (unless and until notified to the contrary)
communication) and mailed, telexed, telecopied, delivered or electronic mailed: if to any Credit Party, at the address specified on
Schedule 14.03A; if to any Lender, at its address specified opposite its name on Schedule 14.03B; and if to the Facility Agent or the
Hermes Agent, at its Notice Office; or, as to any other Credit Party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a
written notice to the other parties hereto and, as to each Lender, at such other address as shall be designated by such Lender in a written
notice to the Parent, the Borrower and the Facility Agent ; provided that, with respect to all notices and other communication made by
electronic mail or other electronic means, the Facility Agent, the Hermes Agent, the Lenders, the Parent, the Borrower and the
Pledgor agree that they (x) shall notify each other in writing of their electronic mail address and/or any other information required to
enable the sending and receipt of information by that means and (y) shall notify each other of any change to their address or any other
such information supplied by them. All such notices and communications shall, (i) when mailed, be effective three Business Days
after being deposited in the mails, prepaid and properly addressed for delivery, (ii) when sent by overnight courier, be effective one
Business Day after delivery to the overnight courier prepaid and properly addressed for delivery on such next Business Day, (iii) when
sent by telex or telecopier, be effective when sent by telex or telecopier, except that notices and communications to the Facility Agent
or the Hermes Agent shall not be effective until received by the Facility Agent or the Hermes Agent (as the case may be), or (iv) when
electronic mailed, be effective only when actually received in readable form and in the case of any electronic communication made by
a Lender, the Parent, the Borrower or the Pledgor to the Facility Agent or the Hermes Agent, only if it is addressed in such a manner as
the Facility Agent shall specify for this purpose. A copy of any notice to the Facility Agent shall be delivered to the Hermes Agent at
its Notice Office. If an Agent is an Impaired Agent the parties to this Agreement may, instead of communicating with each other
through such Agent, communicate with each other directly and (while such Agent is an Impaired Agent) all the provisions of the Credit
Documents which require communications to be made or notices to be given to or by such Agent shall be varied so that
communications may be made and notices given to or by the relevant parties to this Agreement directly. This provision shall not
operate after a replacement Agent has been appointed.
14.04 No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay on the part of an Agent or any Lender in exercising any
right, power or privilege hereunder or under any other
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Credit Document and no course of dealing between the Borrower or any other Credit Party and an Agent or any Lender shall operate as
a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any other Credit Document
preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege hereunder or thereunder. The
rights, powers and remedies herein or in any other Credit Document expressly provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights,
powers or remedies which an Agent or any Lender would otherwise have. No notice to or demand on any Credit Party in any case shall
entitle any Credit Party to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances or constitute a waiver of the rights of
an Agent or any Lender to any other or further action in any circumstances without notice or demand.
14.05 Payments Pro Rata. (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Facility Agent agrees that promptly
after its receipt of each payment from or on behalf of the Borrower in respect of any Credit Document Obligations hereunder, it shall
distribute such payment to the Lenders (other than any Lender that has consented in writing to waive its pro rata share of any such
payment) pro rata based upon their respective shares, if any, of the Credit Document Obligations with respect to which such payment
was received.
(b)
Other than in connection with assignments and participations (which are governed by Section 13), each of the
Lenders agrees that, if it should receive any amount hereunder (whether by voluntary payment, by realization upon security, by the
exercise of the right of setoff or banker’s lien, by counterclaim or cross action, by the enforcement of any right under the Credit
Documents, or otherwise), which is applicable to the payment of the principal of, or interest on, the Loans, Commitment Commission,
of a sum which with respect to the related sum or sums received by other Lenders is in a greater proportion than the total of such Credit
Document Obligation then owed and due to such Lender bears to the total of such Credit Document Obligation then owed and due to all
of the Lenders immediately prior to such receipt, then such Lender receiving such excess payment shall purchase for cash without
recourse or warranty from the other Lenders an interest in the Credit Document Obligations of the respective Credit Party to such
Lenders in such amount as shall result in a proportional participation by all the Lenders in such amount; provided that if all or any
portion of such excess amount is thereafter recovered from such Lender, such purchase shall be rescinded and the purchase price
restored to the extent of such recovery, but without interest.
(c)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the provisions of the preceding Sections 14.05(a)
and (b) shall be subject to the express provisions of this Agreement which require, or permit, differing payments to be made to NonDefaulting Lenders as opposed to Defaulting Lenders.
14.06 Calculations; Computations. (a) The financial statements to be furnished to the Lenders pursuant hereto shall be
made and prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States consistently applied throughout
the periods involved (except as set forth in the notes thereto or as otherwise disclosed in writing by the Parent to the Lenders). In
addition, all computations determining compliance with the financial covenants set forth in Sections 10.06 through 10.09, inclusive,
shall utilize accounting principles and policies in conformity with those used to prepare the historical financial statements delivered to
the Lenders for the fiscal year of the Parent ended December 31, 2013
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(with the foregoing generally accepted accounting principles, subject to the preceding proviso, herein called “ GAAP”). Unless
otherwise noted, all references in this Agreement to “generally accepted accounting principles” shall mean generally accepted
accounting principles as in effect in the United States.
(b)
All computations of interest and Commitment Commission hereunder shall be made on the basis of a year of
360 days for the actual number of days (including the first day but excluding the last day) occurring in the period for which such
interest or Commitment Commission are payable.
14.07 Governing Law; Exclusive Jurisdiction of English Courts; Service of Process . (a) This Agreement and any noncontractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.
(b)
The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with this
Agreement (including a dispute relating to the existence, validity or termination of this Agreement or any non-contractual obligation
arising out of or in connection with this Agreement) (a “Dispute”). The parties hereto agree that the courts of England are the most
appropriate and convenient courts to settle disputes and accordingly no party hereto will argue to the contrary. This section 14.07 is
for the benefit of the Lenders, Agents and Secured Creditors. As a result, no such party shall be prevented from taking proceedings
relating to a Dispute in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, the Lenders, Agents and Secured Creditors
may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.
(c)
Without prejudice to any other mode of service allowed under any relevant law, each Credit Party (other than a
Credit Party incorporated in England and Wales): (i)irrevocably appoints EC3 Services Limited, having its registered office at The St
Botolph Building, 138 Houndsditch, London, EC3A 7AR, as its agent for service of process in relation to any proceedings before the
English courts in connection with any credit document and (ii) agrees that failure by an agent for service of process to notify the
relevant Credit Party of the process will not invalidate the proceedings concerned. If any person appointed as an agent for service of
process is unable for any reason to act as agent for service of process, the Parent (on behalf of all the Credit Parties) must immediately
(and in any event within five days of such event taking place) appoint another agent on terms acceptable to the facility agent. Failing
this, the Facility Agent may appoint another agent for this purpose.
Each party to this Agreement expressly agrees and consents to the provisions of this Section 14.07.
14.08 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties
hereto on separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall together
constitute one and the same instrument. A set of counterparts executed by all the parties hereto shall be lodged with the Borrower and
the Facility Agent.
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14.09 Effectiveness. This Agreement shall take effect as a deed on the date (the “ Effective Date”) on which (i) the
Borrower, the Guarantor, the Agents and each of the Lenders who are initially parties hereto shall have signed a counterpart hereof
(whether the same or different counterparts) and shall have delivered the same to the Facility Agent or, in the case of the Lenders and
the other Agents, shall have given to the Facility Agent written or facsimile notice (actually received) at such office that the same has
been signed and mailed to it, (ii) the Borrower shall have paid to the Facility Agent for its own account and/or the account of Lenders
and/or Agents, as the case may be, the fees required to be paid pursuant to the heads of terms, dated June 11, 2014, among the Parent
and KfW IPEX Bank GmbH (the “Heads of Terms”) and (iii) the Credit Parties shall have provided (x) the “Know Your Customer”
information required pursuant to the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub.: 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the
“PATRIOT Act”) and (y) such other documentation and evidence necessary in order to carry out and be reasonably satisfied with other
similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the Transaction and the Hermes Cover, in each case as requested
by the Facility Agent, the Hermes Agent or any Lender in connection with each of the Facility Agent’s, the Hermes Agent’s, Hermes’
and each Lender’s internal compliance regulations. The Facility Agent will give the Parent, the Borrower and each Lender prompt
written notice of the occurrence of the Effective Date.
14.10 Headings Descriptive. The headings of the several sections and subsections of this Agreement are inserted for
convenience only and shall not in any way affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement.
14.11 Amendment or Waiver; etc. (a) Neither this Agreement nor any other Credit Document nor any terms hereof or
thereof may be changed, waived, discharged or terminated unless such change, waiver, discharge or termination is in writing signed by
the respective Credit Parties party thereto, the Hermes Agent and the Required Lenders, provided that no such change, waiver,
discharge or termination shall, without the consent of each Lender (other than a Defaulting Lender), (i) extend the final scheduled
maturity of any Loan, extend the timing for or reduce the principal amount of any Scheduled Repayment, increase or extend any
Commitment (it being understood that waivers or modifications of conditions precedent, covenants, Defaults or Events of Default or of
a mandatory reduction in the Commitments shall not constitute an increase of the Commitment of any Lender), or reduce the rate
(including, without limitation, the Floating Rate Margin and the Fixed Rate) or extend the time of payment of interest on any Loan or
Commitment Commission or fees (except (x) in connection with the waiver of applicability of any post-default increase in interest
rates and (y) any amendment or modification to the definitions used in the financial covenants set forth in Sections 10.06 through
10.09, inclusive, in this Agreement shall not constitute a reduction in the rate of interest for purposes of this clause (i)), or reduce the
principal amount thereof (except to the extent repaid in cash), (ii) release any of the Collateral (except as expressly provided in the
Credit Documents) under any of the Security Documents, (iii) amend, modify or waive any provision of Section 13 or this Section
14.11, (iv) change the definition of Required Lenders (it being understood that, with the consent of the Required Lenders, additional
extensions of credit pursuant to this Agreement may be included in the determination of the Required Lenders on substantially the
same basis as the extensions of Loans and Commitments are included on the Effective Date) or a provision which expressly requires
the consent of all the Lenders, (v) consent to the assignment and/or transfer by the Parent and/or Borrower of any of its rights
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and obligations under this Agreement, or (vi) replace the Parent Guaranty or release the Parent Guaranty from the relevant guarantee to
which such Guarantor is a party (other than as provided in such guarantee); provided, further, that no such change, waiver, discharge
or termination shall (u) without the consent of Hermes, amend, modify or waive any provision that relates to the rights or obligations of
Hermes and (v) without the consent of each Agent, the CIRR Representative and/or each Lead Arranger, as applicable, amend, modify
or waive any provision relating to the rights or obligations of such Agent, the CIRR Representative and/or such Lead Arranger, as
applicable.
(b)
If, in connection with any proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination to any of the provisions of this
Agreement as contemplated by clauses (i) through (vi), inclusive, of the first proviso to Section 14.11(a), the consent of the Required
Lenders is obtained but the consent of each Lender (other than any Defaulting Lender) is not obtained, then the Borrower shall have
the right, so long as all non-consenting Lenders are treated as described in either clauses (A) or (B) below, to either (A) replace each
such non-consenting Lender or Lenders with one or more Replacement Lenders pursuant to Section 2.12 so long as at the time of such
replacement, each such Replacement Lender consents to the proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination or (B) terminate such
non-consenting Lender’s Commitment (if such Lender’s consent is required as a result of its Commitment), and/or repay outstanding
Loans and terminate any outstanding Commitments of such Lender which gave rise to the need to obtain such Lender’s consent, in
accordance with Section 4.01(d), provided that, unless the Commitments are terminated, and Loans repaid, pursuant to preceding
clause (B) are immediately replaced in full at such time through the addition of new Lenders or the increase of the Commitments
and/or outstanding Loans of existing Lenders (who in each case must specifically consent thereto), then in the case of any action
pursuant to preceding clause (B) the Required Lenders (determined before giving effect to the proposed action) and the Hermes Agent
shall specifically consent thereto, provided, further, that in any event the Borrower shall not have the right to replace a Lender,
terminate its Commitment or repay its Loans solely as a result of the exercise of such Lender’s rights (and the withholding of any
required consent by such Lender) pursuant to the second proviso to Section 14.11(a).
14.12 Survival. All indemnities set forth herein including, without limitation, in Sections 2.09, 2.10, 2.11, 4.04, 14.01
and 14.05 shall, subject to Section 14.13 (to the extent applicable), survive the execution, delivery and termination of this Agreement
and the making and repayment of the Loans.
14.13 Domicile of Loans. Each Lender may transfer and carry its Loans at, to or for the account of any office,
Subsidiary or Affiliate of such Lender. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, to the extent that a transfer of Loans
pursuant to this Section 14.13 would, at the time of such transfer, result in increased costs under Section 2.09, 2.10, or 4.04 from those
being charged by the respective Lender prior to such transfer, then the Borrower shall not be obligated to pay such increased costs
(although the Borrower shall be obligated to pay any other increased costs of the type described above resulting from changes after the
date of the respective transfer).
14.14 Confidentiality. Each Lender agrees that it will use its best efforts not to disclose without the prior consent of
the Parent or the Borrower (other than to their respective
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Affiliates or their respective Affiliates’ employees, auditors, advisors or counsel or to another Lender if the Lender or such Lender’s
holding or parent company, Affiliates or board of trustees in its sole discretion determines that any such party should have access to
such information, provided such Persons shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 14.14 to the same extent as such Lender) any
information with respect to the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries which is now or in the future furnished pursuant to this Agreement or
any other Credit Document, provided that the Hermes Agent and the CIRR Agent may disclose any information to Hermes or the
CIRR Representative, provided, further, that any Lender may disclose any such information (a) as has become generally available to
the public other than by virtue of a breach of this Section 14.14 by the respective Lender, (b) as may be required in any report,
statement or testimony submitted to any municipal, state or Federal regulatory body having or claiming to have jurisdiction over such
Lender or similar organizations (whether in the United States, the United Kingdom or elsewhere) or their successors, (c) as may be
required in respect to any summons or subpoena or in connection with any litigation, (d) in order to comply with any law, order,
regulation or ruling applicable to such Lender, (e) to an Agent, (f) to any prospective or actual transferee or participant in connection
with any contemplated transfer or participation of any of the Commitments or any interest therein by such Lender, provided that such
prospective transferee expressly agrees to be bound by the confidentiality provisions contained in this Section 14.14 and (g) to Hermes
and/or the Federal Republic of Germany and/or the European Union and/or any agency thereof or any person acting or purporting to act
on any of their behalves. In the case of Section 14.14(g), each of the Parent and the Borrower acknowledges and agrees that any such
information may be used by Hermes and/or the Federal Republic of Germany and/or the European Union and/or any agency thereof or
any person acting or purporting to act on any of their behalves for statistical purposes and/or for reports of a general nature.
14.15 Register. The Facility Agent shall maintain a register (the “ Register”) on which it will record the Commitments
from time to time of each of the Lenders, the Loans made by each of the Lenders and each repayment and prepayment in respect of the
principal amount of the Loans of each Lender. Failure to make any such recordation, or any error in such recordation shall not affect
the Borrower’s obligations in respect of such Loans. With respect to any Lender, the assignment or transfer of the Commitments of
such Lender and the rights to the principal of, and interest on, any Loan made pursuant to such Commitments shall not be effective
until such assignment or transfer is recorded on the Register maintained by the Facility Agent with respect to ownership of such
Commitments and Loans. Prior to such recordation all amounts owing to the transferor with respect to such Commitments and Loans
shall remain owing to the transferor. The registration of an assignment or transfer of all or part of any Commitments and Loans (as the
case may be) shall be recorded by the Facility Agent on the Register only upon the acceptance by the Facility Agent of a properly
executed and delivered Transfer Certificate or Assignment Agreement pursuant to Section 13.06(a) or 13.07(a), respectively.
14.16 Third Party Rights. Other than the Other Creditors with respect to Section 4.05 and Hermes with respect to
Sections 5.15 and 9.06, a person who is not a party to this Agreement has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act
1999 to enforce or enjoy the benefit of any term of this Agreement unless expressly provided to the contrary in a Credit
Document. Notwithstanding any term of any Credit Document, the consent of any
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person who is not a party to this Agreement is not required to rescind or vary this Agreement at any time.
14.17 Judgment Currency. If for the purposes of obtaining judgment in any court it is necessary to convert a sum due
from the Borrower hereunder in the currency expressed to be payable herein (the “specified currency”) into another currency, the
parties hereto agree, to the fullest extent that they may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in
accordance with normal banking procedures the Facility Agent could purchase the specified currency with such other currency at the
Facility Agent’s Frankfurt office on the Business Day preceding that on which final judgment is given. The obligations of the
Borrower in respect of any sum due to any Lender or an Agent hereunder shall, notwithstanding any judgment in a currency other than
the specified currency, be discharged only to the extent that on the Business Day following receipt by such Lender or an Agent (as the
case may be) of any sum adjudged to be so due in such other currency such Lender or an Agent (as the case may be) may in
accordance with normal banking procedures purchase the specified currency with such other currency; if the amount of the specified
currency so purchased is less than the sum originally due to such Lender or an Agent, as the case may be, in the specified currency, the
Borrower agrees, to the fullest extent that it may effectively do so, as a separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, to
indemnify such Lender or an Agent, as the case may be, against such loss, and if the amount of the specified currency so purchased
exceeds the sum originally due to any Lender or an Agent, as the case may be, in the specified currency, such Lender or an Agent, as
the case may be, agrees to remit such excess to the Borrower.
14.18 Language. All correspondence, including, without limitation, all notices, reports and/or certificates, delivered
by any Credit Party to an Agent or any Lender shall, unless otherwise agreed by the respective recipients thereof, be submitted in the
English language or, to the extent the original of such document is not in the English language, such document shall be delivered with
a certified English translation thereof. In the event of any conflict between the English translation and the original text of any
document, the English translation shall prevail unless the original text is a statutory instrument, legal process or any other document of
a similar type or a notice, demand or other communication from Hermes or in relation to the Hermes Cover.
14.19 Waiver of Immunity. The Borrower, in respect of itself, each other Credit Party, its and their process agents,
and its and their properties and revenues, hereby irrevocably agrees that, to the extent that the Borrower, any other Credit Party or any
of its or their properties has or may hereafter acquire any right of immunity from any legal proceedings, whether in the United
Kingdom, the United States, Bermuda, the Bahamas, Germany or elsewhere, to enforce or collect upon the Credit Document
Obligations of the Borrower or any other Credit Party related to or arising from the transactions contemplated by any of the Credit
Documents, including, without limitation, immunity from service of process, immunity from jurisdiction or judgment of any court or
tribunal, immunity from execution of a judgment, and immunity of any of its property from attachment prior to any entry of judgment,
or from attachment in aid of execution upon a judgment, the Borrower, for itself and on behalf of the other Credit Parties, hereby
expressly waives, to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, any such immunity, and agrees not to assert any such right or
claim in any such
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proceeding, whether in the United Kingdom, the United States, Bermuda, the Bahamas, Germany or elsewhere.
1 4 . 2 0 “Know Your Customer” Notice. Each Lender hereby notifies each Credit Party that pursuant to the
requirements of the PATRIOT Act and/or other applicable laws and regulations, it is required to obtain, verify, and record information
that identifies each Credit Party, which information includes the name of each Credit Party and other information that will allow such
Lender to identify each Credit Party in accordance with the PATRIOT Act and/or such other applicable laws and regulations, and each
Credit Party agrees to provide such information from time to time to any Lender.
14.21 Release of Liens and the Parent Guaranty; Flag Jurisdiction Transfer. (a) In the event that any Person conveys,
sells, leases, assigns, transfers or otherwise disposes of all or any portion of the Collateral to a Person that is not (and is not required to
become) a Credit Party in a transaction permitted by this Agreement or the Credit Documents (including pursuant to a valid waiver or
consent), each Lender hereby consents to the release and hereby directs the Collateral Agent to release any Liens created by any Credit
Document in respect of such Collateral, and, in the case of a disposition of all of the Equity Interests of any Credit Party (other than the
Borrower) in a transaction permitted by this Agreement and as a result of which such Credit Party would not be required to guaranty the
Credit Document Obligations pursuant to Sections 9.10(c) and 15, each Lender hereby consents to the release of such Credit Party’s
obligations under the relevant guarantee to which it is a party. Each Lender hereby directs the Collateral Agent, and the Collateral
Agent agrees, upon receipt of reasonable advance notice from the Borrower, to execute and deliver or, at the Borrower’s expense, file
such documents and perform other actions reasonably necessary to release the relevant guarantee, as applicable, and the Liens when
and as directed pursuant to this Section 14.21. In addition, the Collateral Agent agrees to take such actions as are reasonably requested
by the Borrower and at the Borrower’s expense to terminate the Liens and security interests created by the Credit Documents when all
the Credit Document Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Credit Document Obligations and expense reimbursement
claims to the extent no claim therefore has been made) are paid in full and Commitments are terminated. Any representation, warranty
or covenant contained in any Credit Document relating to any such Equity Interests or asset of the Borrower shall no longer be deemed
to be made once such Equity Interests or asset is so conveyed, sold, leased, assigned, transferred or disposed of.
(b)
In the event that the Borrower desires to implement a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer with respect to the Vessel,
upon receipt of reasonable advance notice thereof from the Borrower, the Collateral Agent shall use commercially reasonably efforts to
provide, or (as necessary) procure the provision of, all such reasonable assistance as any Credit Party may request from time to time in
relation to (i) the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer, (ii) the related deregistration of the Vessel from its previous flag jurisdiction, and (iii) the
release and discharge of the related Security Documents provided that the relevant Credit Party shall pay all documented out of pocket
costs and expenses reasonably incurred by the Collateral Agent or a Secured Creditor in connection with provision of such
assistance. Each Lender hereby consents, in connection with any Flag Jurisdiction Transfer and subject to the satisfaction of the
requirements thereof to be satisfied by the relevant Credit Party, to (i) deregister the Vessel from its previous flag jurisdiction and (ii)
release and hereby direct the Collateral Agent to release the
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Vessel Mortgage. Each Lender hereby directs the Collateral Agent, and the Collateral Agent agrees to execute and deliver or, at the
Borrower’s expense, file such documents and perform other actions reasonably necessary to release the Vessel Mortgage when and as
directed pursuant to this Section 14.21(b).
14.22 Partial Invalidity. If, at any time, any provision of the Credit Documents is or becomes illegal, invalid or
unenforceable in any respect under any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining
provisions nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction will in any way be
affected or impaired. Any such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision shall to the extent possible be substituted by a legal, valid
and enforceable provision which reflects the intention of the parties to this Agreement.
SECTION 15. Parent Guaranty.
15.01 Parent Guaranty and Indemnity.
The Parent irrevocably and unconditionally:
(i)
guarantees to each Lender Creditor punctual performance by each other Credit Party of all that Credit Party’s
Credit Document Obligations under the Credit Documents; or
(ii)
undertakes with each Lender Creditor that whenever another Credit Party does not pay any amount when due
under or in connection with any Credit Document, the Guarantor shall immediately on demand pay that amount as if it was the
principal obligor; and
(iii)
agrees with each Lender Creditor that if any obligation guaranteed by it is or becomes unenforceable, invalid or
illegal, it will, as an independent and primary obligation, indemnify that Lender Creditor immediately on demand against any
cost, loss or liability it incurs as a result of a Credit Party not paying any amount which would, but for such unenforceability,
invalidity or illegality, have been payable by it under any Credit Document on the date when it would have been due. The
amount payable by the Guarantor under this indemnity will not exceed the amount it would have had to pay under this Section
15 if the amount claimed had been recoverable on the basis of a guarantee.
15.02 Continuing Guaranty. This guarantee is a continuing guarantee and will extend to the ultimate balance of sums
payable by any Credit Party under the Credit Documents, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.
15.03 Reinstatement. If any discharge, release or arrangement (whether in respect of the obligations of any Credit
Party or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is made by a Lender Creditor in whole or in part on the basis of any payment,
security or other disposition which is avoided or must be restored in insolvency, liquidation, administration or otherwise, without
limitation, then the liability of the Guarantor under this Section 15 will continue or be reinstated as if the discharge, release or
arrangement had not occurred.
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15.04 Waiver of Defenses. The obligations of the Guarantor under this Section 15 will not be affected by an act,
omission, matter or thing which, but for this Section 15, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Section 15
(without limitation and whether or not known to it or any Lender Creditor) including:
(i)

any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, any Credit Party or other person;

(ii)
the release of any other Credit Party or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with
any creditor of any member of the NCLC Group;
(iii)
the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or
enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, any Credit Party or other person or any non-presentation or non-observance
of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realize the full value of any security;
(iv)
any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or
status of a Credit Party or any other person;
(v)
any amendment, novation, supplement, extension restatement (however fundamental and whether or not more
onerous) or replacement of a Credit Document or any other document or security including, without limitation, any change in the
purpose of, any extension of or increase in any facility or the addition of any new facility under any Credit Document or other
document or security;
(vi)
any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Credit Document or any
other document or security; or
(vii)

any insolvency or similar proceedings.

15.05 Guarantor Intent. Without prejudice to the generality of Section 15.04, the Guarantor expressly confirms that it
intends that this guarantee shall extend from time to time to any (however fundamental) variation, increase, extension or addition of or
to any of the Credit Documents and/or any facility or amount made available under any of the Credit Documents for the purposes of or
in connection with any of the following: business acquisitions of any nature; increasing working capital; enabling investor
distributions to be made; carrying out restructurings; refinancing existing facilities; refinancing any other indebtedness; making
facilities available to new borrowers; any other variation or extension of the purposes for which any such facility or amount might be
made available from time to time; and any fees, costs and/or expenses associated with any of the foregoing.
15.06 Immediate Recourse. The Guarantor waives any right it may have of first requiring any Credit Party (or any
trustee or agent on its behalf) to proceed against or enforce any other rights or security or claim payment from any person before
claiming from the Guarantor under this Section 15. This waiver applies irrespective of any law or any provision of a Credit Document
to the contrary.
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1 5 . 0 7 Appropriations. Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Credit Parties under or in
connection with the Credit Documents have been irrevocably paid in full, each Lender Creditor (or any trustee or agent on its behalf)
may:
(i)
refrain from applying or enforcing any other moneys, security or rights held or received by that Lender Creditor
(or any trustee or agent on its behalf) in respect of those amounts, or apply and enforce the same in such manner and order as it
sees fit (whether against those amounts or otherwise) and the Guarantor shall not be entitled to the benefit of the same; and
(ii)
hold in an interest-bearing suspense account any moneys received from the Guarantor or on account of the
Guarantor’s liability under this Section 15.
15.08 Deferral of Guarantor’s Rights. Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Credit Parties under
or in connection with the Credit Documents have been irrevocably paid in full and unless the Facility Agent otherwise directs, the
Guarantor will not exercise any rights which it may have by reason of performance by it of its obligations under the Credit Documents
or by reason of any amount being payable, or liability arising, under this Section 15:
(i)

to be indemnified by a Credit Party;

(ii)

to claim any contribution from any other guarantor of any Credit Party’s obligations under the Credit Documents;

(iii)
to take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any rights of the
Lender Creditors under the Credit Documents or of any other guarantee or security taken pursuant to, or in connection with, the
Credit Documents by any Lender Creditor;
(iv)
to bring legal or other proceedings for an order requiring any Credit Party to make any payment, or perform any
obligation, in respect of which the Guarantor has given a guarantee, undertaking or indemnity under Section 15.01;
(v)

to exercise any right of set-off against any Credit Party; and/or

(vi)

to claim or prove as a creditor of any Credit Party in competition with any Lender Creditor.

If the Guarantor receives any benefit, payment or distribution in relation to such rights it shall hold that benefit, payment
or distribution to the extent necessary to enable all amounts which may be or become payable to the Lender Creditors by the
Credit Parties under or in connection with the Credit Documents to be repaid in full on trust for the Lender Creditors and shall
promptly pay or transfer the same to the Facility Agent or as the Facility Agent may direct for application in accordance with
Section 4.
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15.09 Additional Security. This guarantee is in addition to and is not in any way prejudiced by any other guarantee or
security now or subsequently held by any Credit Party.
*

*
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*

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their duly authorized officers to execute and deliver this
Agreement as a deed on the date first above written.
Signed as a deed for and on behalf of NCL CORPORATION LTD., a Bermuda company, as Parent and Guarantor,
by
, being a person who, in accordance with the laws of that territory, is acting under the authority of the
company under a power of attorney dated
July 2014.
By:
Attorney-in-Fact
In the presence of:
Name:
Title:
Address:
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Signed as a deed and delivered on behalf of SEAHAWK TWO, LTD., a Bermuda company, as Borrower,
by
, being a person who, in accordance with the laws of that territory, is acting under the authority of the
company under a power of attorney dated
July 2014.
By:
Attorney-in-Fact
In the presence of:
Name:
Title:
Address:
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Signed as a deed and delivered on behalf of KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH, a bank organized under the laws of Germany, Individually and
as Facility Agent, Collateral Agent, Initial Mandated Lead Arranger, Hermes Agent and CIRR Agent, by persons who, in accordance
with the laws of that territory, are acting under the authority of the bank.
By:
Title:
By:
Title:
Authorized signatories

In the presence of:
Name:
Title:
Address:
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EXECUTION PAGE – SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT
RE: Hull No. [*]

The Borrower
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
SEAHAWK TWO, LTD.

) /s/ Paul Alan Turner
) Paul Alan Turner
)
Attorney-in Fact

The Guarantor
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
NCL CORPORATION LTD.

) /s/ Paul Alan Turner
) Paul Alan Turner
)
Attorney-in Fact

The Shareholder
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
NCL INTERNATIONAL, LTD.

) /s/ Paul Alan Turner
) Paul Alan Turner
)
Attorney-in Fact

The Facility Agent
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH

)/s/Claudia Coenenberg
) Claudia Coenenberg
Vice President
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Céline Brochard
Céline Brochard
Vice President

The Hermes Agent
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH

)/s/Claudia Conenberg
) Claudia Conenberg
Vice President
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Céline Brochard
Céline Brochard
Vice President
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The Collateral Agent
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH

)/s/ Claudia Conenberg
) Claudia Conenberg
Vice President
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Céline Brochard
Céline Brochard
Vice President

The CIRR Agent
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH

)/s/Claudia Coenenberg
) Claudia Coenenberg
Vice President
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Céline Brochard
Céline Brochard
Vice President

The Initial Mandated Lead Arranger
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH

)/s/Claudia Coenenberg
) Claudia Coenenberg
Vice President
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Céline Brochard
Céline Brochard
Vice President

The Lenders
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
BNP PARIBAS FORTIS SA/NV

SIGNED by

)/s/Helmut VAN GINDEREN
)Helmut VAN GINDEREN
Head of Business Management Financing Solutions Brussels
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Thi Karen Chu Van
Thi Karen Chu Van
Business Management Financing Solutions Brussels
)/s/Menager G.
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for and on behalf of
CRÉDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND
INVESTMENT BANK

) MENAGER G.
)
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Delalande O.
DELALANDE O.

SIGNED by
for and on behalf of

)/s/Sybille Andaur
)Sybille Andaur
First Vice President
)
Authorised signatory

DNB BANK ASA

/s/Cathleen Buckley
Cathleen Buckley
Senior Vice President
SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
HSBC FRANCE

)/s/Z. [Illegible]
) Z. [Illegible]
)
Authorised signatory
/s/Virginie GODE
Virginie GODE
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SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
KFW IPEX-BANK GMBH

)/s/Claudia Coenenberg
) Claudia Coenenberg
Vice President
)........................................
Authorised signatory
/s/Céline Brochard
Céline Brochard
Vice President

SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB (PUBL)

)/s/Peder Garmefelt
)Peder Garmefelt
Head of Shipping Finance
)........................................
Authorised signatory
/s/Penny Noville
Penny Noville

SIGNED by
for and on behalf of
SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE

)/s/Guido Zoeller
)Guido Zoeller
Group Country Head Germany &
Austria
)........................................
Authorised signatory
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Exhibit 10.2
[*]: THE IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THE AGREEMENT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (i) NOT MATERIAL AND (ii) WOULD BE
COMPETITIVELY HARMFUL IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.

Side Letter
m.v. Norwegian Getaway
To:

Breakaway Two, Ltd. (the Borrower)
NCL Corporation Ltd. (the Parent)
NCL International, Ltd. (the Shareholder)

From:

KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH (as Facility Agent, Collateral Agent and CIRR Agent and Lender)
Date: 7 August 2019

Dear Sirs
m.v. Norwegian Getaway (the Vessel)
1

We refer to the credit agreement dated 18 November 2010 between, amongst others, the Borrower, the Parent, the Joint Lead
Arrangers (as defined therein), the Lenders (as defined therein), Nordea Bank Norge ASA as documentation agent,
Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft as Hermes Agent and KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH as Facility Agent, Collateral Agent and CIRR
Agent (as amended, restated or supplemented from time to time, the Credit Agreement) pursuant to which the Lenders made a
loan facility of up to €529,846,154 available to the Borrower on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Credit
Agreement.

2

Unless otherwise defined in this letter, words and expressions defined in the Credit Agreement have the same meanings when
used in this letter.

3

It is hereby agreed that the Credit Agreement shall be amended as follows:
(a)

with effect from 7 August 2019, the definition of Applicable Margin shall be amended by replacing “1.40%” with
“1.00%”; and

(b)

on the date hereof, section 9.01(c) shall be deleted and replaced with the following new clause:
“Valuations. After the Delivery Date, together with delivery of the financial statements described in Section 9.01(b) for each
fiscal year, and at any other time within 15 days of a written request from the Facility Agent, an appraisal report of recent
date (but in no event earlier than 90 days before the delivery of such reports) from one Approved Appraiser or such other
independent firm of shipbrokers or shipvaluers nominated by the Borrower and approved by the Facility Agent (acting on
the instructions of the Required Lenders) or failing such nomination and approval, appointed by the Facility Agent (acting
on such instructions) in its sole discretion (each such valuation to be made without, unless reasonably required by the
Facility Agent, physical inspection and on the basis of a sale for prompt delivery for cash at arm’s length on normal
commercial terms as between a willing buyer and a willing seller without taking into account the benefit of any charterparty
or other engagement concerning the Vessel), stating the then current fair market value of the Vessel. All such appraisals
shall be conducted by, and made at the expense of, the Borrower (it being understood that the Facility Agent may and, at the
request of the Lenders, shall, upon prior written notice to the Borrower (which notice shall identify the names of the relevant
appraisal firms), obtain such appraisals and that the cost of all such appraisals will be for the account of the Borrower);
provided that, unless an Event of Default shall then be continuing, in no event shall the Borrower be required to pay for
appraisal reports from one appraiser on more than one

occasion in any fiscal year of the Borrower, with the cost of any such reports in excess thereof to be paid by the Lenders on
a pro rata basis.”
4

The Borrower, the Parent and the Shareholder hereby agree to provide the Facility Agent with copies of such corporate
authorisations as the Facility Agent may reasonably require to evidence their respective authority to execute this letter.

5

By their execution of the acknowledgement to this letter:
(a)

the Borrower and the Parent consent to the arrangements set out in this letter and the amendments to the Credit
Agreement set out in this letter;

(b)

the Borrower and the Parent each agree and confirms that its obligations set out in the Credit Agreement, shall be and
continue in full force and effect notwithstanding the said amendments contained in this letter;

(c)

the Borrower, the Parent and the Shareholder acknowledge and agree that (i) each of the Credit Documents to which it is
a party, and its obligations thereunder, shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the amendments made to the
Credit Agreement by this letter and each of the Security Documents to which it is a party shall remain in full force and
effect as security for the obligations of the Borrower under the Credit Agreement as amended by this letter, and (ii) it will
do or procure the doing of all such acts and/or execute or procure the execution of all such documents as the Lenders
reasonably consider necessary to give full effect to the Credit Agreement and the Security Documents.

6

The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent all reasonable and documented expenses (including external legal and out-ofpocket expenses and disbursements) incurred by the Facility Agent or the Hermes Agent in connection with the negotiation,
preparation, execution and, where relevant, registration of this letter and of any amendment or extension of or the granting of
any waiver or consent under this letter.

7

All expenses payable pursuant to paragraph 6 shall be paid together with value added tax or any similar tax (if any) properly
chargeable thereon.

8

The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent, no later than the date falling five Business Days after the date of this letter, a
waiver fee of $[*] which shall be distributed equally by the Facility Agent to the Lenders, with each Lender receiving $[*] for
its own account. The waiver fee will be paid free and clear of any deductions or withholdings and in immediately available
funds to the account no. [*] with Citibank N.A., New York [*] in favor of the ultimate beneficiary [*] with KfW, Frankfurt [*]
as follows:
Beneficiary:

[*]

Account Holder:

[*]

Account with Intermediary Bank:

[*]

Intermediary Bank:

[*]

Reference:

[*]

9

The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent (for its own account) an additional agency fee in the amount and at the time
agreed in a separate fee letter.

10

The Borrower agrees to pay to the Facility Agent on demand all stamp, documentary, registration or other like duties or taxes
(including any duties or taxes payable by the
2

Facility Agent) imposed on or in connection with this letter and shall indemnify the Facility Agent against any liability arising by
reason of any delay or omission by the Borrower to pay such duties or taxes.
11

The provisions of Sections 14.03 (Notices), 14.08 (Counterparts) and 14.16 (Third Party Rights) of the Credit Agreement shall
apply to this letter and its acknowledgements as if set out in full with all necessary changes.

12

This letter (including the acknowledgements) and any non-contractual obligations connected with it shall be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, English law. The provisions of Sections 14.07(b) and (c) (Exclusive jurisdiction and service of
process) of the Credit Agreement shall apply to this letter and its acknowledgements as if set out in full with all necessary
changes and for this purpose, each counter-signatory to this letter confirms by its acknowledgment below its appointment of the
process agent referred to in such clause.

13

Please acknowledge your agreement to this letter and confirmation of the consent requested in this letter by signing and
returning the endorsement set out below.

Yours faithfully
/s/Sebastian Fenk
Sebastian Fenk
Director

For and on behalf of
KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH
(as Facility Agent, Collateral Agent, CIRR Agent and for and
behalf of the Lenders)

/s/Céline Brochard
Céline Brochard
Vice President

Acknowledged and agreed
/s/Daniel S. Farkas
For and on behalf of
Breakaway Two, Ltd.
/s/Daniel S. Farkas
For and on behalf of
NCL Corporation Ltd.
/s/Daniel S. Farkas
For and on behalf of
NCL International, Ltd.
/s/Bahador Ghezelbash
Bahador Ghezelbash
Commerzbank AG
/s/Klaus-Dieter Schmedding
Klaus-Dieter Schmedding
Director
For and on behalf of
Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft as Hermes Agent
3

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Frank J. Del Rio, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation;
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 8, 2019
/s/ Frank J. Del Rio
Name:Frank J. Del Rio
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Mark A. Kempa, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation;
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 8, 2019
/s/ Mark A. Kempa
Name:Mark A. Kempa
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C.
SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of Frank J. Del Rio, the President
and Chief Executive Officer, and Mark A. Kempa, the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd. (the
"Company"), does hereby certify, that, to such officer’s knowledge:
The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company, for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 (the “Form 10-Q”), fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: November 8, 2019
By: /s/ Frank J. Del Rio
Name: Frank J. Del Rio
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
By: /s/ Mark A. Kempa
Name: Mark A. Kempa
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

